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Foreword

Dear Reader,

Welcome to the 2021 edition of our publi-
cation "Investing in Germany - A Guide for
Chinese Businesses".

Germany has been among the top three
destinations of inbound investments dur-
ing the years 2015-2020, with only the USA
and the UK attracting more foreign direct
investment projects. Germany is followed
by China in the 4th place. Over the same
period, China has been the 4th biggest
investor in Germany, following the USA, UK
and Switzerland. This shows the enormous
importance of Chinese investments in
Germany.

China is also one of the largest global
outbound investors. In past years, Chinese
enterprises have made considerable
investments in foreign manufacturing busi-
nesses. They are also among the leading
players in eCommerce and particularly in
the direct sales of goods via platforms.
More importantly, China was one of the
strongest performing economies in 2020,
with a GDP growth of 2.3% despite the
COVID crisis and a forecast growth of 6%

in 2021. During the global pandemic, China
has come back to a growth path faster than
any other major economy. While cross-bor-
der M&A activity slowed drastically in 2020,

domestic M&A activity remained strong
and outbound M&A activity is expected

to increase again in 2021. Investors will be
more selective than in the past, but a wide
range of industries and regions will see
interest from Chinese outbound investors,
be it pharmaceutical businesses in Europe
or energy in North America. While Ger-
many has always been a major recipient
of Chinese investments, this may be even
more the case following Brexit coming into
effect on 1 January 2021.

Established in 2003, Deloitte's Global Chi-
nese Services Group (GCSG) advises Chi-
nese companies that are expanding their
global presence. This network is deployed
in various countries and geographic
regions, with professionals that possess
Chinese speaking capabilities and knowl-
edge about China and Chinese companies,

Investing in Germany | A guide for Chinese businesses

in order to provide professional advice
and comprehensive solutions to Chinese
companies investing overseas.

Through the joint efforts of our CSG teams
in Germany and China, we hereby present
you the updated version of "Investing in
Germany - A Guide for Chinese Businesses",
to help you obtain an overview of the invest-
ment environment and business guidelines
in Germany. Apart from regulatory updates
the revised edition of our investment guide
provides a closer look into the status and
outlook of the automotive industry and the
life science and health care industry in Ger-
many as we are observing a special interest
of Chinese investors in these German key
industries. We hope you find this publication
useful and encourage you to reach out to us
for professional advice and comprehensive
solutions for your investments in Germany.

John Hung
Chairman
Global Chinese Services Group

Dirk Hallmayr
Chinese Services Group Leader
Germany
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1. Economic environment

1.1 China-German economic
relationship

1.1.1 General relationship and trade
volume

Over the past 30 years (1990-2020),
Sino-German economic relations have
evolved into a strong trade and investment
partnership.

It therefore comes as no surprise that
China views Germany as its “Gateway to
Europe” and that numerous bilateral coop-
eration agreements have been concluded
to further accelerate this economic success
story. Certainly, the EU-China Investment
Agreement has the potential to help create
further investment opportunities with

the EU and its largest economy, Germany.
And it will have to be seen whether BREXIT
shifts further investments away from

08

the UK towards Germany and the EU or
whether Britain can become even more
attractive for Chinese investments, particu-
larly in the real estate sector.

In 1991, German companies exported
goods worth just EUR 2.15 billion to China.
According to Federal Statistical Office
figures, in 2020 German exports to China
were worth EUR 95.5 billion. This is nearly
the same level as 2019 (-0.1%), where due
to the COVID-19 crisis trade has been hit
globally. German imports from China in
2020 were worth EUR 116.2 billion.

China is Germany's second biggest export
market after the USA. Germany is China’s
largest European trading partner by far,
ranking sixth overall among China’s trading
partners.

China is also the largest supplier of German
imports, its exports to Germany consisting
mainly of Computers, electronic and optical
products. It shows that compared to the
past, China is now supplying higher value
goods.

1.1.2 Direct Chinese investment in
Germany

For many years, Chinese companies have
been establishing a presence in Germany,
either through greenfield investments or
through mergers & acquisitions.



From a regional perspective, the following
three states in Germany attracted most
Chinese investment until now:

* Northrine Westphalia (1,530 companies,
26,000 employees, with Duesseldorf as
the main hub)

* Bavaria (640 companies, 25,000 employ-
ees, with Munich as main hub)

* Hessen (860 companies, 8,000 employ-
ees, with Frankfurt as the main hub)

As Germany is very decentralised, there

are other regions, particularly Hamburg
attracting investments in the logistics sector
and Berlin, which is particularly interesting
for eCommerce. In any case the choice of
the right location for an investment requires
careful consideration.

The M&A activities of Chinese investors in
Germany have increased significantly since
2010. Moreover, the quality of such invest-
ments and accordingly the money spent
on such deals has increased recently, too.
Obviously, the focus of Chinese investors

Investing in Germany | A guide for Chinese businesses

has shifted from the acquisition of troubled
assets to strategic investment into multina-
tional companies with ownership of leading
technology.

The acquisition of the robotics manufacturer
Kuka by Midea in 2016 at a price of 4.5bn
EUR was the biggest takeover in Germany

by a Chinese investor. This was followed by a
9% buy in to Daimler by Geely at an amount
of around EUR 9bn. Since the record year

of 2018, dealflow has considerably declined
through 2019 and even further in 2020 due
to COVID-19.




The following table lists some promi-
nent investments over the past years:

Announcement

German Target

Chinese Investor

4 November 2019

Deutsche Hospitality (incl. Steigenberger)

Huazhu Group Limited

24 February 2018

Daimler AG

Zhejiang Geely Holding Group Co.

7 April 2017

Biotest

Creat Group Corp.

3 March 2017

Ledvance (spin-off of Osram)

IDG Capital, MLS Co., Ltd.

18 May 2016

Kuka

Midea Group

22 March 2016

MANZ

Shanghai Electric Group

6 February 2016 Bilfinger Water Technologies Chengdu Techcent Environment Group
4 February 2016 EEW Energy from Waste Beijing Enterprises

11 January 2016 KraussMaffeiGruppe ChemcChina

8 July 2015 Hauck & Aufhaeuser Fosun

29 May 2014 Hilite AVIC/AVICEM

28 January 2014 CYBEX Goodbaby (HK)

30 September 2013 Flex Power Tools Chervon Holdings

4 May 2013 Sphairon Technologies ZyXEL Communications Corporation

3 May 2013 Kugel- und Rollenlagerwerk Leipzig Wafangdian Bearing Group




As Chinese investors continue to acquire
companies around the globe with owner-
ship in advanced technology, we expect to
see more such transactions in Germany

in the future, in particular since German
medium-sized companies (a.k.a. the Ger-
man “Mittelstand”) are often global market
leaders in industries that have been iden-
tified as pivotal industries in China's recent
5-Year-Plans for China’s future economic
development.

As the table above underlines, Chinese
Investors have invested significantly over
the last decade in Germany. Although

the majority of these investments have
achieved the strategic expectations of the
new owners, some turned out to be not as
successful or as fitting as planned. In these
situations, we have already seen and do
expect that Chinese owners will increas-
ingly make the decision to sell their German
operations again as Shang Gong Group
did sell its 26% stake in H. Stoll AG & Co KG
back to the Stoll Family in 2019.

1.1.3 Cooperation agreements

There is a wide variety of cooperation on
the scientific, political and economic levels
between cities, provinces, federal states
and regions in China and Germany. The
cooperation is based on personal contacts,
similar names and history, on intensive
development partnerships or on expert
exchanges.

Strategic partnerships serve to intensify
mutual understanding in the areas of
culture, politics and investment, preferential
treatment etc,, so that both parties benefit
from the business/investment opportu-
nities on the other side. The following list
comprises a selection of major partnerships
between regions and bigger cities in China
and Germany:
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German City/Federal State/Region

Chinese City/Province

Hamburg

Shanghai

Berlin

Beijing

German Federal State - Saarland

Tianjin, Province-Hubei, Province-Hunan

German Federal State - Lower Saxony

Province-Anhui

Wolfsburg (LS)

Changchun

German Federal State - Hesse

Province-Jiangxi

Frankfurt am Main (Hesse)

Guangzhou

Offenbach am Main (Hesse)

Yangzhou

German Federal State -
North Rhine-Westphalia (NRW)

Province-Sichuan, Province-Jiangsu

Cologne (NRW)

Beijing

Duesseldorf (NRW)

Chongging, Shenyang

Bonn (NRW) Chengdu
Dortmund (NRW) Xi‘an
Duisburg (NRW) Wuhan
Bochum (NRW) Xuzhou

German Federal State - Bavaria

Province-Shangdong

Augsburg (Bavaria) Jinan
Freising (Bavaria) Weifang
Konstanz (Bavaria) Suzhou
Nuremberg (Bavaria) Shenzhen

German Federal State - Bremen

Province-Guangdong, Dalian

German Federal State - Baden Wuerttemberg
(BW)

Province-Jiangsu, Province-Liaoning

Mannheim (BW)

Zhenjiang, Qingdao

German Federal State - Schleswig-Holstein

Province-Zhejiang

German Federal State - Rhineland-Palatinate

Province-Fujian

German Federal State - Thuringia

Province-Shaanxi

German Federal State - Saxony-Anhalt

Province-Heilongjiang

Erfurt (Thuringia) Yan‘an
Rostock (Mecklenburg-Vorpommern) Dalian
Leipzig (Saxony) Nanjing
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1.2 General introduction to Germany
1.2.1 Business environment

Germany is a Federation of 16 states
(Lander), each with its own constitution,
government and independent courts.
The Federal Government and Parliament
are responsible for major legislation on
economic policy. The Federal Parliament
comprises a directly elected lower house
(Bundestag) and an upper house (Bundes-
rat), which consists of representatives of
the Lander governments.

Manufacturing and related services are

at the heart of the German economy.

The main industries are automotive and
chemical (for more information about the
Automotive Industry, see Chapter 2.1).
However, biotechnology, telecommunica-
tions and digital industry have also become
very important. The heavy industry sector,
including the steelmaking sector in the
Ruhr region, has declined, as has the signif-
icance of agriculture. But the remainders
of these industries are still noted for their
high quality and sophisticated production
techniques. Recent development in the
energy market is characterised by a shift
from traditional energy production using
coal, gas and nuclear power towards
renewable energy, referred to as "green
energy". On the one hand green energy
has been promoted by several initiatives
and subsidies at the local and federal
levels, which led to a technical edge in
green technology for several German com-
panies in this sector. On the other hand,
traditional energy production is facing
stricter regulation, for example the gradual
exit from nuclear power by 2022, which
brought some companies in this sector
into financial turmoil. In addition to green
energy, there are leading companies in

the area of environmental technology with
many years of experience in their industry.
In recent years, the real estate industry was
positively affected by the relatively low level
of interest rates. Investment was made

in new real estate projects, especially in
residential building in big cities, and at the
same time the value of existing properties
in good locations increased.

Germany is one of the world's premier
trading nations, with a powerful export
sector and significant imports. Its main
trading partners are the other member
states of the EU (especially France), the
U.S. and China. The German government
has traditionally advocated free trade. The
EU sets the levels of common tariffs and
detailed rules on other import restrictions,
which also apply to Germany.

To protect the functioning of the domestic
market, the Federal Cartel Office will take
action against companies that abuse their
dominant market position through "exces-
sive" price increases. Furthermore, the Law
against Restraint of Competition prohibits
price policies meant to force competitors
out of the market (e.g. constant offers
below cost price).

Patents, industrial designs and models,
trademarks and copyrights are legally
recognised in Germany. Enforcement of
patent and trademark laws is rapid and sat-
isfactory, and damages can be claimed in
cases of infringement. German legislation
regarding intellectual property is aligned
with that of other EU member states. A
trademark becomes valid as soon as it is
entered into the official registry. The usual
processing time is 10-12 months, although
the process can be reduced to six months
for an additional fee.

Aregistered trademark is valid for 10 years
and can be protected indefinitely in 10-year
increments. However, the trademark owner
(or a third party) may apply to have the
trademark deleted if the trademark name
is a term of everyday use or if a person has
proof of an older right to the name, or if
the trademark has not been used for more



than five years. Although the Patent and
Trademark Office does not specify what
constitutes trademark "use," it generally
must be used in connection with the goods
(e.g. on the item or on its packaging).

A third party that claims to have older
rights than the applicant may challenge the
registration of a trademark at any time. The
date of application to the Patent and Trade-
mark Office is crucial in determining the
party with priority. The Patent Office itself
does not investigate prior claims of others
in the trademark register but leaves it to
the owners of existing rights to assert their
priority. If an objection is raised, the office
compares the older (objecting) trademark
with that of the applicant.

Many trademark disputes are settled by
"delimitation agreements," whereby the
challenged party agrees to use his/her
trademark in a restricted manner (e.g.
only for certain goods or in connection
with specific alterations to the new mark
to differentiate it from the existing mark).
Such agreements are also used to make
the prior holder of a mark withdraw his/
her objection against the registration of the
trademark.

1.2.2 Currency, banking and finance
The currency in Germany is the euro. Fur-
thermore, the euro is the currency in other
18 EU member states (Austria, Belgium,
Cyprus, Estonia, Finland, France, Greece,
Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxemburg,
Malta, the Netherlands, Portugal, Slovakia,
Slovenia and Spain).

The major domestic commercial banks are
the primary source of capital for foreign
companies. Every kind of financing is avail-
able from German and foreign commercial
banks, investment banks, savings banks,
cooperative banks, mortgage institutions
and insurance companies. All the major
international commercial and investment
banks have operations in Germany, most of
them with offices in Frankfurt.

Frankfurt is the financial centre. It is

home to the European Central Bank, the
Bundesbank (the national central bank),
leading commercial banks, the govern-
ment's holding company for state assets,
as well as the largest stock-exchange in
Germany. The German stock market has
two categories or segments: the regulated
market segment, to which access is gener-
ally restricted by approval, and the open
market segment, which is characterised by
fewer requirements and on which stocks
can be quoted by request. The three seg-
ments that are established at the Frankfurt
Stock Exchange (Prime Standard, General
Standard and Entry Standard) must be
distinguished from those two broad cate-
gories. In order to be listed in one of these
segments, companies have to fulfil addi-
tional requirements, mainly regarding the
publication of financial and other corporate
information.

Germany's policies on capital flows are
liberal. There are no exchange controls

on ordinary commercial transactions, and
companies have unrestricted access to
both borrowing and lending abroad. Exter-
nal funding is facilitated by the full convert-
ibility of the euro, and the foreign exchange
market is freely accessible. However, the
regional branch of the Bundesbank must
be notified for statistical purposes of both
inbound and outbound transactions.

1.2.3 Foreign investment

The German government generally wel-
comes foreign investment that provides
new jobs. There are no serious limitations
on new projects, except for a law requiring
prior government permission for the sale
of defence companies to foreign investors.
Under the foreign trade law, the govern-
ment can prohibit or apply restrictions to
the acquisition (directly or indirectly) by a
non-EU party of a domestic entity if this
measure is required to maintain public
law and order. No permanent currency

or administrative controls on foreign
investments apply. Foreign investors are
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subject to the same conditions as their
German counterparts in obtaining oper-
ating licences, securing building permits
and obtaining approval for investment
incentives.

1.2.4 Tax incentives and subsidies
Various incentive programmes are availa-
ble, e.g. for the purchase or production of
movable assets in Eastern Germany and for
the founders of new businesses. Further-
more, various programmes exist for the
promotion of modern energy generation
and efficiency (referred to as green energy),
e.g. solar and wind energy, as well as pro-
grammes for the promotion of domestic
buildings, environment protection, R&D,
healthcare, infrastructure and agriculture.
Regional and federal programmes are avail-
able as well as subsidies from the European
Union. Promotion can be granted either as
a tax benefit, allowance, guarantee, loan or
participation.
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2.Industry and sector focus

2.1 The German automotive industry
2.1.1 OEMs

In line with the global economy, COVID-19
has had a significant impact on the global
automotive industry in 2020 with sales
declining on a year-to-year basis in virtually
all countries around the world. The German
automotive industry was no exception,
with global light vehicle production of
BMW, Daimler and VW expected to decline
by 16% on a year-to-year basis, according
to IHS data. While sales in recent months
have shown some signs of recovery and
the German Automotive Association (VDA)
forecasts gradual improvement in 2021, a
return to pre-corona sales levels will most

likely take longer than the next twelve
months.

Although the decline in sales has increased
financial pressure, German OEMs are still
taking major steps to align themselves
strategically with technological trends and
ambitions to reduce emissions significantly,
such as EU proposals that call for a 50%
reduction of CO2 emissions by 2030.

While VW unveiled a EUR 22bn investment
program with the goal of 80 BEV models by
2025, BMW has partnered with Germany's
energy provider E.ON to develop and
deploy 4,100 EV charging points across
Germany. Elsewhere, construction of

Fig.1 - Global light vehicle production of BMW, Daimler and VW (in units)

20,000,000

15,000,000

10,000,000

5,000,000

2011 2012 2013

2014

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Note: Includes production of JVs, CY20 figure is forecast; Source: IHS Markit Inc.

Tesla's Gigafactory in the German State of
Brandenburg commenced in July 2020 with
operations expected to begin in July 2021.
These developments in combination with
other trends such as digitalization, autono-
mous driving and shared mobility highlight
the dimension of the transformation

which the German automotive industry is
currently undergoing following decades of
relatively stable development.

2020
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2.1.2 Automotive suppliers

Similar to OEMs, the impact of COVID-19
has also led to a decline in sales of German
automotive suppliers in 2020, in most cases
leading to an even greater drop in EBITDA
and significantly higher leverage ratios. In
addition, the supplier industry is expected
to see a new refinancing wave with more
than 30 suppliers and an aggregate syndi-

Fig.2 - German Automotive suppliers with syndicated loans (maturities and volumes)

German
Automotive
suppliers

Amount to be
refinanced
(EURmM)

cated loan volume of EUR 10.9bn requiring
refinancing from 2021 to 2024. Given the
vast technological changes in the industry,
suppliers, however, face significant pres-
sure to adapt and invest - according to
current projections, 40 percent of suppliers
need to fast-track their transformation to
drivetrain technology to remain viable. As
financing banks aim to keep leverage levels

1,438

AONC
D (=

(Net Debt/EBITDA) of suppliers below 3.5x,
lower sales and a lack of additional funding
often limit suppliers from investing into
focus areas of the business. This need to
invest despite increased financial pressure
poses a significant challenge for suppliers,
and will likely reshuffle the cards within the
industry.

CYy 2023

CY 2021 CY 2024

CY 2022

Source: Deloitte - Automotive Supplier Transformation Strategy, p. 15

Fig.3 - Expected development

E-Mobility/alternative
powertrains

Customers and public
authorities will boost demand
for alternative powertrains.
Besides Battery Electric
Vehicles (BEV), other
emission free technologies
such as fuel-cell or synthetic
fuels will continue to evolve

'

=2

Autonomous
driving

Research & development
alliances and clear liability
rules are crucial - only
relevant for markets that
fully accept and advance
the technological possibili-
ties of autonomous driving

Source: Deloitte - Automotive Supplier Transformation Strategy, p. 5

Digital business
models

The importance of infotain-
ment and mobility services
has increased significantly
for OEMs in recent years
-new technologies and also
likely also customer prefer-
ences will develop further

Shared mobility

Widespread car sharing
offerings could have a
significant negative impact
on new car sales - yet the
momentum of shared
mobility has lost dynamic
recently



2.1.3 Current trends in the German
automotive industry

In terms of key trends, electrification and
digitalization have the biggest near-term
impact on both OEMs and suppliers.
According to forecasts, more than

15 percent of cars sold until 2025 will
feature alternative powertrains. Increased
subsidies as part of COVID-19 relief meas-
ures have further accelerated the switch to
vehicles with alternative drivetrains, with
expected new registrations of ICE vehicles
to decrease by 3m between 2020 and 2030
compared to pre-pandemic levels. While
OEMs and suppliers thus need to adjust
their product portfolios, EVs on average
are only forecasted to achieve positive
contribution margins by 2023. OEMs and
suppliers will therefore need to rely on ICE
technology to finance further investment
into new technologies. As a result, ICE

will be prevalent for years to come in
passenger cars and even more so in the
commercial vehicle and off-highway market
segments. This gradual transformation is
also evident in forecasted shares of new
registrations, with ICE vehicles holding a
share of 62% and alternative drive vehicles
32% in 2030.

With regard to digitalization, the impor-
tance of digital business models has
increased significantly for OEMs in recent
years and is expected to continue to do

so with c. 20% of OEM revenue forecasted
to be generated by infotainment and
mobility services by 2025. The concept of
the connected car offers OEMs numerous
interfaces for customer interaction,
after-sales as well as embedded software,
in-car-payment and other services based
on data (e.g. music streaming). As a result,
all major German OEMs maintain their
own branded Connected Car services
such as BMW ConnectedDrive, Mercedes
me connect, Audi connect or VW Car-Net.
Despite the potential benefits connected
car services hold for OEMs and customers,
challenges to more rapid adoption and
wider use cases exist with only 36% of Ger-
man consumers convinced that increased
vehicle connectivity will be beneficial and
only 28 percent willing to let OEMs manage
the data generated by a connected car.

As another technological trend that is reli-
ant on the ability of vehicles to communi-
cate with their surroundings, autonomous
driving is also encountering skepticism

Investing in Germany | A guide for Chinese businesses

with 45 percent of German consumers in
2020 agreeing that autonomous vehicles
will not be safe. Nevertheless, especially
established premium OEMs enjoy an excel-
lent reputation and German consumers
see traditional automakers as most likely
to successfully bring autonomous driving
technology to market rather than tech
companies or new companies specializing
in autonomous driving. In order to increase
acceptance of autonomous driving, OEMs
will need to find ways to address safety
concerns through measures such as test
drives or government certifications.

Shared mobility as the fourth major trend
has the potential to lower new car sales in
the future. OEMs are thus looking to expand
their mobility services and even setting up
joint partnerships with competitors, as the
case with BMW's and Daimler’s decision to
merge their mobility service businesses into
a joint venture in 2019. Despite its potential
impact, shared mobility has lost some of its
dynamic recently, particularly in the midst
of the COVID-19 pandemic with more than
80% of Germans unwilling to give up their
own car, according to a recent poll by a lead-
ing German online marketplace for cars.
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The automotive specialists at
Deloitte Corporate Finance can
help at every stage of the M&A
process. With their thorough
industry-specific knowledge,
they provide support among
other things in strategic target

search, target valuation,
comprehensive buy-side
process management and
negotiation support.

Philipp Gebhard
Corporate Finance Advisory
pgebhard@deloitte.de

2.1.4 M&A opportunities in the German
automotive industry

The transformation of the German
automotive market as well as the impact

of COVID-19 can be expected to further
drive M&A activity going forward. On the
one hand, technological trends paired with
Germany's excellent technical and engi-
neering education have created a cluster of
start- and scale-ups in the fields of electric
vehicles, autonomous driving and shared
mobility, which make attractive targets

for investment, particularly at valuations
generally lower than in the US.

In addition, Germany's strong automotive
supplier landscape will likely see ample
M&A opportunities, as many suppliers will
require outside capital for investment into
new technologies. For Chinese investors,
German automotive suppliers not only
offer excellent “made in Germany” engi-
neering expertise but also an unparalleled
access to German OEMs. Moreover, OEMs
themselves also require significant capital
for investment in new technologies. As

a result, separation and divestments of
non-core activities are likely to increase

in order for OEMs to focus on core areas
and finance new investment. For outside
investors, such scenarios could be highly
attractive, as OEMs may even consider sell-
ing profitable non-core activities at lower

valuations in order to free up management
focus and capital. Supply issues in the
midst of COVID-19 and recent trade fric
tions have also prompted OEMs to recon-
sider supply strategies and move away
from single source concepts, particularly
where such suppliers are located overseas.
Going forward, this may lead to increased
domestic sourcing of key components. In
this context, M&A investment in Germany
can enable overseas suppliers to establish
local capacities to remain attractive for
OEMs.

Lastly, the impact of COVID-19 and the
overall transformation of the industry will
likely lead to an increase in distressed M&A
opportunities, particularly once the obliga-
tion to file for insolvency, currently partially
suspended as part of the German govern-
ment's relief package, resumes. Among
distressed companies may also be targets
that, while in a distressed financial position,
possess fundamentally sound products
and thus offer investors significant upside
at attractive valuations. This may prove

an attractive opportunity for overseas
investors, especially Chinese investors who
have gained experience with the takeover
and restructuring of German automotive
businesses during or after the automotive
crisis years.



2.2 The German Life Sciences and
Health Care industry

Germany's healthcare market is No. 1

in Europe by market volume, number of
patients, medical technology manufactur-
ers, and healthcare providers. Healthcare
spending in Germany exceeds €400 billion
(2019), not including expenditure for
wellness and fitness. The market has grown
at a rate of 4.1% over the past 10 years.
With more than 7.5 million employees and
exports in excess of €126 billion, healthcare
is one of the largest economic sectors in
Germany.

Thanks to its innovational strength and
employment intensity, it generates growth
and creates jobs. Its development is more
constant than the development of the
overall economy; fluctuations of general
economic activity are therefore reduced.
In addition, average life expectancy is
rising rapidly and reached an average of
78.9 years for males and 83.6 years for

females in 2020. Although also Germany as
Europe’s economic hub has been affected
by COVID-19, the Life Sciences and Health
Care industry has not been negatively
affected to a large extent and a swift recov-
ery of the German economy is expected.

2.2.1 The Life Sciences industry

The Life Sciences industry consists of three
major sectors, namely pharmaceuticals,
biotechnology and medical technology. In
the following, major trends and develop-
ments in these sectors are described.

2.2.1.1 Pharmaceuticals

According to European Federation of
Pharmaceutical Industries and Associations
(EFPIA), Germany is the biggest pharma-
ceutical manufacturing location within

the European Union and ranks second in
Europe after Switzerland (production value:
EUR 36.1 billion in 2018).
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With more than 500 pharmaceutical
companies located in Germany, the country
has a strong industry base and offers a
high-performing industrial infrastructure
and long-standing strength of the local
chemical industry. Further, there are over
400 universities in Germany and numer-
ous specialized research institutes (e.g.
Fraunhofer Society, Max-Planck Society,
Helmholtz Centres, Leibniz Association).

In 2018, exports of pharmaceuticals grew
by 10.3 percent (EUR 83.2 billion) making
Germany Europe’s leading supplier of med-
ications and the second largest importer.
The German pharmaceutical sector shows
the highest research intensity across all
major German industries (12.5% of reve-
nues were reinvested in R&D in 2018). With
499 clinical trials financed by research-
based pharmaceutical companies in 2019,
Germany ranks fifth worldwide.

Fig. 4 - Turnover growth of the overall pharmaceuticals market in Germany from 2007 to 2019
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2.2.1.2 Biotechnology

Biotechnology products are expected to
contribute steadily to sales and are expec
ted to make up 52 percent of the top 100
product sales by 2024. By 2024, the orphan
drugs sector is expected to almost double
and account for 20 percent of prescription
sales. In particular, gene and cell therapies
are accelerating growth. The CAR-T therapy
market is projected to increase at an
annualized rate of over 51 percent during
the time period, 2018-2030. In 2019, the
biotech industry in Germany increased its
turnover to EUR 4.8 b compared to EUR
4.4bin 2018.

2.2.1.3 Medical technology

Medtech is projected to grow at a 5.6 per-
cent CAGR over the forecast period 2017~
2024. 1n 2019, worldwide medtech sales are
predicted to be US$475 billion, growing to
US$595 billion by 2024. The fastest-growing
device areas by CAGR are predicted to be
Neurology (9.1 percent), Diabetic Care (7.8
percent), and General and Plastic Surgery/
Dental (tied at 6.5 percent). By 2024, In
Vitro Diagnostics is expected to be the
largest medtech segment with annual sales
of US$79.6 billion, followed by Cardiology
and Diagnostic Imaging. Medtech R&D
spend is estimated at US$39 billion by

2024. Software-as-a-Medical Device (SaMD)
is a rapidly growing area of innovation that
regulators across the globe are working to
de-risk and make more agile. In Germany,
the medtech industry made significant
progress; while turnover was still at EUR

5.7 billion in 2003, the 2019 value was as
high as EUR 11.4 billion.

Fig. 5 - Turnover of the German domestic industry for medical technology from 2003 to 2019 (in billion euros)
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2.2.1.4 M&A activities in the European
Life Sciences industry

The continuous search for the next gen-
eration of market-leading medicines and
decreasing returns in R&D make external
deals attractive sources of innovation for
biopharma companies, either through
licensing, mergers and acquisitions (M&A),
and/or joint ventures. In addition, pricing
pressures on the pharmaceutical segment
are predicted to continue, driven by gov-
ernments, patent losses, and increased
promotion of generics and biosimilars.

To deal with these pressures, some phar-
maceutical companies are buying rivals
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to streamline marketing staff or buying
unique treatments that do not have
lower-cost alternatives.

While only a few big pharma companies
are developing next-generation therapies,
more than 250 startups are focused on
gene-based therapeutic solutions. In the
future, next-generation therapy startups
are more likely to mesh into their own
mergers and could form a new breed of
company with a very different culture
around innovation and life sciences.

Fig.6 - Number of European mergers and takeovers in the medtech industry according to sector in 2017 and 2018
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2.2.2. The Health Care Industry

As the population in Germany grow older
and older, the importance of hospitals and
care facilities is constantly rising. Germany
is the biggest healthcare market in Europe
and its health care expenses are contin-
uously rising (in 2018, a new high of EUR
390.6 billion was reached). The health care
sector currently accounts for almost

12 percent of German GDP. In 2019, the
EUR 400 billion mark regarding annual
German health care expenditure was
exceeded and is expected to increase
further driven by demographic change, the
growing prevalence of chronic diseases,
and the COVID-19 outbreak.

Inpatient care in Germany comprises more
than 1,900 hospitals with nearly 500,000
beds (not including rehabilitation or elderly
care facilities). The overall number of medi-
cal hospitals is declining as smaller general
hospitals close or merge with other hospi-
tals to increase efficiency. On the contrary,

the share of privately operated hospitals
continues to rise.

2.2.2.1 Health insurance in Germany

Germany achieves almost universal health
insurance coverage; health insurance cov-
erage is mandatory in Germany. Insurance
premiums are shared by employers and

employees. The vast majority of the popu-
lation is enrolled in public health insurance

plans. About 10% choose private providers.

Both publicly and privately insured can
choose their provider. Currently, there are
105 public and 42 private health insurance
companies operating in Germany (2020).
The government approved the German
Drug Law (AM-VSG) in 2017, aimed at
ensuring Social Health Insurance financial
stability and extending the price morato-
rium for all patent-free drugs until 2022.

2.2.2.2 Recent Developments
Since the gap between the supply of
resources and the demand for healthcare

Fig. 7 - Number of hospitals in Germany from 2000 to 2018
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is widening, most countries are looking to
digital transformation to close this gap.

The newly introduced investment program
by the Federal Ministry of Health is helping
German hospitals to drive digitization in
the health sector. A total of EUR 4.3 billion
in funding is available to enable hospitals
to invest in modern emergency capacities,
digitization and IT security. The Hospital
Future Program is to be implemented
through the Hospital Future Act “Kranken-
hauszukunftsgesetz” (KHZG) and the
establishment of a Hospital Future Fund
"Krankenhauszukunftsfonds” (KHZF).

The Hospitals Future Program promotes
the long-term transformation of hospitals.
In particular, the program focuses primarily
on digitalization and IT Infrastructure-
related measures.

2,242 2,240 2,221 2,197 084 4
y ’ 2,166 1 45 17 51 942
2,139 ,104 ,087 2,083 2, 2,064 20 1
2.1 2 7 ’ 2,0 1,996 ,980 1,956 1,9 1 :

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018



Fig. 8 - Number of private hospitals
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Deloitte has a comprehensive
and deep understanding of the
health care ecosystem in
Germany with its many
innovative players, striving to

shape the future of health.

Michael Dohrmann
Deloitte Consulting
mdohrmann@deloitte.de
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2.2.3 Outlook for the Life Sciences and
Health Care industry

More pharmaceutical companies will likely
be outsourcing expertise in advanced
technologies, such as Al, robotic and
cognitive automation, and cloud computing
to increase efficiencies, reduce costs, and
decrease clinical timelines. In the loMT
(Internet of Medical Things), large and small
companies will need to work together to
minimize risks in the ecosystem in terms

2013

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

of medical device cybersecurity. Apart
from the loMT, other leading technologies
advancing digital transformation in life
sciences include Al, robotic automation,
SaMD (Software-as-a-Medical Device),
blockchain, DIY diagnostics, virtual care,
mobility in drug delivery and clinical trials,
genomics, next-generation therapies, cloud
computing, Real-World Evidence (RWE), and
data-driven precision medicine.
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3. Regulatory environment

Deloitte offers services
regarding the setting up of a
company and can help to
identify the company form with

the most appropriate features

Dr. Michael Fischer
Deloitte Legal
mifischer@deloitte.de
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3.1 Company law and setting up a
business

3.1.1 Formalities for setting up a
company

The two most common forms of incorpo-
ration are

the joint stock corporation (Aktienge-
sellschaft or AG), which is regulated by
the Joint Stock Corporation Act, and

the limited liability company (Gesellschaft
mit beschrankter Haftung or GmbH),
which is governed by the Limited Liability
Company Act.

To avoid misunderstandings: the liability
of a limited liability company is limited only
by its total net assets, it is the liability of

its shareholders that is limited. However,

it may be funded with the statutory min-
imum capital and the shareholder(s) of

the company have no obligation to make
further capital contributions, unless oth-
erwise provided for. Some companies are
incorporated as a commercial partnership
limited by shares (Kommanditgesellschaft
auf Aktien or KGaA).

The most common forms of unincorpo-
rated businesses are:

the limited commercial partnership (Kom-
manditgesellschaft or KG), in which the
liability of at least one partner is unlim-
ited (general partner) and limited for the
other partner(s) (limited partner(s)); and

the general commercial partnership
(Offene Handelsgesellschaft or OHG),
in which the liability of the partnersis
unlimited.



The role of general partner can be
assumed by a limited liability company and
sometimes limited liability companies are
founded for the mere purpose of being the
sole general partner in a KG (then the com-
pany must carry the designation “GmbH

& Co KG"in its name). A GmbH & Co KG
combines the advantages of a GmbH with
those of a KG. In the light of the (desired)
effects of such a hybrid combination of the
elements of a partnership and a corpora-
tion, specific statutory rules apply in some
respects to a business run as a GmbH &
Co KG.

Companies operating in Germany must be
entered in a Commercial Register at the
local court. The registration of a joint stock
corporation (AG) or limited liability com-
pany (GmbH) is critical for foreign enter-
prises establishing a subsidiary in Germany,
because, under German law, a parent
company acting as a founding shareholder
and also any individuals acting on behalf of
the newly founded AG or GmbH might be
held liable under certain circumstances.

The procedures for forming an AG are com-
plicated. Although no permit is needed to
form an AG or to issue shares, the founders
must draw up Articles of Association. These
must at least state the following: the name
of the company, the location of its regis-
tered office in Germany, its objectives, the
amount of share capital, the denominations
and types of its shares, and the number

of members of the Board of Management
or the procedure by which this number is
established. A notary public must record
the Articles. The founders appoint the first
Supervisory Board, whose members in
turn appoint the Board of Management.
The members of both Boards supervise the
company's formation. An additional exami-
nation by court-appointed auditors may be
required in certain circumstances.

The company must file its registration
application with the commercial, provincial
or district court in whose jurisdiction it is
based. At the same time, it must file a deed
on the recording of the Articles of Associa-
tion, as well as any agreements concerning

contributions and acceptances in kind, a
calculation of the costs to be borne by the
company for formation, all documents on
the appointment of the Boards, the found-
ers' report on the formation of the com-
pany and proof of payment of the founders
shares. The AG comes into existence when
itis entered in the Commercial Register
after the Articles of Association have been
notarised as part of the foundation process
and the total share capital has been sub-
scribed (only 25% has to be paid in).

Procedures for forming a GmbH are similar,
but simpler. The GmbH has less detailed
requirements for stating the firm's major
business purpose in the Articles of Associa-
tion, lower minimum capital requirements,
simpler formalities and more flexibility in
legal and business transactions. However,
the shares of a GmbH may not be traded
on a stock exchange.

Like the AG, the GmbH comes into exist-
ence after an application is recorded in the
Commercial Register. Before registration,
persons who act on behalf of a GmbH can
be personally liable. Incorporators must
agree on Articles of Association containing
the firm's name, place of incorporation
(which must be in Germany), intended pur-
pose and amount of capital (including the
amounts contributed by each shareholder),
whereby the minimum capital is EUR
25,000. This information must be notarised
and entered in the Commercial Register.

The acronym "GmbH" must appear in the
company's official name. The registration
can be effected only after 25 percent of
the capital has been paid in; the minimum
that must be paid in at registration is EUR
12,500. Itis possible to form a GmbH with
subscribed capital of less than EUR 25,000
(known as a "mini GmbH"). In this case,
additional rules regarding the accumulation
of a statutory reserve and the name of the

company apply.

Shareholders may be foreign nationals,
and they need not have a residence or
work permit as long as they retain their
residence in their home country. The man-
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aging director may be a foreign national
but should have a residence permit (for
which non-German EU nationals are
automatically eligible); a work permit is not
necessary if the managing director is not
regarded as a regular employee. There are
special agreements with some countries.

The GmbH is the preferred corporate form
for foreign investors who want to limit the
risk of their activities to the amount of
capital they invest in Germany and who do
not anticipate raising funds in the capital
market (which requires the AG legal form).

The European joint stock corporation,
known as Societas Europaea (SE), must

be registered in the state where it is
headquartered and remains under the
supervision of the national authorities of
that state. It is not necessary for SE shares
to be traded on any stock exchange, but if
its shares are listed on a stock exchange,
the company is subject to the same laws as
an AG.
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3.1.2 Characteristics of the principal
forms of business entities
Requirements for an AG

Capital

Minimum capital is EUR 50,000. At least
25 percent of the nominal capital cash
contributions (which in total must not fall
below the minimum capital) must be paid
in when the company is formed, and all
capital must be subscribed. If the AG's
shares are not issued for their nominal
amounts only, the 25 percent minimum
of paid-in capital also encompasses the
premium (which also often called agio).
Other capital contributions may be in the
form of factories, machinery, patents,
know-how, etc. Capital contributions in
kind must be 100% paid in and are subject
to rigid valuations by court-appointed
auditors. An amount equal to 5 percent
of annual profits after taxes must go into
a legal reserve account until the reserve
has reached 10 percent of equity capital.
If shares are issued above the nominal
value, the nominal value is reported in
the AG's balance sheet as “subscribed
capital”, the amount of the premium must
be transferred to and reported as the AG's
reserve account.

Founders, shareholders

Itis possible for one person alone to
establish an AG. There are no nationality
or residence restrictions.

Board of Directors/Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board must have at least
three members or a multiple thereof, up
to a maximum of 21. Individuals may not
be members of more than 10 Boards.
Representatives of parent companies may
hold up to five additional board seats in
affiliates, for a total of 15. There are no lim-
its on the nationality or residence of direc-
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tors. The shareholders' meeting elects
the shareholders' representatives on the
Board for a maximum period (roughly 5
years, as the exact period depends on
and is tied to the Annual General Meeting
resolving upon whether discharge is
granted for the fourth fiscal year of the
representative’s tenure; different provi-
sions apply to the first Supervisory Board)
and, if applicable, the employees or their
delegates elect staff representatives for
the same period. Re-election is possible.
Labour has 50% representation on the
Supervisory Board of companies with a
workforce of more than 2,000; in compa-
nies with a payroll of 500-2,000, labour
representatives must hold one-third of the
seats.

Management

The Supervisory Board appoints the Man-
agement Board for up

to five years. Each member may be re-
appointed for additional terms. Managers
need not be shareholders, and there are
no restrictions on their nationality or
residence. Although the minimum number
of board members is one, AGs with capital
exceeding EUR 3 million must have at
least two members on their Management
Boards (unless otherwise provided for in
the Articles of Association).

Provided the AG permanently employs
more than 5 employees (of whom at least
3 are eligible), employees are entitled

to establish a Works Council, which has

a voice in certain social and personnel
decisions.

Taxes and fees

There are no taxes on incorporation or
capital increases. The costs of entering a
company in the Commercial Register and

of notarising the Articles of Association
depend on the company's capital stock
and on whether a lawyer is used to draft
the Articles. Where shares are issued at a
premium, the premium is not considered
taxable income.

Types of shares

The minimum par value of shares is EUR
1. An AG must issue common (ordinary)
shares but may issue preferred shares
(which usually carry no vote) up to the
full amount of common shares. Multiple
vote shares are generally not permitted,
although non-voting shares are permitted.
Bearer shares are often used, although
registered shares are permitted. Regis-
tered shares have the same legal rights,
specifically in computer trading, as the
traditionally-used bearer shares.

Control

In the shareholder meeting, a simple
majority is sufficient to approve most
actions; a majority of more than 75% is
required for major decisions. A minority
of 5% of equity capital or, as the case may
be, EUR 500,000 in shares may do the fol-
lowing: call an extraordinary shareholders'
meeting (minority of 5%) or put topics on
the agenda of the shareholders' meeting
(minority of 5% or EUR 500,000 in shares);
object to a decision of the shareholders'
meeting for the formation of reserves
(meeting (minority of 5% or EUR 500,000
in shares), if this decision is shown to be
"economically unreasonable". A minority
of 1% of equity capital or EUR 100,000

in shares) can request a special audit if
the business report seems incomplete

or incorrect or assets are believed to be
undervalued. A minority of 10% or EUR 1
million may force a vote on a nominated
board member.



Requirements for a GmbH

Capital

The minimum capital is EUR 25,000, but
only EUR 12,500, including deposits in
kind, must be paid in. The registry court
must value assets in kind paid in by the
group or person establishing the GmbH.
Minimum capital for entrepreneurial com-
panies with limited liability ("miniGmbH")
is EUR 1. A legal reserve equal to 25% of
the annual profits is required for entre-
preneurial companies with limited liability
until the registered capital is increased to
EUR 25,000 or above.

Founders, shareholders

There is a minimum of one founding mem-
ber. Founders may also be companies

or private partnerships. The acronym
GmbH must appear in the firm's official
name. The official name of entrepreneurial
companies with limited liability must have
the wording "Unternehmergesellschaft
(haftungsbeschrankt)" or "UG (haftungs-
beschrankt)."

Board of Directors/Supervisory Board
A Supervisory Board is required if there
are more than 500 employees. The Super-
visory Board then controls management
and no person may serve as director and
manager simultaneously. The Supervisory
Board must comprise at least three mem-
bers. The rules governing representation
of labour are the same as for an AG (see
above).

Management

One or several managers are permitted.
Members may specify management proce-
dures in the company's bylaws. Managers
need not be shareholders.

Branch of a foreign corporation

A foreign company does not need a
permit to establish a branch in Germany.
A branch (unlike a subsidiary) is not a
separate legal entity and has no rights or
obligations other than those of the head
office. A branch is categorised either as a
dependent entity lacking its own business
profile (like a representative office) or as
an independent trading entity. Only inde-
pendent branches must be entered in the
commercial register. The tax treatment is
the same for both types of branches.

A branch is not subject to the same
disclosure requirements as a subsidiary.
In a start-up situation, a branch has the
advantage of letting the foreign investor
offset German-source start-up losses
against home-country taxable income,
depending on the home country's tax sys-
tem. However, a subsequent conversion
of the branch into a German corporation
typically results in gain recognition, par-
ticularly for goodwill; different rules apply
to EU companies. The liability of a branch
extends to the foreign head office; a sub-
sidiary in principle does not expose the
foreign parent to potential liabilities.

A foreign company may set up an inde-
pendent branch by registering it in the
local Commercial Register. The certified
registration must be made at the local
court where the branch will be located.
Branch managers may be foreign nation-
als and are not subject to residence
limitations. Foreign corporations must
include a certified copy of the Articles

of Incorporation (including a German
translation) with the application. They
must also include detailed information
about both the head office company
and the branch, e.g. business objectives,
amount of equity and composition of
the board.
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When planning your outbound
investment, crucial aspects that
need to be considered refer to
the company law and tax
consequences. To cover these
relevant aspects, Deloitte offers

advisory services delivered by
interdisciplinary teams.

Claus Schuermann
Tax & Business Advisory Services
clschuermann@deloitte.com.hk

3.1.3 Considerations for tax structures
For Chinese investments to Germany
some special tax considerations are rele-
vant. Often, Chinese investors use Hong
Kong as their hub for foreign investment.
The reasons may be diverse, including for-
eign exchange, international environment
and English language capabilities, a highly
liquid and well-regulated capital market
and access to funding, considerations of
a future IPO and from a tax perspective:
the exemption of dividends received in
comparison to a 25% taxation in Mainland
China.

However, from a tax perspective, Hong
Kong does not appear to be a very efficient
location for use as a holding company for
investment in countries such as Germany,
as there is no tax treaty between the two
jurisdictions, leading to a high withholding
tax and total tax burden for a straight-
forward investment. Thus, some thought
needs to be given how to reduce the tax
burden.

A common way to reduce the German
withholding tax would be the interposing
of a holding company. A typical location
would be somewhere in the EU in order to
utilise the EU Parent-Subsidiary Directive
and reduce the dividend withholding tax
to zero. However, this requires two things:
the interposed holding company has
some operational substance in order to
meet the preconditions under German
law. Additionally, the interposed location
should not add tax cost to the dividend
flow. Typical locations in the past have
been Luxembourg and The Netherlands.

If no operational substance can be set up
in another favourable location, a straight-
forward investment might be considered
in the legal form of a partnership (GmbH &
Co KG). This is a very common legal form in
the German middle market sector ("Mittel-
stand"). A partnership is generally subject
to a comparable tax burden in Germany
to an operating corporation (GmbH). How-
ever, the repatriation of funds is not a div-
idend and is thus not subject to dividend
withholding tax. The repatriated funds are
generally not taxable in Hong Kong.

However, once a repatriation to China
takes place, consideration needs to be
given to the availability of foreign tax cred-
its in China.

Another means of reducing the effective
tax rate would be to finance the German
investment with debt. In this regard, the
German interest limitation rules have to
be observed. Since generally no withhold-
ing tax applies to interest payments and
the tax arbitrage is considerable between
Germany and Hong Kong (but not with
China), the debt-financing capacity should
be utilised.

When acquiring (or setting up) more than
one legal entity, the creation of a tax group
(Organschaft) to permit the consolidation
of the tax result across all entities should
be considered.



3.1.4 Legal framework for licence
agreements

Government approval is not required

to enter into licensing agreements or to
pay royalties to foreigners. Licensing and
technical assistance agreements need not
be registered with the German Patent and
Trademark Office. As a rule, compensation
under licensing agreements is based on
sales, often on a per-unit basis. Many
agreements fix annual minimum royalties
that must be paid regardless of actual
sales.

The main limitations on licensing in
Germany arise under antitrust law. The

EC Treaty prohibits contracts that limit
competition, although the EU technology
transfer block exemption regulation
(TTBER) allows the licensor to impose cer-
tain restrictions on the licensee, such as
limiting production of the licensed product
to a geographic region, if certain condi-
tions are fulfilled. However, the TTBER only
applies where the joint market share of
the parties on the relevant market does
not - in case of competitors - exceed

20 percent and - in case of non-competing
entities - 30 percent.

Under German and European antitrust law
it is permissible for licensors to impose

EU territory export prohibitions on their
licensees if the relevant product is not
designated for EU countries, unless such
an export prohibition has an appreciable
impact on competitive conditions and the
structure of the internal market. Licensors
may also stipulate that the product be
exported only to other countries within

the EU, although they may not stipulate
which countries (unless the (implicit)
prohibition on export to non-EU countries
has an appreciable impact on competitive
conditions and the structure of the inter-
nal market).

Tie-ins are allowed only to the extent they
are necessary to maintain the technical
standard of the licensed product. A
licensor may not restrict the handling or
pricing of competitive products, because
such restrictions exceed the scope of a
patent or other protected right and would
restrict the licensee's business activities.
Under the TTBER the parties may agree,
in case of an exclusive licence, on clauses
that prohibit the licensee from directly or
indirectly contesting the validity of one or
more licensed property rights.

A licensing agreement may outlast the
patent right for which itis granted if

the licence also includes longer term
provisions for technical know-how and
assistance. The duration of the licensing
agreement then depends on the duration
of these other provisions. Know-how is
recognised as a licensable property right.
Germany does not limit the licensing of
further developments of the initial patent.
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3.1.5 Mergers and Acquisitions
Under the Law against the Restraint of
Competition, the following transactions
are deemed to be a merger:

* acquisition of all or of a substantial part
of the assets of another undertaking;

* acquisition of direct or indirect control by
one or several undertakings of the whole
or parts of one or more undertakings;
control is constituted by rights, contracts
or any other means that, either sepa-
rately or in combination with and having
regard to the considerations of fact or law
involved, confer the possibility of exercis-
ing decisive influence on an undertaking;

acquisition of shares in another under-
taking if the shares, either separately or
together with other shares already held
by the undertaking, reach or exceed
50% or 25% (indirect or direct) of the
capital or the voting rights of the other
undertaking;

* any other combination of undertakings
enabling one or several undertakings to
directly or indirectly exert a competitively
significant influence on another under-
taking.

A concentration also arises if the partici-
pating undertakings had already merged
previously, unless the concentration does
not result in a substantial strengthening of
the existing affiliation between the under-
takings.

If credit institutions, financial institutions
or insurance undertakings acquire shares
in another undertaking for the purpose
of reselling them, a concentration is not
deemed to arise as long as they do not
exercise the voting rights attached to the
shares and provided the resale occurs
within one year ("banking clause"). This
time limit may, upon application, be
extended by the Federal Cartel Office if
the undertakings can show that the resale
was not reasonably possible within this
period.
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The Federal Cartel Office must be notified
according to recently enacted regulation,
in German, of mergers and acquisitions
(M&A) that meet the following criteria:

* combined worldwide turnover of the
participating companies exceeded
EUR 500 million or more in the business
year preceding the merger; and

domestic turnover of at least one partici-
pating company was more than
EUR 50 million; and

domestic turnover of another partici-
pating company was more than
EUR 17.5 million or

the combined aggregated worldwide
turnover of all participating undertakings
is more than EUR 500 million, and

the domestic turnover of one participat-
ing undertaking is more than
EUR 50 million, and neither

the target undertaking nor any other
undertaking concerned achieved a
domestic turnover of more than

EUR 17.5 million,

the consideration for the acquisition
exceeds EUR 400 million and

the target undertaking has substantial
operations in Germany.

Further, the Federal Cartel Office can issue
a decree ordering companies to notify
certain concentrations in specific indus-
tries for a period of three years if these
industries were previously the subject of

a sector inquiry (carried out after the 10th
Amendment of the Act Against Restriction
on Competition came into force). The
purchasing company must have a world-
wide turnover of EUR 500 million and a
15% share or more of domestic supply

(or demand on the buyer side) and there
must also be indications that competition
will be significantly impeded by future
concentrations. The notification obligation
will only apply to concentrations where the

target company has turnover of more than
EUR 2 million and generates more than
two-thirds of this in Germany.

The turnover of affiliated undertakings of
the participating companies must be taken
into account when calculating whether the
turnover thresholds are met. The following
are deemed to be undertakings affiliated
to a participating undertaking:

* controlled or controlling companies (in
terms of the regulations on Joint Stock
Corporations) and group companies (in
terms of the regulation on Joint Stock
Corporations);

undertakings which are controlled solely
or jointly by the participating undertak-
ing, and - vice versa - undertakings which
are able to exert decisive influence on the
participating undertaking.

The Federal Cartel Office does not have

to be notified of M&As where the merger
has no effect on the German market or the
turnover thresholds are not reached.

Mergers with a Community dimension fall
within the competence of the EU Commis-
sion and need to be notified under Council
Regulation (EC) No. 139/2004. The EU has
jurisdiction over mergers in two situations:

1. where the combined aggregate world-
wide turnover of all of the undertakings
concerned is more than EUR 5 billion
and the aggregate EU-wide turnover of
each of at least two of the undertakings
is more than EUR 250 million, unless
each of the undertakings concerned
generates more than two-thirds of its
aggregate EU-wide turnover in a single
member state; and

2. where the aggregate global turnover of
the companies concerned exceeds EUR
2.5 billion for all businesses involved,
aggregate global turnover in each of at
least three member states is more than



EUR 100 million, aggregate turnover in
each of these three member states of
at least two undertakings is more than
EUR 25 million and aggregate EU-wide
turnover of each of at least two of the
undertakings is more than EUR 100
million, unless each generates more
than two-thirds of its aggregate EU-wide
turnover within one and the same state.

If a merger would not normally fall within
the European Commission's purview, the
affected companies may ask the Commis-
sion to review it if they would otherwise be
obliged to notify three or more member
states. The Commission proceeds as a
"one-stop shop" only if none of the relevant
member states objects within 15 days.

The tax implications of reorganisations are
regulated in the Reorganisation Tax Act. If
certain requirements are met, reorgani-
sations — mergers, spin-offs and contribu-
tions - can be carried out in a tax-neutral
manner. In particular, it is required that
Germany’s right to tax the takeover entity
or the transferred assets is not affected.
The Federal Ministry of Finance has issued

a comprehensive decree on the tax implica-

tions of reorganisations.
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Deloitte can support clients in
reorganisation cases to help them
understand and meet the requirements
for tax-neutral reorganisations
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3.1.6 Cartel ban

Under the cartel ban, agreements
between undertakings which have as their
object or effect the restraint on compe-
tition are prohibited. In order to qualify

a certain behaviour as anti-competitive,
antitrust law differentiates between agree-
ments concluded between competitors
and agreements concluded between
non-competing undertakings. In the fol-
lowing some examples of anti-competitive
agreements are described.

With regard to agreements between
competitors the cartel ban is generally
violated in case of e.g. a price fixing,
allocation of customers or markets, lim-
itations on sales and production as well
as collusive tendering. Also the exchange
of sensitive information (e.g. concerning
prices, customers, cost, capacity) between
competing undertakings may also infringe
the cartel ban.

With regard to agreements within a ver-
tical relationship - meaning agreements
between market participants that are
active on different levels of the economic
circuit, such as producer and distributor
or reseller - the cartel ban is generally
violated in case of e.g. resale price main-
tenance as well as customer and territory
restrictions. Under the EU regulation on
vertical restraints — which is applicable if
the market share held by the seller does
not exceed 30% of the relevant market
on which it sells the contract goods and
the market share held by the buyer does
not exceed 30% of the relevant market on
which it purchases the contract goods -
certain restrictions such as non-compet-
ing obligations, most-favoured clauses and
exclusivity clauses are permitted.
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3.1.7 Monopolies and restraint of
competition

Market dominance in itself is not illegal

in Germany, but the abuse of a dominant
position is. The existence of market domi-
nance depends on whether an enterprise,
as a seller or a buyer of goods or services,
has no (effective) competitors or holds an
overwhelming position against its rivals.
This may be evidenced by the company's
market share, financial power, access to
sales and procurement markets, interlock-
ing arrangements with other companies
or other obstacles preventing firms from
entering the market. Market dominance
may be presumed when a company holds
a market share of at least 40%.

The Federal Cartel Office is also empow-
ered to declare that a company has an
“overwhelming importance for competi-
tion across multiple markets”. This aims
at restricting the market power of large
digital companies. Upon issuance of a
respective decision, the Federal Cartel
Office may, in addition to the general anti-
abuse rules, apply additional measures
specifically designed for keeping open
respective markets.

A group of companies may be regarded as
dominating the market when it consists of
three or fewer companies that together
control one-half of the market or when it
consists of five or fewer companies that
together control two-thirds of the market.
Exceptions apply when the companies
that together hold a dominant market
share can prove that the competition
between them is such that no domination
is likely or that the group is not dominant
compared with the other competitors. A
dominant market position is abused if it is
e.g. used to impede other market partic-
ipants, actual or potential, or to demand
excessively high or low prices.



By assembling teams that
comprise legal experts as well
as experts in Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems,
Deloitte can effectively advise
which processes and infor-

mation would be necessary and
legally accessible for investors.

Dr. Michael Fischer
Deloitte Legal
mifischer@deloitte.de

3.1.8 Investor rights to information
Investors have an interest in being pro-
vided with certain company information
on a regular basis. Single cases and spe-
cific requests can be addressed by assert-
ing e.g. the shareholder’s statutory (minor-
ity) information and inspection right in a
GmbH. However, beyond that, investors
will often be interested in a more institu-
tionalised and steady reporting from the
Management Board or the Supervisory
Board. While in a GmbH, as a rule, share-
holder primacy is the leading principle, in
a AG a strict allocation of competences to
either the shareholders, the Management
Board or the Supervisory Board prevails.
Therefore, as opposed to an AG, in which
the Management Board shall direct the
company on its own responsibility, only

in a GmbH the shareholder(s) has/have
the authority to give directives to the
management by way of shareholder reso-
lutions (which, as the case may be, can be
adopted based on just one investor/share-
holder and his interest). Hence, in contrast
to an AG with its formal reporting during
the financial year and the Annual General
Meeting being the main platform to

share information with the shareholders,
shareholder requests in a GmbH (e.g. for
information) must in principle be obeyed
(provided such requests can be based on
shareholder resolutions).

Investing in Germany | A guide for Chinese businesses

However, irrespective of this difference
between AGs and GmbHs, the manage-
ment of either legal form as well as the
Supervisory Board and its members are
always in a conflict between their duties
towards the company and, as the case
may be, vis-a-vis “their” shareholder(s).
According to statutory law, members of
the Management Board as well as mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board are subject
to strict confidentiality obligations. There
is a heated discussion in the academic lit-
erature and in jurisdiction about whether
certain information must be considered
confidential and as a business secret
which, therefore, must be kept confidential
and as a secret and must not be disclosed.

In the event that certain information has
been categorised as confidential or as

a business secret, a violation of related
obligations can be even a criminal offence.
In the light of the described ambigui-

ties under German law, investors are
well-advised to stipulate their rights in the
Articles of Association or in shareholder
agreements to the extent legally permis-
sible, e.g. with respect to information and
reports to be provided, related inspection
and audit rights, and rights to pass on
information to their parent companies and
third parties such as regulatory agencies.
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3.2 Labour law

3.2.1 Employee rights and remune-
ration

There is no single law governing the indi-
vidual and collective aspects of employ-
ment in Germany. Labour-management
relations are primarily the result of collec-
tive bargaining agreements between trade
unions and employers' associations.

The German Civil Code regulates employ-
ment contracts. The Commercial Code
partly covers the employer-employee
relationship and contains regulations on
commercial agents. Moreover, there are
several statutory laws regulating certain
aspects of the employment relationship
(e.g. continued payment of wages during
sickness or vacation).

German labour law is aligned with EU
guidelines governing collective bargaining
agreements. Within one month of hiring
an employee, employers must put into
writing the terms of the employment
contract. In the absence of a choice-of-law
clause in an employment contract, courts
must apply German law whenever an
employee’s main activity is located in Ger-
many, even if the employer is a foreign cor-
poration. If the employee works abroad,
the law of the country that governs the
branch applies to the employee in the
absence of a choice-of-law provision.

In any enterprise with at least five regu-
larly employed workers, these may set up
a Works Council to help resolve personnel
issues (e.g. working hours, vacation
schedules, salary and wage structures,
payments for piece-work and incentive
premiums). The Works Council must be
consulted on many changes that affect
working conditions (e.g. changes in pro-
duction methods and facilities). It also has
an important voice in hiring, transferring
or dismissing employees.
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Workers' participation laws govern Works
Councils and employees representation
on the Supervisory Board level. In a
company with regularly more than 100
employees, the Works Council may elect
an Economic Committee, which discusses
company decisions with management
and then passes the information on to
the Works Council. In a company with
generally more than 500 but not more
than 2,000 employees, one-third of the
seats on the Supervisory Board must be
reserved for employee representatives.
For companies with usually more than
2,000 employees, one-half of the Super-
visory Board must comprise employee
representatives (coal and steel industries
have a similar but separate scheme).

Working hours in Germany are governed
by law. Agreements under collective law,
such as Works Council agreements usually
regulate the details. The normal working
day is eight hours and can be extended to
ten hours if the six-month average does
not exceed eight hours per day. In prin-
ciple, work is prohibited on Sundays and
public holidays. Certain exceptions apply
in particular to healthcare, restaurants,
transport and agriculture. Shift work is
permitted, and there must usually be an
eleven-hour rest period between shifts.
Collective bargaining and Works Council
agreements are specific on shift work. In
terms of overtime work, employers often
pay overtime surcharges or give workers
additional time off instead. Employees
with executive functions do not usually
receive overtime pay.

The minimum annual leave is 20 working
days for full-time employees (five-day
working week). On average, the workforce
is entitled to an annual leave of 30 days by
collective labour agreement.






3.2.2 Wages and benefits

(Minimum) Wages

The German Minimum Wage Act has been
in effect since January 1, 2015. Since then,
employees in Germany are entitled to
receive the minimum wage. Currently, the
minimum wage amounts to EUR 9.50 per
hour as of January 1, 2021 (to be increased
to EUR 9.60 per hour as per July 01, 2021).
This applies to all employees who render
their services on German territory no mat-
ter how long these services are rendered.
Therefore, the minimum wage also applies
for example to foreign employees who are
assigned to Germany. There are only very
few exceptions to the minimum wage, e.g.
as regards certain kinds of internships. In
addition to defining a minimum wage, the
Minimum Wage Act also contains certain
documentation and reporting obligations
that might need to be considered by
employers.

Furthermore, many industries are subject
to minimum wages regulated under col-
lective bargaining agreements. Wages in
foreign-owned firms are basically similar to
those in domestic companies.

In the event of non-compliance with the
minimum wage, there is a particular risk of
the imposition of fines by the authorities
and the assertion of subsequent payments
by employees.

Notwithstanding the minimum wage,
wages and salaries vary by location, sen-
jority and skills of the employee. They are
often lower in rural districts than in major
cities.
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Pensions

A privately-funded and managed element
has been added to the pay-as-you-go
pension scheme and tax advantages are
granted to payments into the state pension
system. The Personal Pension Plan Act
encourages private-sector employees,
who are entitled to compulsory social
retirement benefits (state pension), to
build up individual-asset-backed pension
plans. Personal pension plan contributions
are tax exempt, within the limits specified
under the pension plan legislation. The
Pension Law gradually exempts payments
into the state pension fund from tax, but it
taxes pension pay-outs.

Germany's comprehensive state pension
scheme requires compulsory deductions
(see below and Chapter 3.5.6.6).

Most large German companies offer
voluntary company pension plans that
supplement the state retirement pension
scheme.

The legal retirement age is 67 for men and
women. Under certain conditions early
retirement is possible.

Social insurance

Wages and salaries constitute only a part
of the cost of labour. Mandatory social
insurance contributions for employers and
employees combined reach an average

of approximately 40 % of gross income
below annually defined ceilings. Typically,
employers and employees each pay half of
the charges.

Non-wage employment costs include the
following:

* Compulsory health insurance
The insurance covers employees and
their families. The general contribution
percentage amounts to 14.6 % of the
monthly gross salary up to EUR 4,837.50.
The contribution is borne in equal parts
by the employer and the employee.
Moreover, an additional contribution is
generally levied by the health insurance
institutions, which averages 1.3 % in 2021.
This contribution is also borne equally by
the parties. All employees with regular
annual salaries lower than EUR 64,350.00
must be enrolled in the compulsory
scheme.

Private health insurance

Employees whose wages exceed the
ceiling may opt out of the compulsory
scheme and choose private health insur-
ance. Privately insured persons receive a
contribution subsidy from their employer
in the amount of the contribution required
for the compulsory health insurance.

Long-term nursing care/disability
insurance

This scheme is compulsory. Contributions
are 3.05 % of the monthly gross salary up
to EUR 4,837.50, payable half by employer
and employee each. Additionally, since
January 1, 2005, employees without
children have to pay a supplement of 0.25
% of their contribution base. This does not
apply in particular to persons under 23
years of age, born before January 1, 1940
or currently drafted in military service. If
the employee has opted for private health
insurance, he/she must still enrol in the
compulsory long term insurance, but

the account will be administered by the
private carrier.



* Accident insurance
The insurance covers work-related
accidents and occupational diseases and
is financed entirely by employer contri-
butions. Insurance coverage extends to
occupational and commuting accidents as
well as work-related diseases. The contri-
butions are calculated at year-end based
on the actual wage base and occupational
risk categories.

Unemployment insurance

The compulsory unemployment insurance
scheme is financed by contributions of
2.4 % of the gross monthly salary up to
EUR 7,100.00 (EUR 6,700.00 in the former
Eastern states), payable half by employer
and employee each.

* Pension insurance
The statutory pension scheme calls for
contributions of 18.6 % of gross monthly
salary up to EUR 7,100.00 (EUR 6,700.00 in
the former Eastern states), payable half by
employer and employee each.

Employees coming from outside Germany
are normally subject to social security
contributions. Very often, however, a social
security agreement exists between Ger-
many and the employee's home country,
which allows the employee to remain in his/
her home scheme for a limited number of
years under certain conditions. Germany
has such agreements with many countries
including the People’s Republic of China. The
home country employer must file an appli-
cation for a certificate of coverage (form

Al in Europe) to request exemption from
German social taxes. Not all agreements
cover all areas of social coverage, however,
so it may not be possible to obtain com-
plete exemption. The agreement between
Germany and P.R. China covers pension
insurance and unemployment insurance.

3.2.3 Termination of employment

The Dismissal Protection Act, which is
intended to protect employees against
unjustified dismissals, applies to compa-
nies in which more than ten employees
are generally employed (for employees
hired before December 31, 2003, the
threshold of five employees still applies).
The notice periods vary according to

the length of service with the company.
Within the probation period of up to six
months, dismissal is possible with two
weeks' notice and for no specific reason.
Otherwise, the minimum notice period

is four weeks to the 15th or to the end of
a calendar month. This notice period is
extended to two months after five years of
employment and to seven months for con-
tracts of longer than 20 years' duration.
Certain groups of employees enjoy special
protection against dismissal. For example,
a works council member may only be
dismissed extraordinarily for good cause
and women may not be dismissed during
their pregnancy and within four months of
giving birth.

Employers must inform the Works Council
of planned dismissals. Trade unions
enforce these rules rigorously. In practice,
companies wishing to dismiss employees
are usually forced to make generous
redundancy agreements with the Works
Council or the individual. The common
severance pay starts at 50% of a monthly
gross salary for every year of job tenure,
but can be substantially higher.

The statutory notice periods may be mod-
ified, within limits, in collective bargaining
agreements. In addition, there is the
possibility to extend the period by indi-
vidual contract. However, the individual
contractual reduction of the notice period
is only possible within limits in certain
circumstances.
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3.2.4 Labour-management relations
Trade unions are organised according to
industry. Most come under the umbrella
of the German Trade Union Federation
(DGB). Some white collar workers form
their own professional organisations and
negotiate their salaries outside the tradi-
tional trade union structure.

Union officials and employers' associations
negotiate on a regional level. One region
drafts a pilot agreement, which is then
adopted nationwide, perhaps with minor
changes. There are separate contracts

for pay and other conditions (e.g. shifts
and vacations). Once agreed, collective
bargaining agreements traditionally apply
to an entire industry nationwide.

In Germany, it is possible to enforce
collective bargaining requirements by
strikes under certain conditions. Under
German law, strikes may not be called until
negotiations break down. Nevertheless,
the Federal Labour Court has upheld
"warning strikes" (work stoppages and
demonstrations) during negotiations and
the right of apprentices to join strikes and
work stoppages. The Social Security Law
blocks federal compensation for employ-
ees on short time or laid off because of

a strike. The same applies under specific
circumstances to employees who were
not involved in the strike. The legislation
provides for disputes in this regard to be
settled by a "neutrality committee".
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3.2.5 Employment of foreigners
3.2.5.1 General immigration regula-
tions

In general, the immigration authority
examines, where appropriate with the
involvement of the labour authority (One-
Stop Government), whether

* the activity of the foreign employee has
disadvantageous impacts on the local
labour market,

there are German or EU nationals avail-
able on the local labour market who can
fill the same position (so called “priority
check of the labour market”), and

* that the same conditions of employment
regarding compensation, working time
and vacation granted to comparable
German employees are also offered to
the foreign employees.

3.2.5.2 Entry visa requirements
EU-/EEA-nationals and citizens of privi-
leged countries, such as the USA, Canada,
Japan, Australia, New Zealand, Israel,

the Republic of (South) Korea, may enter
Germany without a visa. Nationals of other
countries must apply for an entry visa at
the German embassy or consulate in their
country of residence before travelling to
Germany to take up gainful employment.
The process can take up to 8 - 12 weeks
before the employee will be in a position
to travel to Germany and commence his/
her assignment. Entry visas permitting
work are generally valid for 90 days in
some cases up to 6 months. After arrival
this visa will have to be converted into a
short or long term residence permit.

3.2.5.3 Residence and work permits
for non EU-citizens

Non EU-citizens who wish to take up

a gainful employment in Germany are
required to be in possession of a resi-
dence and work permit allowing them
to work in Germany. Such a permit will

be issued in the form of an electronic
residence card. The issuing authority is
the local immigration office of the district/
city where the applicant will reside and not
the one of the district where the employer
is located.

Residence permits allowing a person to
work are generally issued for a particular
job with a specific employer at a deter-
mined location and a particular place of
work, not for employment in general. If the
job as such or the location changes, it may
be necessary to ask for an amendment of
the existing German residence permit if
the permit is still limited and attached to a
specific employment.

The Blue Card EU is a simplified temporary
work permit for highly educated skilled
employees. The requirements to be met in
order to have a Blue Card issued are a rec
ognised university degree and a proof of
a specific offer of a local German employ-
ment contract with an annual gross salary
threshold of at least EUR 56.800 (in 2021).
For occupations in which there is a
shortage (doctors, IT professionals,
mathematicians, engineers, etc.) accord-
ing to the Federal Ministry of Labour

the annual salary threshold amounts

to EUR 44.304 (in 2021). In those cases
the employees are exempted from the
time-consuming priority review. Certain
requirements can apply, e.g. contribution
to public pension fund and prove of inte-
gration efforts like integration course.

Blue Card holders can receive a perma-
nent residence permit (“Niederlassungser-
laubnis”) with level A1 after 33 months. If
German language skills according to level
B1 can be proven, this period is shortened
to 21 months.

In contrast to the above, EU nationals do
not require a residence or work permit for
Germany.



3.2.5.4 Intra-company transferees
Under certain circumstances, skilled
employees with a university degree work-
ing for a multi-national company can obtain
a residence and work permit if they are
seconded to an affiliated German company,
provided the assignment occurs within the
scope of an intra-company staff exchange
programme. However, the intra-company
staff exchange programme is only applica-
ble, if

* the company has established a global
staff exchange programme and is regis-
tered with the central labour authority,

* the German branch or subsidiary has in
the past seconded employees abroad,

* the applicant holds a university degree.

This procedure generally simplifies the
application proceedings and is less
time-consuming. As a further assignment
category, the ICT Card with similar require-
ments can be considered which does not
require an exchange of staff.

3.2.5.5 Dependents

The application for residence permits for
accompanying family members, if eligible,
can be made at the same time as the main
one, and a work permit is granted auto-

matically for the accompanying spouse.
Applications for accompanying dependents
could last longer, as the local immigration
office of the intended city of residence
could be involved in the process as well.

3.2.5.6 Registration with municipal
authorities

All individuals regardless of their national-
ity are required to register with the town
hall of their place of residence within 14
days after taking residence. The confirma-
tion of registration is a pre-requirement
for the residence permit application. The
registration will also trigger the issuance of
a Tax Identification Number (TID). This TID
must be indicated when filing the personal
income tax return with the German tax
authorities (for the taxation of individual,
see Chapter 3.5.3). The tax office will
assign a tax number when the tax return is
filed, thus no special registration with the
tax authorities is necessary. Since Novem-
ber 2015 not only a valid lease agreement
but also a landlord'’s confirmation is
required for the registration.

De-registration at the town hall is also
necessary upon departure.

Investing in Germany | A guide for Chinese businesses

Various services are offered by
Deloitte to support the process
of relocating employees. They
comprise, for example,
easy-to-handle solutions for the
employees to comply with
German individual income tax
regulations.

Dr. Michael Fischer
Deloitte Legal
mifischer@deloitte.de

ETTE CEE
Deloitte Legal
kheeke@deloitte.de
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Note that for most
companies in Germany it
is not compulsory for the
closing date to be on

31 December each

year. Even though most
companies do choose
this closing date, another
date can be agreed in the
articles of the company.
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3.3 Accounting and auditing

3.3.1 Obligation to prepare statutory
accounts and the respective exemp-
tions

Separate financial statements

The basic rules, codified in the Commercial
Code, affect all companies. However, the
requirements increase depending on the
company's limitation of liability, the size of
the company and whether the company's
shares are publicly traded.

According to the basic rules, all registered
merchants, which includes all corporations
and partnerships with business activities,
have to prepare annual financial state-
ments consisting of a balance sheet and
an income statement. An exemption to
this only applies to very small sole propri-
etorships. The financial statements have
to be prepared within a reasonable period
after the closing date. That is normally
assumed to be within one year after the
closing date.

The financial statements have to comply
with German Generally Accepted Account-
ing Principles (German GAAP), have to

be in the German language and in euro.
The merchant or all representatives of
the corporation is/are expected to sign
the financial statements to express their
responsibility for the preparation.

Additional rules apply to companies with
limited liability (such as AG, GmbH and
KGaA) but also for partnerships where the
liability is limited de facto, as the general
partner itself is a corporation with limited
liability; most common is the combination
of a KG and a GmbH, known as the

GmbH & Co. KG. For those companies
more strict rules based on EU directives
to harmonise company reporting and
accounting apply. The main additional
burden is that the financial statements
have to be accompanied by appropriate
notes and this documentation must repre-
sent a true and fair view of the net assets,
financial position and result of operations
of the company. Furthermore, a Manage-
ment Report must be prepared and the
financial statements and the management
report have to be prepared within three
months after the closing date. However,
subject to the size of the (limited liability)
company, certain relief is granted. In this
respect, four different sizes of company
are distinguished:

¢ Two out of the three criteria must be met
for assignment to a category.

* The consequences of meeting the criteria
of another category only apply if the cri-
teria (not necessarily the same) are met in
two years in a row

Category Balance sheet Revenues Employees
total (EUR) (EUR) (average

headcount)

Very small corporations <350,000.00 <700,00.00 <10

("Kleinstkapitalgesellschaften")

Small corporations <6,000,000.00 <12,000,000.00 <50

Medium-sized corporations <20,000,000.00 <40,000,000.00 <250

Large corporations >20,000,000.00 >40,000,000.00 > 250




* Very small corporations can avoid to
prepare notes to the financial state-
ments. Furthermore they are permitted
to abbreviate their balance sheet and
income statement. It is important to note
that holding companies cannot be qual-
ified as very small entities, even though
they often have very small amounts of
revenue and numbers of employees.

Small corporations are also allowed to
aggregate certain items in their balance
sheet and income statement. Small
corporations do not need to prepare a
management report and they usually
can take time to prepare their financial
statements within six months after the
closing date.

Furthermore, Small and Medium-sized
corporations are exempted from the
disclosure of certain information in the
notes to the financial statements, e.g.
they do not need to show a breakdown of
their revenues regarding business lines
or regions. For Small corporations more
such exemptions are in place than for
Medium-sized corporations.

Another important exemption regarding
the applicable rules for the financial
statements relate to the inclusion of a cor-

poration in certain consolidated financial
statements. According to this, a corpora-
tion with limited liability does not need to
follow the stricter rules that usually apply
to them if they are included in consolidated
financial statements that comply with Euro-
pean standards and have been audited
according to European standards. Apart
from that, certain other requirements have
to be met, e.g. that the parent company

of the group has agreed to guarantee the
liabilities of the subsidiary. Consolidated
financial statements according to PRC
GAAP generally do not meet the criteria for
applying for the exemption of subsidiaries
in Germany. However, if there is an inter-
mediate company in Germany or Europe
holding the shares of the German compa-
nies, the German companies might enjoy
the exemption mentioned if this holding
company prepares consolidated financial
statements for itself and its subsidiaries.

The separate accounts according to Ger-
man GAAP (statutory accounts) limit the
distribution of profits to the company's
shareholders. In addition they are the basis
for the accounts according to German tax
law and the relevant calculation of German
income taxes to be.
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Consolidated accounts

Corporations with limited liability and
their registered office in Germany have to
prepare consolidated financial statements
if they control at least one other company
(subsidiary). Similar rules apply if the
registered office is in another EU member
state. However, for German companies
there is an exemption for small groups:
consolidated financial statements have to
be prepared only if two of the following
thresholds are exceeded in two subse-
quent years - either in respect of summa-
rised accounts or consolidated accounts.

Furthermore, no consolidated financial
statements have to be prepared if the hold-
ing company is not the ultimate parent and
the companies are included in consolidated
financial statements on a higher level, that
meet specified criteria (exempting consoli-
dated financial statements). The exempting
consolidated financial statements must
comply with the EU-regulation, Internation-
al Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) or

a comparable GAAP, and must be audited
according to EU-standards or comparable;
they have to be disclosed in German or
English language. Note that the consolidat-
ed financial statements of a Chinese ulti-
mate parent company as well can fulfil the
requirements for exempting consolidated
financial statements for German or other
European parent companies.

Consolidated financial statements in Ger-
many comprise the consolidated balance
sheet, the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated cash flow statement,

the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the notes to the consolidated
financial statements; furthermore, a group
management report must be prepared.
Which accounting principles have to be
applied to the consolidated financial state-
ments depends on whether the parent
company is a listed company or not.

* |f the parent company is not a listed

company the consolidated accounts may
be prepared according to German GAAP.
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Category
(EUR)

Summarised accounts Consolidated accounts

(EUR)

Balance sheet total 24,000,000.00

20,000,000.00

Revenues 48,000,000.00

40,000,000.00

Employees 250

250

Alternatively, it is permitted to apply IFRS
to the consolidated financial statements.

If the parent company is a listed com-
pany, it is mandatory to apply IFRS to

the consolidated financial statements.

It must be noted that 'listed company'
means that either the shares are traded
on the stock market or debt instruments
are publicly listed in Europe, or that the
company is in the process of applying for
such listing.

Accordingly, especially unlisted compa-
nies are not obliged to and often do not
have consolidated financial statements
according to IFRS, but to German GAAP. If
accounting information according to IFRS
is needed, reconciliations are usually nec
essary. For significant deviations between
PRCGCGAAP, IFRS and German GAAP, see
Chapter 3.3.4.

The IFRS applicable to consolidated
financial statements are generally the
same as the IFRS that are published by the
International Accountings Standards Board
(IASB), but as new standards need to pass
an approval process by special bodies of
the EU, the effective dates of new stand-
ards might be postponed for application in
companies in the EU.

German companies which are not limited
liability companies and do not control other
companies only need to prepare consoli-
dated accounts if they are of a significant
size. The thresholds are 65 million euro for
total consolidated assets, 130 million euro
consolidated revenues and an average of
5,000 employees.



Investing in Germany | A guide for Chinese businesses

3.3.2 Requirements to publish finan-
cial information

Following the provisions of EU legislation,
there are comprehensive rules in place

in Germany regarding the publication of
financial and other information about
companies. The rules are aimed at atten-
uating the asymmetric allocation of infor-
mation between the Management and the
stakeholders in a company. By this means
itis intended to protect the individual
interests of the stakeholders and ensure
and enhance the overall function of the
capital markets. It is possible to distinguish
roughly between publication requirements
that refer to the statutory accounts of all
companies in general (statutory publica-
tion requirements) and requirements that
are only applicable to listed companies
(capital market publication requirements).
This brochure will only deal with the stat-

utory publication requirements as those
are mainly the ones deemed applicable
to Chinese Groups investing in German
private companies. Requirements to pub-
lish other information about the company
(e.g. the shareholders, General Managers
or members of the Supervisory Board) in
the commercial register are dealt with in
Chapters 3.1.1 and 3.1.2.

The core element of the statutory publi-
cation requirements is the publication of
the statutory financial statements on a
regular (i.e. yearly) basis by limited liability
corporations in the Federal Gazette (Bun-
desanzeiger). According to this require-
ment, generally all companies with limited
liability have to publish within 12 months
(for listed companies: 4 months) of the
end of the business year, in the electronic
Federal Gazette

their financial statements,
the management report,

the audit opinion of an independent
auditor,

the decision on the allocation of profits/
losses (in case the financial statements

only contain the proposal on the alloca-
tion of profits/losses),

in case a supervisory board exists: report
of the supervisory board

and, in the case of listed corporations, a
statement of compliance with the Ger-
man Corporate Governance Codex.
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Certain exemptions apply to small and
medium-sized companies. These exemp-
tions refer to disclosure and are more
comprehensive than the exemptions which
apply to the preparation of the financial

statements (see Chapter 3.3.1) and accord-
ingly need to be distinguished from those
exemptions. An overview of the publication
requirements and the respective exemp-
tions is presented in the following table:

Applicability to corporations depending on their size (for the definition of the size criteria, please refer to the table in Chapter 3.3.1)

Item to be published

Very small
corporations

Small corporations

Medium corporations

Large corporations

Balance sheet

Submission of an aggregated
balance sheet to the Federal
Gazette, but no publication

Balance sheet may be further
aggregated for publication

Balance sheet may be further
aggregated for publication

No exemption

Income statement

No submission or publication

No submission or publication
due to exemption

Income statement may be
further aggregated for pub-
lication

No exemption

Notes to the financial
statements

Not applicable

Aggregation corresponding to
balance sheet

Aggregation corresponding to
balance sheet and
income statement

No exemption

Management report

Not applicable

Not applicable

Aggregation corresponding to
balance sheet and
income statement

No exemption

Audit opinion of independent
external auditor

Not applicable

Not applicable

No exemption

No exemption

Report of the Supervisory
Board

No submission or publication
due to exemption

No publication due to exemp-
tion

If Supervisory Board exists:
no exemption

If Supervisory Board exists:
no exemption

Decision for the allocation of
profits (in case not included in
the notes)

If applicable: submission
to Federal Gazette but no
publication

If applicable: no exemption

If applicable: no exemption

If applicable: no exemption

Statement of compliance
with the German Corporate
Governance Codex

Not applicable (as listed
companies are treated as
large companies)

Not applicable (as listed com-
panies are treated as large
companies)

Not applicable (as listed com-
panies are treated as large
companies)

If listed company: no ex-
emption

The statutory publication requirements
mentioned generally apply to single-entity
financial statements according to German
GAAP. However, for publication purposes
only, it is possible to file single-entity finan-
cial statements according to IFRS. If a com-
pany chooses to publish separate financial
statements according to IFRS, it still has

to prepare statutory financial statements
according to German GAAP, as those are
the basis for taxation and distribution of
profits. The financial statements according
to German GAAP even have to be transmit-
ted to the Federal Gazette, but will not be
published.

a4

Corporations with limited liability that do
not have to follow the stricter accounting
rules for that kind of corporation since they
are included in exempting consolidated
financial statements (see Chapter 3.3.1

for the requirements), are also exempted
from the publication of their financial state-
ments. Those companies or, alternatively,
the parent company, have to publish:

* the shareholder's approval to make use
of the exemption rule

* the agreement of the parent company to
guarantee the liabilities of the subsidiary

the consolidated financial statements
and the consolidated management
report they are included in (in German or
English language),

the audit opinion of an independent
auditor to the consolidated financial
statements and the consolidated man-
agement report.

The legal representatives of a German
parent company which is required to
prepare consolidated financial statements
must fulfil the publication requirements
for the consolidated financial statements
analogously to large corporations.



Companies that do not have a limited liabil-
ity de jure but de facto since their general
partner is a limited liability company (e.g.
the legal form of a GmbH & Co. KG) are
basically treated like limited liability com-
panies regarding the publication require-
ments, with only minor variations.

The financial statements need to be trans-
mitted electronically to the Federal Gazette
(Bundesanzeiger). The financial statements
need to be submitted within 12 months of
the end of the relevant closing date. This
deadline is reduced to four months for
listed companies. In the case of non-com-
pliance with the publication requirements,
the company itself and its legal representa-
tives can be fined.

3.3.3 Audit of financial information
The shareholders of large and medi-
um-sized firms (see explanation of large
and medium-sized companies in Chapter
3.3.1) must elect an independent certified
accountant every year to audit the compa-
ny's financial statements and the relevant
management report. Consolidated
financial statements must be audited

by a certified accountant as well. The
Supervisory Board or the shareholders
must approve the financial statements
and can only do so if the financial state-
ments have been audited as stipulated.
The audit by an independent certified
accountant will be conducted according
to German Standards of Auditing, which
are based on the International Standards
on Auditing. In Germany, the auditors

will issue an opinion on the audit of the
financial statements that will be published
(see Chapter 3.3.2) and they will issue a
more detailed report on the audit to their
principal (i.e. the Supervisory Board or the
Management).

In addition to the audit of the financial
statements and the management report,
in the case of a listed AG it is required that
the auditor of the annual financial state-
ments also gives an opinion in the audit
report to the Supervisory Board as to
whether the Risk Early Warning System is
adequate. The Risk Early Warning System
must be implemented by the Management
of an AG and shall include suitable meas-
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ures, in particular surveillance measures,
to ensure that developments which
threaten the continued existence of the
company are detected at an early stage.
Itis understood in Germany that the Risk
Early Warning System is part of the risk
management system, as it comprises man-
agement's reactions to significant risks
and measures to supervise compliance
with rules that relate to risks. Even though
itis the prevailing view that it is the duty
of the management of an AG and - due

to legal spillover effects - a GmbH to
operate a risk management system that
also includes a system of internal controls,
the specific design of such a system is not
stipulated by law in Germany as it is by
rules such as SOX.

In addition to the certified accountant,

as an external auditor, the Supervisory
Board (mandatory for an AG and certain
GmbHSs) in order to fulfil its duties, has the
right to inspect and examine the books
and records of the company as well as

the assets of the company. Furthermore,
management is obliged to give certain
information on the course of business to
the Supervisory Board on a regular basis
and management must also inform the
Board of significant transactions promptly.
The Supervisory Board also can actively
ask the Management for information that
is relevant to the condition of the company
(for the information rights of investors see
Chapter 3.1.8).

Deloitte has vast experience with
statutory and voluntary audits of
financial statements, risk management
systems and systems of internal controls
according to several regulations. This
experience is on hand for all kinds of

industry sectors,

45



46

Deloitte can help to identify
accounting areas that need
adjustments or provide audit
services regarding accounting
information including
GAAP-reconciliations.

Dirk Hallmayr

Audit
dhaellmayr@deloitte.de

Robert Aumann
German Desk China (Audit)
roaumann@deloitte.com.cn

3.3.4 Accounting rules according to
German GAAP, IFRS and PRC-GAAP
(CAS)

As mentioned above (See Chapter 3.3.1),
non-listed companies are not obliged

to and often do not have (consolidated)
financial statements according to IFRS,
but to German GAAP. If accounting
information according to IFRS - or even
PRCGAAP - is needed, reconciliations are
usually necessary. To give an overview of
the substance of German GAAP and an
impression of major variances between
German GAAP, PRGCGAAP and IFRS, the
accounting rules for certain accounting
areas are compared in the following table.
The listing of accounting areas is certainly
not comprehensive, but tries to cover the
most relevant areas.
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Area

CAS - PRC GAAP

IFRS

HGB - German GAAP

Intangible assets
General treatment

Generally recognised as an asset if
recognition criteria (owned or con-
trolled by the enterprise, probability

of economic benefit flows and reliable
measurement of cost, CAS 6.3 & 6.4) are
fulfilled.

Expenditure on the development
phase of an internal research and
development project shall be recognised
as an intangible asset only when certain
conditions are satisfied (CAS 6.9).

Non-recognition of:

+ internally generated goodwill, brands
and publishing titles, etc. (CAS 6.11)

+ internal research cost (CAS 6.8)

Generally recognised as an asset if
recognition criteria (owned or con-
trolled by the enterprise, probability
of economic benefit flows and reliable
measurement of cost, IAS 38.13, IAS
38.21 & IAS 38.22) are fulfilled.

An intangible asset arising from
development shall be recognised if, and
only if certain conditions are satisfied
(IAS 38.57).

Non-recognition of:

+ internally generated goodwill
(IAS 38.48)

« internally generated brands,
mastheads, publishing titles, customer
lists and items similar in substance
(IAS 38.63)

+ internal research cost (IAS 38.54)

Recognised if general recognition criteria
for assets are fulfilled (see above) and
intangible asset is acquired from a third
party.

Capitalisation of internally generated
intangible assets (development costs)
optional (§ 248 Il HGB).

Non-recognition of:

internally generated goodwill

internally generated customer lists,
brands and publishing titles (8 248 1|
HGB)

.

research costs (8 25511 S. 4 HGB)

Intangible assets
Development cost

Recognised as an asset if the following
conditions are met (CAS 6.9):

technical feasibility of completion

intention of completion for sale or
internal use

demonstration of generating future
economic benefits flowing to the entity

availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources for
completion of development and ability
to use or sell

ability of reliable measurement of
expenditures during development
phase

Recognised as an asset if the following
conditions are met (IAS 38.57):

+ technical feasibility of completion

intention of completion for sale or
internal use

demonstration of generating future
economic benefits flowing to the entity

availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources for
completion of development and ability
to use or sell

ability of reliable measurement of
expenditures during development
phase

Expensed or option to capitalise
development costs (8 248 Il HGB,
definition in § 255 lla HGB) as a non-
current asset if the general recognition
criteria including all of the following
conditions are met:

+ high probability of generating an
individually marketable asset

+ development costs can be reliably
attributed.

Intangible assets
Subsequent
measurement

For intangible assets with a finite useful
life: amortisation over useful life using
a method which reflects the pattern

of the economic benefits flow - if not
determinable: straight- line (CAS 6.17).

For intangible assets with an indefinite
useful life: impairment-only approach
(CAS 6.19 & CAS 8.4).

Reversals of impairment losses in
subsequent periods are prohibited
(CAS 8.17).

Cost model or option of revaluation
model if the assets are traded on an
active market (IAS 38.72, IAS 38.75).

For intangible assets with a finite useful
life: amortisation over useful life using

a method which reflects the pattern

of the economic benefits flow - if not
determinable: straight-line (IAS 38.97).
For intangible assets with an indefinite
useful life: impairment only approach
(review annually) (IAS 38.107, IAS 38.108).

Impairment losses must be reversed in
subsequent periods if the reasons for
the recognition do not exist anymore
(exception: goodwill) (IAS 36.114).

For intangible assets with a finite useful
life: amortisation over useful life (usually
straight-line).

Intangible assets are deemed only in very
rare cases to have an indefinite useful life.
In those cases: impairment-only approach
for acquired assets and scheduled
amortisation over 10 years for internally
generated assets (devel-opment costs).

Impairment losses must be reversed in
subsequent periods if the reasons for
the recognition do not exist anymore
(exception: goodwill, § 253 V HGB).

47



Area

CAS - PRC GAAP

IFRS

HGB - German GAAP

Intangible assets
Acquired goodwill

Obligation to capitalise (CAS 20.13

for business combinations not under
common control) and impairment-only
approach for subsequent measurement
with an annual review (CAS 8.23 - 25).
The impairment of goodwill shall not be
reversed (CAS 8.17).

Negative goodwill recognised as income
in the current period after thorough
reassessment (CAS 20.13 for business
combinations).

Obligation to capitalise (IFRS 3.32)
and impairment-only approach for
subsequent measurement with an
annual review.

The impairment of goodwill shall not be
reversed (IAS 36.114.)

Negative goodwill recognised as income
in the current period after thor-ough
reassessment (IFRS 3.34.)

Obligation to capitalise and amortise over
useful life (8 246 1 S. 4 HGB); in case the
useful life cannot be calculated reliably:
amortisation over 10 years (8 25311S.3
HGB, S 4 HGB for goodwill)

If the recoverable amount of the goodwill
is expected to be permanently less

than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the goodwill must be reduced
to its recoverable amount and the
impairment loss must be recognised (8
253 111 S. 5 HGB), however, in contrast to
property, plant and equipment (see in the
following), no reversal possible (§ 253 5
S.2 HGB).

Negative goodwill must be recognised
on the liability side of the balance sheet
between equity and liabilities (8301 1S. 3
HGB) and may be released to the income
statement according to the general
principles (8§ 309 Il HGB)

Property, plant and
equipment
General definition

Property, plant and equipment are
tangible items that are held for use in
the production or supply of goods or
services, for rental to others, or for
administrative purposes and have useful
lives of more than one accounting year
(CAS 4.3).

Property, plant and equipment are
tangible items that are held for use

in the production or supply of goods
or services, for rental to others, or

for administrative purposes; and are
expected to be used during more than
one period (IAS 16.6).

Property, plant and equipment include
items which are intended to be used
on a continuous basis in the business
operations of the entity (8 247. Il HGB).

Property, plant and
equipment
Initial measurement

Measured at acquisition or production
costincluding incidental and subsequent
acquisition expenses which include:

the purchase price, related taxes, and
any directly attributable expenditures
for bringing the asset to working
condition for its intended use, such as
delivery and handling cost, installation
costs and professional fees

expected costs of dismantling and
abandoning the asset at the end of its
use (CAS 4.8 and 13) and

borrowing cost if certain criteria are
met (CAS 17 qualifying asset)

Measured at acquisition or production
costincluding incidental and subsequent
acquisition expenses which include (IAS
16.16):

+ its purchase price, including import
duties and non-refundable purchase
taxes, after deducting trade discounts
and rebates

any costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner
intended by management.

the initial estimate of costs of dis-
mantling and removing the item and
restoring the site on which it is located
and

borrowing cost if certain criteria are
met (IAS 23 qualifying asset).

Measured at acquisition or production
costincluding incidental and subsequent
acquisition expenses which include in line
with the general definition of 8 255

land I HGB:

+ material cost including overhead
+ manufacturing cost including overhead

+ depreciation of fixed assets used in the
manufacturing process

Cost which may be included optionally
comprise:

+ appropriate cost of general
administration

+ appropriate expenses for voluntary
social facilities as well as social and
pension benefits

+ §25511I HGB: interest for financing the
production (but not for the acquisition)
of the asset.

Costs of dismantling and removing

the asset at the end of its use are not
capitalised. Instead, a provision on the
liability side of the balance sheet must be
recognised for these costs and allocated
over the period of the intended use of the
asset.
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Area

CAS - PRC GAAP

IFRS

HGB - German GAAP

Property, plant and

Depreciation over useful life using a

Cost model or option of revaluation

Depreciation over useful life (8§ 253 11|

equipment method which reflects the pattern of the  model if the fair value of the asset can be  HGB); different depreciation methods are
Subsequent realisation of the economic benefits (CAS  measured reliably (IAS 16.29) allowed.
measurement 4.17). Depreciation over useful life using a
method which reflects the pattern of the
consumption of the economic benefits
(IAS 16.50, IAS 16.60).
If the recoverable amount of an asset If the recoverable amount of an asset If the recoverable amount of an asset is
is less than its carrying amount, the is less than its carrying amount, the expected to be permanently less than its
carrying amount of the asset shall be carrying amount of the asset shall be carrying amount, the carrying amount
reduced to its recoverable amount. That  reduced to its recoverable amount. That  of the asset must be reduced to its
reduction is an impairment loss (CAS 4.20 reduction is an impairment loss (IAS recoverable amount and the impairment
with reference to CAS 8). 36.59). loss must be recognised (8 253111 S. 5 HGB).
Reversals of impairment losses in Impairment losses must be reversed in Impairment losses must be reversed in
subsequent periods are prohibited (CAS ~ subsequent periods if the reasons for subsequent periods if the reasons for the
8.17). the recognition do not exist anymore recognition do not exist anymore (8 253V
(IAS 36.114). S 1HGB).
German accounting standards also accept
the usage of a fixed value for immaterial
items under certain circumstances
(8240 111 HGB).
Leasing A contractis/contains a lease if the A contractis/contains a lease if the German accounting law does not in-

Classification

contract conveys the right to control the
use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration (CAS
21.4). Key aspects of this definition are:

the right to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from use of the
identified asset.

the right to direct the use of the
identified asset (CAS 21.5).

The lease term shall be determined as
the non-cancellable period of a lease,
together with periods covered by an
option to extend (terminate) the lease if
the lessee is reasonably certain (not) to
exercise that option (CAS 21.15).

contract conveys the right to control the
use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration (IFRS
16.9). Key aspects of this definition are:

+ theright to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from use of the
identified asset.

+ theright to direct the use of the
identified asset. (IFRS 16.B9).

The lease term shall be determined as
the non-cancellable period of a lease,
together with periods covered by an
option to extend (terminate) the lease if
the lessee is reasonably certain (not) to
exercise that option. (IFRS 16.18).

clude any specific rules on leasing. The
accounting treatment is based on the
general rule that assets are included in

the balance sheet of the owner from an
economic point of view and not on the
basis of a legal title (8 246 | clause 2 HGB).
Accounting practice for the classifi-cation of
leases is based on German tax accounting
rules which differentiate between full
amortisation contracts (i.e. minimum lease
payments during the non-cancellation
contract period fully cover all costs of the
lessor) and partial amortisation contracts.

The lease is a finance lease for:

1) full amortisation contracts, if

for land, the buildings on the land meet
the criteria for finance leases

for property and buildings, the fixed
lease term is between 40 and 90 % of
useful life and the contract includes a
bargain purchase option or a bargain
renewal option

for property, plant, equipment and
buildings, the fixed lease term is below
40 % or exceeds 90 % of useful life

.

the leased assets are of such a
specialised nature that only the
lessee can use them without major
modifications

2) partial amortisation contracts, if

+ the contract parties agreed on a split
of the income for the sale of the leased
assets and the lessee receives more than
75 % of the income

the contractincludes a bargain purchase
option or a bargain renewal option.
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Area

CAS - PRC GAAP

IFRS

HGB - German GAAP

Lessee accounting

50

Alessee is required to recognise assets
and liabilities for all leases with a term
of more than 12 months, unless the
underlying asset is of low value. i.e.,

all leases are effectively equivalent to
finance leases: at the commencement
date, a lessee shall recognize a right-
of-use asset (ROU) at cost and a lease
liability at the present value of the lease
payments (CAS 21.14).

Exemptions (optional, CAS 21.30 and
CAS 21.31, lease payments are to be
expensed):

+ shortterm leases (lease term
not exceeding 12 months) at the
commencement date

+ lease of low-value assets ("low value" is
not specifically defined, however MOF
indicated a value, when new, of about
CNY 40,000 or less)

Initial measurement at the
commencement date:

+ the lease liability shall be measured
at the present value of the lease
payments not paid at that date over
the lease term, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease, if that
can be readily determined, otherwise
the lessee shall use its incremental
borrowing rate (CAS 21.17).

the ROU shall be measured at cost
comprising the initial measurement of
the lease liability, any lease payments
(net of lease incentives received) made
at or before the commencement

date, initial direct costs incurred by
the lessee and an estimate of costs to
be incurred in dismantling/removing
the site or the underlying asset to

the condition required by the lease
conditions (CAS 21.16).

There is only a single accounting model
for leases, i.e., all leases are effectively
equivalent to finance leases: at the
commencement date, a lessee shall
recognize a right-of-use asset (ROU) at
cost and a lease liability at the present
value of the lease payments (IFRS 16.22-
28).

Exemptions (optional, IFRS 16.5, lease
payments are to be expensed):

short term leases (lease term
not exceeding 12 months) at the
commencement date

lease of low-value assets ("low value"
is not specifically defined, however
IASB indicated a value, when new, of
about USD 5,000 or less)

Initial measurement at the
commencement date:

+ the lease liability shall be measured
at the present value of the lease
payments not paid at that date over
the lease term (see above), discounted
using the interest rate implicit in
the lease, if that can be readily
determined, otherwise the lessee shall
use its incremental borrowing rate
(IFRS 16.26).

the ROU shall be measured at cost
comprising the initial measurement of
the lease liability, any lease payments
(net of lease incentives received) made
at or before the commencement

date, initial direct costs incurred by
the lessee and an estimate of costs to
be incurred in dismantling/removing
the site or the underlying asset to

the condition required by the lease
conditions (IFRS 16.23, IFRS 16.24).

Finance Lease

Lessees record and depreciate leased
assets as well as lease liabilities at
purchase or production cost of the lessor
as mentioned in the calculation for the
lease contract negotiations.

The lease payments are apportioned
between finance charges posted to the
income statement and a reduction of the
outstanding liability.

Operating Lease:

Lessees recognise lease payments as an
expense over the lease term, usuallyon a
straight-line basis.
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Subsequent measurement:

ROU will be measured applying a
cost model, i.e. less any accumulated
depreciation (CAS 4 Fixed Assets)
and impairment losses (CAS 8
Impairment of Assets), adjusted for
remeasurement of the lease liability
(CAS 21.20).

After commencement date, the
carrying amount of the lease liability
shall be increased to reflect the
interest, reduced to reflect the lease
payments made and remeasured

to reflect reassessments/lease
modifications or revised in-substance
fixed lease payments (CAS 21.23, CAS
21.25, 26).

Presentation (CAS 21.53-55)
In the statements of financial position or
as a notes disclosure:

ROU shall be presented separately
from other assets in the balance sheet.

Lease liability separately from other
liabilities.

within the statement of profit of

loss, interest expenses on the lease
liability (within finance cost separately)
shall be presented separately from
depreciation of ROU.

Within the statements of cash flows
cash payments both for the principal
portion and the interest portion of the
lease liability within financing activities;
short-term lease payments, payments
for leases of low-value assets and
variable lease payments not included
in the measurement of the lease
liability within operating activities.

Subsequent measurement:

* In most cases, ROU will be measured
applying a cost model, i.e. less any
accumulated depreciation (IAS 16
Property, Plant and Equipment)
and impairment losses (IAS 36
Impairment of Assets), adjusted for
remeasurement of the lease liability
(IFRS 16.29-33).

After commencement date, the
carrying amount of the lease liability
shall be increased to reflect the
interest, reduced to reflect the lease
payments made and remeasured

to reflect reassessments/lease
modifications or revised in-substance
fixed lease payments (IFRS 16.36).

Presentation (IFRS 16.47-50)
In the statements of financial position or
as a notes disclosure:

ROU shall be presented separately
from other assets in the statement
of financial position or as a notes
disclosure (except ROU meeting the
definition of investment property,
which should be presented as such in
the statement of financial position)

Lease liability separately from other
liabilities.

within the statement of profit of loss
and other comprehensive income,
interest expenses on the lease liability
(within finance cost separately, IAS
1.82(b)) shall be presented separately
from depreciation of ROU.

Within the statements of cash flows
cash payments for the principal
portion of the lease liability within
financing activities, for the interest
portion applying the requirements
of IAS 7; short-term lease payments,
payments for leases of low-value
assets and variable lease payments
not included in the measurement of
the lease liability within operating
activities.
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Alessor must perform a lease
classification assessment as of the
inception date. A lease is classified as a
finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership; otherwise, it is classified as
an operating lease (CAS 21.35).

However, examples of situations that
individually or in combination would

indicate a finance lease include (CAS

21.36):

The lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset.

The lease grants an option to purchase
the underlying asset that the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise.

The lease term is for the major part
of the remaining economic life of the
underlying asset.

The present value of the lease
payments amounts to at least
substantially all of the fair value of the
underlying asset.

The underlying asset is of a specialized
nature and has no alternative use to
the lessor.

Finance Lease

Initial measurement (CAS 21.38)

At the commencement assets held under
a finance lease shall be recognized within
the statement of financial position and
presented as a receivable at an amount
equal to the netinvestment in the lease,
measured using the interest rate implicit
to the lease (if not artificially low).

Also at the commencement date

revenue being the fair value of the
underlying asset/lower present value
of the lease payments discounted at
market rate or interest

cost of sale: carrying amount of the
underlying asset less present value
of the unguaranteed residual value
plus costs incurred in connection
with obtaining a finance lease at the
commencement date (CAS 21.42)

selling profit/loss is recognised by a
manufacturer or dealer lessor.

Alessor must perform a lease
classification assessment as of the
inception date. A lease is classified as a
finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership; otherwise, it is classified as
an operating lease (IFRS 16.61).

However, examples of situations that
individually or in combination would

indicate a finance lease include (IFRS

16.63):

The lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset.

The lease grants an option to purchase
the underlying asset that the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise.

The lease term is for the major part
of the remaining economic life of the
underlying asset.

The present value of the lease
payments amounts to at least
substantially all of the fair value of the
underlying asset.

The underlying asset is of a specialized
nature and has no alternative use to
the lessor.

Finance Lease

Initial measurement (IFRS 16.67 - 69)

At the commencement assets held under
a finance lease shall be recognized within
the statement of financial position and
presented as a receivable at an amount
equal to the net investment in the lease,
measured using the interest rate implicit
to the lease (if not artificially low - IFRS
16:73).

Also at the commencement date

*+ revenue being the fair value of the
underlying asset/lower present value
of the lease payments discounted at
market rate or interest

cost of sale: cost or different carrying
amount of the underlying asset less
present value of the unguaranteed
residual value plus costs incurred in
connection with obtaining a finance
lease at the commencement date (IFRS
16.73)

selling profit/loss is recognised by a
manufacturer or dealer lessor.

Finance Lease:

Lessors recognise a lease receivable in
the amount of the purchase or production
cost of the lessor as mentioned in

the calculation for the lease contract
negotiations. Lease payments are
apportioned in an amortisation part as
areduction from the receivable and in a
finance income part.

Operating Lease:

Lessors present assets in their balance
sheet - see property, plant and
equipment above. Lease income is
recognised in income over the lease term,
usually on a straight-line basis
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Subsequent measurement
(CAS 21.39):

recognize finance income over the
lease term reflecting a constant
periodic rate of return on the lessor's
netinvestmentin the lease.

apply derecognition and impairment
requirements in CAS 22 Recognition
and Measurement of Financial
Instrument and CAS 23 Transfer of
Financial Assets.

Operating Lease
Measurement (CAS 21.45 - 48):

add initial direct cost incurred in
obtaining an operating lease to the
currying amount of the underlying
asset.

apply a depreciation policy for the
underlying assets consistent with the
normal depreciation policy for similar
assets and apply CAS 8 for impairment
measurement.

recognition of lease payments as
income on either a straight-line basis
or, if more representative, another
systematic basis.

related costs incl. depreciation as an
expense

Presentation: (CAS 21.56)

Presentation of the underlying asset in its
balance sheet according to the nature of
the underlying asset.

Subsequent measurement
(IFRS 16.75 - 78):

recognize finance income over the
lease term reflecting a constant
periodic rate of return on the lessor's
netinvestmentin the lease.

apply derecognition and impairment
requirements in IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments.

Operating Lease
Measurement (IFRS 16.81 - 86):

add initial direct cost incurred in
obtaining an operating lease to the
currying amount of the underlying
asset.

apply a depreciation policy for the
underlying assets consistent with the
normal depreciation policy for similar
assets (IAS 16, IAS 38) and apply IAS 36
for impairment measurement.

recognition of lease payments as
income on either a straight-line
basis or, if more representative,
another systematic basis, however
no recognition of a selling profit by
amanufacturer or dealer lessor on
entering into an operating lease.

related costs incl. depreciation as an
expense

Presentation: (IFRS 16.88)

Presentation of the underlying asset

in its statement of financial position
according to the nature of the underlying
asset.
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Financial assets/
financial instruments
General treatment
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A financial instrument is any contract
that gives rise to a financial asset of one
entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity (CAS 22.2).

Financial assets include cash, equity
instruments of another entity,
contractual rights to receive cash or
another financial asset from another
entity and contracts that will or may

be settled in the entity's own equity
instruments and is a non-derivative (CAS
22.3).

Initial recognition:

An entity shall recognise a financial
asset/liability in its balance sheet

when the entity becomes party of the
contractual provisions of the instrument
(CAS 22.9).

Initial Measurement

Except trade receivables (measured at
their transaction price in case they do not
have a significant financing component)
a financial asset or liability shall initially
be measured at fair value plus or minus,
in the case of a financial asset or financial
liability not at fair value through profit

or loss, transactions costs directly
attributable to the acquisition/issue of
the financial asset/liability (CAS 22.33).

Subsequent Measurement of financial
assets

Classification of a financial asset (CAS
22.16):

Classification of a financial asset is made
at the time of its initial recognition.

+ atamortised cost,

+ atfair value through other
comprehensive income (FVTOCI) or

« fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Amortised cost:

A debtinstrument is to be measured at
amortised cost (net of any write down
for impairment) unless it is designated
at FVTPL under the fair value option (see
below) if the following two conditions
apply:

Afinancial instrument is any contract
that gives rise to a financial asset of one
entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity.

Financial assets include cash, equity
instruments of another entity,
contractual rights to receive cash or
another financial asset from another
entity and contracts that will or may

be settled in the entity's own equity
instruments and is a non-derivative (IAS
32.11).

Initial recognition:

An entity shall recognise a financial
asset/liability in its statement of financial
position only when the entity becomes
party of the contractual provisions of the
instrument (IFRS 9, para 3.1.1).

Initial Measurement

Except trade receivables (measured

at their transaction price in case they

do not have a significant financing
component) a financial asset or liability
shall initially be measured at fair value
plus or minus, in the case of a financial
asset or financial liability not at fair value
through profit or loss, transactions costs
directly attributable to the acquisition/
issue of the financial asset/liability (IFRS
9, para 5.1.1).

Subsequent Measurement of financial
assets

Classification of a financial asset (IFRS 9
para4.1):

Classification of a financial asset is made
at the time of its initial recognition.

+ atamortised cost,

+ at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVTOCI) or

« fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Amortised cost:

A debtinstrument is to be measured at
amortised cost (net of any write down
forimpairment) unless it is designated
at FVTPL under the fair value option (see
below) if the following two conditions

apply:

No legal definition of financial
instruments. Financial instruments

are classified as fixed assets if they are
intended to be used on a continuous basis
in the business operations of the entity (8
247 Il HGB).

Financial assets are generally measured
at acquisition cost including incidental
and subsequent acquisition expenses.

If the recoverable amount of a financial
fixed asset is expected to be permanently
less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset must be
reduced to its recoverable amount and
the impair-ment loss must be recognised.
If the impairment loss of a financial fixed
asset is expected to be not per-manent
there is an option to recognise it (§ 253 Il
S.5and 6 HGB).

In case the recoverable amount of a
financial asset that doesn't qualify fixed
asset is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss has to be recognized,

i.e. not depending on whether the
impairment is permanent or not,
Impairment losses must be reversed in
subsequent periods if the reasons for the
recognition do not exist anymore (§ 253 V
S.1HGB).

Accounting for fair values above
acquisition cost is generally not allowed
(an exception applies only to certain
financial instruments held by banks or to
specific defined benefit plans).
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Business model test: the objective

of the entity's business model is to
hold the financial asset to collect the
contractual cash flows (rather than to
sellit prior to its contractual maturity)
and.

Cash flow characteristics test:

the contractual terms of the financial
asset give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding (CAS 22.17).

FVTOCI:

A debt instrument is to be measured at
FVTOCI unless itis designated at FVTPL
under the fair value option (see below) if
the following two conditions apply:

+ Business model test: the financial asset
is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets and

Cash flow characteristics test:

the contractual terms of the financial
asset give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding (CAS 22.18).

FVTPL:
All other debt instruments must be
measured at FVTPL (CAS 22.19).

Fair Value Option:

Even in case the amortised cost approach
or the FVTOCI approach (see above) can
be applied, CAS 22 contains an option

to designate - atinitial recognition - a
financial asset as measured at FVTPL. This
option enables the entity to eliminate or
significantly reduce a measurement or
recognition inconsistency ("accounting
mismatch") that would arise from
measuring assets or liabilities or recognise
gains and losses on them on different basis
(CAS 22.20).

Business model test: the objective

of the entity's business model is to
hold the financial asset to collect the
contractual cash flows (rather than to
sell it prior to its contractual maturity)
and

Cash flow characteristics test:

the contractual terms of the financial
asset give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

FVTOCI:

A debtinstrument is to be measured at
FVTOCI unlessitis designated at FVTPL
under the fair value option (see below) if
the following two conditions apply:

+ Business model test: the financial asset
is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets and

Cash flow characteristics test:

the contractual terms of the financial
asset give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

FVTPL:
All other debt instruments must be
measured at FVTPL.

Fair Value Option:

Even in case the amortised cost
approach or the FVTOCI approach

(see above) can be applied, IFRS 9
contains an option to designate - at
initial recognition - a financial asset as
measured at FVTPL. This option enables
the entity to eliminate or significantly
reduce a measurement or recognition
inconsistency ("accounting mismatch")
that would arise from measuring assets
or liabilities or recognise gains and
losses on them on different basis
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Inventories
Initial measurement

Measured at acquisition or production

costincluding incidental and subsequent

acquisition expenses and other costs.
According to CAS 1.5 - 10 production
costs include:

cost of purchase including related
taxes and transport, handling,
insurance

cost of conversion including direct
labor costs and allocation of
production overheads;

production overheads based on a
reasonable allocation according to the
nature of the overheads

other costs of inventories are other
expenditures incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location
and condition other than costs of
purchase and costs of conversion.

borrowing cost if certain criteria are
met (CAS 17 qualifying asset)

Measured at acquisition or production

costincluding incidental and subsequent

acquisition expenses. According to IAS
2.11 - 2.17 production costs include:

cost of purchase including related
taxes and transport, handling and
other direct attributable costs

cost of conversion including direct
labor costs and allocation of
production overheads

production overheads based on the
normal capacity of the production
facility

other costs of inventories are other
expenditures incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location
and condition other than costs of
purchase and costs of conversion.

borrowing cost if certain criteria are
met (IAS 23.1 qualifying asset)

Measured at acquisition or production
costincluding incidental and subsequent
acquisition expenses which include - in
line with the general definition of § 255 |
and Il HGB:

* material cost including overhead

+ manufacturing cost including over-head

depreciation of fixed assets used in the
manufacturing process

Costs which may be included optionally
comprise:

« appropriate cost of general
administration

+ appropriate expenses for voluntary
social facilities as well as social and
pension benefits

interest for financing the production
(but not for the acquisition!) of the
inventories (§ 255 | HGB)

Inventories
Valuation methods

Valuation methods to be used (CAS 1.14):

+ specific identification method
« firstin, first out

+ weighted average cost

The standard cost method and the retail
method are not explicitly mentioned

by the standard but are deemed to be
acceptable as well.

In principle the following methods are
allowed (IAS 2.25):

« firstin, first out

+ weighted average cost

The standard cost method and the retail
method are explicitly mentioned as
techniques for the measurement of cost
(IAS 2.217).

Costs for inventories that are not
ordinarily interchangeable and goods
or services produced and segregated
for specific projects shall be assigned at
their individual cost per item (IAS 2.23).

Generally individual cost per item (8

252 1 No. 3 HGB). To the extentitisin
accordance with principles of proper
accounting, the following other valuation
methods are allowed:

« firstin, first out (§ 256 HGB)
« lastin, first out (§ 256 HGB)

+ group valuation with weighted average
cost (8 240 IV HGB)

* raw materials and supplies: valuation
using a fixed value (8 240 Il HGB).
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Inventories The lower of cost or market principle The lower of cost or market principle The lower of cost or market principle
Subsequent must be applied. The applicable marketis must be applied. The applicable market must be applied. The market principle is
measurement the sales market (CAS 1.15). is the sales market (IAS 2.9). interpreted to cover both the purchase
and the sales market. Therefore, e.g.
the valuation of raw materials, work in
progress and merchandise requires a
comparison with the purchase market
(lower re-purchase/re-production cost)
and the valuation of merchandise and
finished goods requires a comparison
with the sales market.
Write-downs must be reversed in Write-downs must be reversed in Write-downs must be reversed in
subsequent periods if the reasons for the  subsequent periods if the reasons for subsequent periods if the reasons for the
write-downs do not exist anymore (CAS the write-downs do not exist anymore write-downs do not exist anymore (§ 253
1.19). (IAS 2.33). V'S. 1 HGB).
Revenue Core principle: an entity shall recognise Core principle: an entity shall recognise Core principle: Income from sale, rent

revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services, based on a five-step
model:

1. ldentify the contract with a customer

2. |dentify the performance obligations in
the contract

3.Determine the transaction price

4. Allocate the transaction price to the
contractual performance obligations

5.Recognise revenue when/as the entity
satisfies a performance obligation.

revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services, based on a five-
step model:

1. Identify the contract with a customer

2. ldentify the performance obligations
in the contract

3.Determine the transaction price

4. Allocate the transaction price to the
contractual performance obligations

5.Recognise revenue when/as the entity
satisfies a performance obligation.

and lease of products as well as from
rendering of services of the company
are to be shown as revenue net of sales
deductions, value added tax and other
sales-related direct taxes (§ 277 | HGB).
Income from rent and lease of other
items than products usually is treated
as rendering of services and, therefore,
revenue.

German accounting law does not refer to
the five-step model. Instead, the general
accounting rules for inventory, accounts
receivable, payments received and
revenue recognition apply.

In principle, it is not permitted to realise
revenues and profits before completion
of all major contractual duties and
customer acceptance. Deviations are
possible. Therefore, the completed
contract method is usually to be applied.
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-

. Identify the contract with the customer
A contract with a customer will be
within the scope of CAS 14 if all of the
following conditions are met (CAS
14.5):

the contract has been approved by the
parties to the contract,

each party's rights in relation to the
goods/services to be transferred can
be identified,

the payment terms for the goods
or services to be transferred can be
identified,

the contract has commercial substance
and

itis probable that the consideration

to which the entity is entitled to in
exchange for the goods/services will be
collected.

N

. Identify the performance obligations in
the contract
At contract inception, an entity shall
assess goods/services promised in
a contract with a customer and shall
identify as a performance obligation
each promise to transfer to the
customer (CAS 14.9):

a (bundle of) good(s) or service(s) that
is distinct or

a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same and
that have the same pattern or transfer
to the customer

1. Identify the contract with the
customer
A contract with a customer will be
within the scope of IFRS 15 if all of the
following conditions are met (IFRS
15.9);

the contract has been approved by the
parties to the contract,

each party's rights in relation to the
goods/services to be transferred can
be identified,

the payment terms for the goods
or services to be transferred can be
identified,

the contract has commercial
substance and

itis probable that the consideration
to which the entity is entitled to in
exchange for the goods/services will
be collected.

N

Identify the performance obligations
in the contract

At contract inception, an entity shall
assess goods/services promised in

a contract with a customer and shall
identify as a performance obligation
each promise to transfer to the
customer (IFRS 15.22):

a (bundle of) good(s) or service(s) that
is distinct or

a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same and
that have the same pattern or transfer
to the customer

This also applies to contracts for a
made-to-order production whose
production time exceeds one business
year (construction contract); among the
conditions that might enable a partial
realisation of revenue are all of the
following:

+ production period exceeds one
business year,

construction contracts represent a
substantial part of the company's
business,

profit realisation upon completion
significantly impairs the true and fair
view principle,

the expected profit can be determined
safely and no risks are evident that
could negatively influence this expected
profit,

for unforeseeable warranty and
rectification, carefully sized amounts
are taken into account,

.

the total performance of the construc-
tion contract allows for identification of
separate parts and only partial profit
realisation is carried out for these
parts,

no partial realisation of gains in case
the costs to produce separate parts
are significantly higher than calculated
in advance (except: future gains
adequately cover future costs) and

there are no indications of customer
objections which will have a negative
impact on the overall result.
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3. Determine the transaction price 3. Determine the transaction price
The transaction price is the amount to The transaction price is the amount to
which an entity expects to be entitled which an entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for the transfer of goods/ in exchange for the transfer of goods/
services excluding amounts collected services excluding amounts collected
on behalf of third parties, e.g. sales on behalf of third parties, e.g. sales
taxes (CAS 14.14). taxes (IFRS 15.47).

4. Allocate the transaction price to the 4. Allocate the transaction price to the
contractual performance obligations contractual performance obligations
Allocate the transaction price to Allocate the transaction price to each
each performance obligation in an performance obligation (or distinct
amount that depicts the amount of good/service) in an amount that
consideration to which the entity depicts the amount of consideration
expects to be entitled in exchange for to which the entity expects to be
transferring the promised goods or entitled in exchange for transferring
services to the customer (CAS 14.14, the promised goods or services to the
CAS 14.20) customer (IFRS 15.73)

5. Recognise revenue when/as the entity 5. Recognise revenue when/as the entity

satisfies a performance obligation

Revenue shall be recognised when/
as the entity satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring a promised
good/service to a customer. An asset
is transferred when/as the customer
obtains control of that asset - either
over time or at a point of time (CAS
14.9).

Performance obligations are satisfied
over time if one of the following criteria
is met (CAS 14.11):

the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by
the entity's performance as the entity
performs,

the entity's performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the asset is created or
enhanced or

the entity's performance does not
create an asset with an alternative

use (either contractually restricted or
limited practically, decision to be made
at contract inception) to the entity and
the entity has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed
to date.

satisfies a performance obligation

Revenue shall be recognised when/
as the entity satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring a promised
good/service to a customer. An asset
is transferred when/as the customer
obtains control of that asset - either
over time or at a point of time (IFRS
15.31).

Performance obligations are satisfied
over time if one of the following
criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided
by the entity's performance as the
entity performs,

the entity's performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the asset is created or
enhanced or

the entity's performance does not
create an asset with an alternative
use (either contractually restricted

or limited practically, decision to be
made at contract inception, see IFRS
15.36, IFRS 15.B6-B8) to the entity and
the entity has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed
to date (IFRS 15.37, IFRS 15.B9-B13).
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For each performance obligation satisfied
over time, an entity shall recognise
revenue over time by measuring the
progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation.

A single method of measuring progress
for each performance obligation satisfied
over time shall be applied consistently to
similar performance obligations and in
similar circumstances (CAS 14.12).

Appropriate methods of measuring
progress include output and input
methods (CAS 14.12):

+ output methods (e.g. surveys of
performance completed to date,
milestones reached, time elapsed)
recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value to
the customer of the goods/services
transferred to date relative to the
remaining goods/services promised
under the contract. The entity shall
consider whether the output selected
would faithfully depict the entity's
performance towards complete
satisfaction of the performance
obligation. Disadvantage: outputs
might not be directly observable
without undue cost.

+ input methods recognise revenue
on the basis of the entity's efforts
or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation (e.g. labour
hours expended, costs incurred).

At the end of each reporting period,
an entity shall remeasure its progress
towards complete satisfaction. As
circumstances change over time, an
entity shall update its measure of
progress to reflect any changes in the
outcome (IG CAS 14).

For each performance obligation
satisfied over time, an entity shall
recognise revenue over time by
measuring the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation (IFRS 15.39).

Asingle method of measuring progress
for each performance obligation
satisfied over time shall be applied
consistently to similar performance
obligations and in similar circumstances.
At the end of each reporting period,

an entity shall remeasure its progress
towards complete satisfaction (IFRS
15.40).

Appropriate methods of measuring
progress include output and input
methods (IFRS 15.41 with reference to
IFRS 15.B14-B19):

+ output methods (e.g. surveys of
performance completed to date,
milestones reached, time elapsed)
recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value to
the customer of the goods/services
transferred to date relative to the
remaining goods/services promised
under the contract. The entity shall
consider whether the output selected
would faithfully depict the entity's
performance towards complete
satisfaction of the performance
obligation. Disadvantage: outputs
might not be directly observable
without undue cost.

+ input methods recognise revenue
on the basis of the entity's efforts
or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation (e.g. labour
hours expended, costs incurred).

As circumstances change over time,
an entity shall update its measure of
progress to reflect any changes in the
outcome.
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CAS - PRC GAAP

IFRS HGB - German GAAP

Contract Costs

The incremental costs of obtaining

a contract must be recognised as an
asset if the entity expects to recover
those costs. In case the costs incurred

in fulfilling a contract are not within the
scope of another contract, are recognised
as an asset if all of the following
conditions are met (CAS 14.26):

relate directly to a contract,

generate/enhance resources of the
entity that will be used in satisfying
performance obligations in the future
and

the costs are expected to be recovered.

Costs relating to satisfied performance
obligations as well as costs of wasted
materials, labour or other resources to
fulfil the contract but were not reflected
in the contract shall be recognised as
expenses when occurred (CAS 14.27)

Contract Costs

The incremental costs of obtaining a
contract must be recognised as an asset
if the entity expects to recover those
costs (IFRS 15.91). In case the costs
incurred in fulfilling a contract are not
within the scope of another contract
(e.g. IAS 2 Inventories, IAS 16 Property,
Plant and Equipment, IAS 38 Intangible
Assets), are recognised as an asset if all
of the following conditions are met (IFRS
15.95):

+ relate directly to a contract,

+ generate/enhance resources of the
entity that will be used in satisfying
performance obligations in the future
and

+ the costs are expected to be
recovered.

Costs relating to satisfied performance
obligations as well as costs of wasted
materials, labour or other resources to
fulfil the contract but were not reflected
in the contract shall be recognised as
expenses when occurred (IFRS 15.98).
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Provisions and accrued
liabilities
Recognition

According to CAS 13.4 the recognition of a
provision requires:

+ apresentobligation (legal or con-
structive) as a result of a past event,

probability of an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits to settle
the obligation, and

areliable estimate of the amount of the
obligation.

If these conditions are not met,
provisions are not allowed to be
recognised. Deferred maintenance and
land reclamation expenses (which have
to be provided for under German GAAP)
are not allowed to be recognised under
CAS if there is no legal or constructive
obligation to carry out the measures.

According to IAS 37.14 the recognition of
a provision requires:

+ apresentobligation (legal or
constructive) as a result of a past
event,

probability of an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits to settle
the obligation, and

areliable estimate of the amount of
the obligation.

If these conditions are not met, pro-
visions are not allowed to be recog-
nised. Deferred maintenance and land
reclamation expenses (which have to
be provided for under German GAAP)
are not allowed to be recognised under
IFRS if there is no legal or constructive
obligation to carry out the measures.

Under German GAAP the recognition of a
provision generally requires

+ apresentobligation (legal or
constructive) against a third party

« the entity is economically burdened by
the obligation

« the amount can be estimated (at least
arange)

Furthermore, § 249 | HGB precises that
provisions and accrued liabilities have to
be recognised for the following business
matters:

+ contingent liabilities

anticipated losses on pending onerous
contracts

deferred maintenance expenses for
maintenance not carried out in the
current business year, which will

be carried out within the first three
months of the following business year

deferred expenses for disposal omitted
in the current business, which are made
up in the following business year

warranties given with no legal
obligation.

The provision for deferred main-tenance
and disposal omitted is in addition to the
provisions required by general principles,
whereas the other provisions are in line
with the general principles and merely
describe categories of provisions.

Provisions and accrued
liabilities
Measurement
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Provisions are recognised at the best
estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation (CAS 13.5).

CAS 13 and IG CAS 13 include detailed
guidance on setting up provisions under
different circumstances. The guidance
is less detailed but similar to IAS 37.
Therefore the following details are
limited to areas with major differences
between the accounting standards.

Where the provision being measured
involves a large population of items with
a continuous range of possible outcomes,
and each pointin that range is as likely as
any other, the mid-point of the range is
used (CAS 13.5).

Provisions are recognised at the best
estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation (IAS 37.36).

IAS 37 includes very detailed guidance
on setting up provisions under different
circumstances (e.g. use of expected
values or best estimates, costs to include
for setting up provisions for onerous
contracts). The following details only
deal with guidance for which major
differences to German and PRC GAAP
have been identified.

Where the provision being measured
involves a large population of items
with a continuous range of possible
outcomes, and each point in that range
is as likely as any other, the mid-point of
the range is used (IAS 37.39).

Provisions are recognised at the amount
of the fulfilment necessary based on
prudent business judgment (8§ 2531S. 2
HGB).

German accounting law includes far less
details on the valuation of provisions than
IAS 37 and CAS 13.

Where the provision being measured
involves a large population of items with
a continuous range of possible outcomes,
and each pointin that range is as likely

as any other, German GAAP financial
statement preparers would recognise a
provision which is definitely larger than
the mid-point of the range, in many cases
even the largest amount of the range. This
is due to the prevailing prudence principle
in German GAAP.
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Provisions are recognised at the present
value of the expected expenditures
required to settle the obligation if the
effect is material. The discount rate to be
used is market-based (CAS 13.6).

Provisions are recognised at the present
value of the expected expenditures
required to settle the obligation if the
effect is material. The discount rate to be
used is market-based (IAS 37.45 to 47).

This example shows that in situations with
arange of outcomes there is a tendency
to select a provision with a larger amount
as opposed to the best estimate resp. ex-
pected value in IFRS resp. CAS.

Provisions with a term of more than one
year are to be discounted at the average
market interest rate of the previous
seven fiscal years (ten years in case of
provisions for post-employment benefits)
corresponding to their residual term (8
253 Il HGB). The discount rates to be used
are published monthly by the German
Federal Bank (Deutsche Bundesbank) in
accordance with a statutory regulation
(RueckAbzinsV).

Provisions and accrued
liabilities
Restructuring

Arestructuring provision must be
recognised if the enterprise has a
detailed and formal plan identifying the
main features with respect to locations,
employees, timing and expenditures and
a public announcement of the plan has
been made (CAS 13.10).

Arestructuring provision must be
recognised if the entity has a detailed
formal restructuring plan identifying the
main features with respect to locations,
employees, timing and expenditures
and if it has raised a valid expectation

in those affected that it will carry

out the restructuring by starting to
implement that plan or announcing its
main features to those affected by it (IAS
37.72).

The German accounting law does

not include any detailed guidance on
restructuring provision. Accounting
literature has interpreted the accounting
law in a way that a provision must be
recognised if the entity's management
has decided on a detailed restructuring
plan or such decision is inevitable and if
such plan was announced to the workers'
council before the balance sheet date

or between the balance sheet date and
the date of preparation of the financial
statements.

Provisions and accrued
liabilities

Employee post-employ-
ment benefits

CAS 9 differentiates between defined
benefit plans and defined contribution
plans.

Under defined contribution plans the
entity's legal or constructive obligation
is limited to the amount that it agrees

to contribute to the fund. Thus, the
amount of the post-employment benefits
received by the employee is determined
by the amount of contributions paid

by an entity (and perhaps also the
employee) to a post-employment
benefit plan or to an insurance company,
together with investment returns arising
from the contributions; all risks of the
plan performance fall on the employee.

The contributions to the plan are
expenses of the current period.

Except for provisions for under- or
overpayments of contributions there are
no balance sheet items for these plans.

IAS 19 differentiates between defined
benefit plans and defined contribution
plans.

Under defined contribution plans the
entity's legal or constructive obligation
is limited to the amount that it agrees to
contribute to the fund. Thus, the amount
of the post-employment benefits
received by the employee is determined
by the amount of contributions paid

by an entity (and perhaps also the
employee) to a post-employment
benefit plan or to an insurance company,
together with investment returns arising
from the contributions; all risks of the
plan performance fall on the employee
(IAS 19.28).

The contributions to the plan are ex-
penses of the current period unless
another IFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the contribution in the
cost of an asset (IAS 19.51). Except for

provisions for under- or overpayments of

contributions there are no balance sheet
items for these plans.

Contributions to defined contribution
plans are expenses of the current period.
Except for provisions for under- or
overpayments of contributions there are
no balance sheet items for these plans.
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For defined benefit plans, a liability (or
asset) must be recognised equal to the
net of the present value of the defined
benefit obligation and the fair value of
the plan assets. Further details about the
measurement of the liability (or asset) are
included in CAS 9.13.

The following measurement principles
are applied:

use of projected unit credit method
(CAS9.13)

discount rate based on market yield
(CAS 9.15)

actuarial gains and losses as well as
changes in fair value of plan assets
arising from factors other than time
value are recognised immediately in
other comprehensive income (CAS
9.16)

For defined benefit plans, a liability (or
asset) must be recognised equal to the
net of the present value of the defined
benefit obligation and the fair value of
the plan assets. Further details about the
measurement of the liability (or asset)
areincluded in IAS 19.57ff.

The following measurement principles
are applied:

+ use of projected unit credit method
(IAS 19.67)

discount rate based on market yield
(IAS 19.83ff.)

actuarial gains and losses as well as
changes in fair value of plan assets
arising from factors other than time
value are recognised immediately in
other comprehensive income (IAS
19.120)

A provision for post-employment
benefits of defined benefit plans must be
recognised based on the present value of
the defined benefit obligation minus the
fair value of plan assets. Actuarial gains
and losses have to be recognised in the
income statement of the period incurred.

The valuation method is not defined by
law. Therefore both, the projected unit
credit method as well as the entry age
method (common method in German tax
accounting), are acceptable.

The discount rate is determined as
described above as an average interest
rate of the last ten fiscal years. For
defined benefit liabilities 8 253 11 S.

2 HGB allows the use of an assumed
residual term of 15 years for all individual
obligations. The discount rates to be used
are published monthly by the German
Federal Bank (Deutsche Bundesbank) as
well.

Liabilities
Measurement

Initial measurement of liabilities is at fair
value which usually equals acquisition
cost plus transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition if
the financial liability is not at fair value
through profit or loss (CAS 22.33).

Subsequent measurement is at
amortised cost using the effective
interest method (CAS 22.36).

Foreign currency liabilities are translated
using the spot rate at the balance sheet
date (CAS 19.11 (1)).

Initial measurement of liabilities is at fair
value which usually equals acquisition
cost plus transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition if
the financial liability is not at fair value
through profit or loss (IAS 39.43).

Subsequent measurement is at amor-
tised cost using the effective interest
method (IAS 39.47).

Foreign currency liabilities are trans-
lated using the closing rate at the bal-
ance sheet date (IAS 21.23 (a)).

Liabilities are recognised at the amount of
the fulfilment (8§ 253 1 S. 2 HGB). Premiums
or discounts for financial liabilities are
usually recognised as prepaid expenses
and released using the straight line
method.

Foreign currency liabilities are generally
translated at the average closing spot
rate provided that this does not lead to
avalue below acquisition cost. Liabilities
with a remaining term of up to one year
are translated at the average closing spot
rate without the floor with respect to the
acquisition cost (8§ 256a HGB).
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Deferred taxes

The recognition of deferred taxes is
based on the temporary concept.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised for all temporary differences
between the assets and liabilities in the
CAS balance sheet and their tax base
with the following three exceptions (CAS
18.11 & 13):

initial recognition of goodwill

initial recognition of an asset/liability
other than in a business combination
which, at the time of the transaction,
does not affect either the accounting or
taxable profit

differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, branches and associates
and interests in joint ventures where
the entity is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the difference and it
is probable that the reversal will not
occur in the foreseeable future.

A deferred tax asset is also recognised
for unused tax losses and unused tax
credits, to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available
against which the deductions can be
utilised (CAS 18.15). The limitation

with respect to the probability of
taxable profits also applies to deferred
tax assets for deductible temporary
differences (CAS 18.13). However, when
there is a history of recent losses, a
deferred tax asset from unused tax
losses is only to be calculated in case of
existing taxable deferred differences
or in case of convincing evidence that
sufficient taxable profit will be available
(Explanation Guidance issued by
MOFCOM (Version 2010)).

Measurement of deferred taxes is at tax
rates expected at period end to apply
when the liability is settled or the asset is
realised (CAS 18.17).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted (CAS 18.19) and are presented
as non-current items in the statement of
financial position (CAS 18.23). According
to additional Explanation Guidance
issued by MOFCOM (Version 2010)
netting is required if the entity has a
legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities
and if the assets and liabilities relate

to taxes levied by the same taxation
authority.

The recognition of deferred taxes is
based on the temporary concept.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised for all temporary differences
between the assets and liabilities in the
IFRS balance sheet and their tax base
with the following three exceptions (IAS
12.15 & 24):

« initial recognition of goodwill

+ initial recognition of an asset/liability
other than in a business combination
which, at the time of the transaction,
affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit

differences arising from investments
in subsidiaries, branches and
associates and interest in joint
ventures where the entity is able to
control the timing of the reversal

of the difference and it is probable
that the reversal will not occur in the
foreseeable future (IAS 12.39).

A deferred tax asset is also recognised
for unused tax losses and unused tax
credits, to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available
against which the deductions can be
utilised (IAS 12.34). The limitation with
respect to the probability of taxable
profits also applies to deferred tax
assets for deductible temporary
differences (IAS 12.24). However, when
there is a history of recent losses, a
deferred tax asset from unused tax
losses is only to be calculated in case of
existing taxable deferred differences
or in case of convincing evidence that
sufficient taxable profit will be available
(IAS 12.35).

Measurement of deferred taxes is at
enacted or substantially enacted tax
rates at period end expected to apply
when the liability is settled or the asset is
realised (IAS 12.46).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted (IAS 12.53) and are presented
as non-current items in the statement

of financial position. Netting is required
if the entity has a legally enforceable
right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and if the assets
and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the
same taxation authority (IAS 12.74).

The recognition of deferred taxes is based
on the temporary concept.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised for all taxable temporary
differences between the assets/ liabilities
in the German GAAP balance sheet and
their tax base (8 274 1S. 1 HGB). The
exceptions mentioned in IAS 12 and CAS
18 are not specifically mentioned in the
accounting law but are also considered
applicable for German GAAP.

In case the total amount of deferred

tax assets exceeds the total amount of
deferred tax liabilities, German GAAP
grant an option to account for the
exceeding amount of deferred tax assets
(8274 1S. 2 HGB).

Tax loss carryforwards must be taken

into account when calculating deferred
tax assets in the amount of the loss
offsetting expected within the next five
years (8 2741 S. 4 HGB). The IAS/CAS-
limitation of recognition to the extent that
itis probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the deductions
can be utilised also applies to German
GAAP financial statements.

Measurement of deferred taxes is at

tax rates which are expected to apply
when the liability is settled or the asset is
realised (8 274 Il clause 1 HGB).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted (§ 274 11 S. 1 HGB).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
presented under a separate line item.
Netting of deferred tax assets and

liabilities is optional (§ 274 1 S. 3 HGB).

65






A timely and proper
implementation of an Internal
Control System that complies
with Chinese and German
standards is often crucial

for the Chinese investor in

a successful post-merger-
integration of the newly
acquired German subsidiary.

Markus Link
Business Assurance
mlink@deloitte.de

3.4 Corporate Governance and risk
management

When investing in German companies, it is
important to consider the varied and com-
plex corporate governance requirements
that arise throughout the process; both
pre-M&A in the context of due diligence
and post-M&A when integrating the Ger-
man company into the buying group.

Corporate Governance Systems: The
Board of Directors or Management of Ger-
man companies is responsible for setting
up appropriate and effective corporate
governance systems, whilst the Supervi-
sory Board is responsible for monitoring
them. The most important corporate gov-
ernance systems include the Compliance
Management System (CMS), the Risk Man-
agement System (RMS), the Internal Control
System (ICS) and the Internal Audit (IA).
Since the 2009 Accounting Law Modernisa-
tion Act (also section 107 (3) of the German
Stock Corporation Act), the legislator has
explicitly included this obligation which had
not previously been mentioned in statute.
The implication of this obligation extends
beyond listed companies, and therefore
must be reviewed in the context of the

individual requirements of each company.
Further legislative projects underway in
Germany, such as the Act to Strengthen
Financial Market Integrity (FISG), propose
to extend the obligation with regard to
the establishment of effective governance
systems, in particular with regard to the
internal control system and the risk man-
agement system.

Audit of the corporate governance
systems: In setting up the appropriate
design and effective implementation of
CMS, RMS, ICS and IA, it is recommended
to follow the auditing standards of the Insti-
tute of Public Auditors in Germany (IDW)
PS 980 (CMS), IDW PS 981 (RMS), IDW PS
982 (ICS) and IDW PS 983 (IA). In practice,
these standards serve as the basis for
auditing the adequacy and effectiveness of
corporate governance systems, and their
consideration in the design and implemen-
tation phase is therefore generally consid-
ered a "safe harbour" approach. Violations
of the establishment of adequate and
effective corporate governance systems
are regarded as breaches of the duty of
care and responsibility of the members of
the Board of Directors pursuant to section
93 of the German Stock Corporation Act
(AktG), with an impact on management
boards of other legal entities.

Compliance management: In the context
of CMS, the Association Sanctions Act (Ver-
SanG) must be observed in future under
German law (currently still in draft form).
According to the VerSanG-E, associations
whose purpose is directed towards eco-
nomic business operations can be sanc
tioned (8 1 VerSanG-E). This means that in
particular legal persons under private and
public law as well as partnerships with legal
capacity that operate as entrepreneurs are
covered by the scope of application, i.e. all
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common forms of enterprises regardless of
their size. On the one hand, the VerSanG-E
provides for severe penalties against the
company itself if criminal offences are com-
mitted from within the company. On the
other hand, for the first time, the law offers
the prospect of reduced penalties if pre-
cautions are taken to prevent misconduct
or at least to make it considerably more
difficult. The VerSanG-E thus creates a sig-
nificant incentive to implement appropriate
and effective compliance measures.

Risk Management: As an important
component of the RMS, German legislation
places explicit requirements on the design
of early risk detection systems (RFS).

For public limited companies, section 91
paragraph 2 AktG (KonTraG) provides the
legal basis, and for other legal forms (espe-
cially limited liability companies) section

1 paragraph 1 Company Stabilisation and
Restructuring Act (StaRUG).

Internal Controls: Depending on its size
and significance for the Chinese parent
company, the German company falls within
the scope of the Chinese regulations on
internal controls with regard to financial
reporting (GSOX). Therefore, a proper and
risk-oriented integration of the German
company into the overall picture of the
group ICS, taking into account the more
company-specific aspects, is an important
issue. However, the reporting obligations
for the German companies with regard to
the annual financial statements should also
be taken into account. In order to prepare
financial statements that comply with

the German Commercial Code (HGB), an
internal control system that is reasonably
tailored to the size of the company and
functions properly is necessary.
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With regard to the tax
consequences of foreign
investments in Germany,
Deloitte's potential support is
comprehensive and covers
among other things: tax
analysis and planning, tax Due
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compliance on all types of taxes.
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Business Tax Advisory
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3.5 Taxation

3.5.1 Overview of German taxation

A key point to consider - particularly in
comparison to China - is that German tax
law is very formalistic and penalties apply
upon non-compliance. Itis crucial for
investors to assess in detail their (tax) legal
obligations from the beginning of an invest-
ment. Otherwise, unnecessary adminis-
trative expenses, tax cost or penalties may
occur later on, usually during tax audits.

There is a complex system of various taxes
in Germany, where the applicability on the
one hand depends on the person liable to
pay the tax and one the other hand on type
of income received.

Generally, the following distinction can be
made as regards different types of income
potentially leading to various types of taxes:

* Taxes onincome
* Taxes on capital
* Taxes on transactions or consumption

Corporations with a registered office or
place of management in Germany are
subject to Corporate Income Tax (CIT)

and Trade Tax (TT) on their worldwide
income. In practice, however, Agreements
on the avoidance of Double Taxation (DTA)
generally provide for an allocation of taxing
rights to the different countries where the
company is doing business. Such a DTA

is in place between China and Germany
(regarding the DTA between P.R. China and
Germany, see Chapter 3.5.4.1).

Foreign companies that have neither their
registered office nor their place of man-
agement in Germany are deemed to be
non-resident. Non-resident companies are
subject to German corporate income tax
only on German-sourced income.

As Germany is one of the 27 EU Member
States (post BREXIT), there are several EU
legal principles such as the free movement
of capital, which are in general applicable

in Germany. The tax policy in the European
Union (EU) can be classified into two main
categories: direct taxation, which remains
the sole responsibility of the Member
States; and indirect taxation, which affects
the free movement of goods and the
freedom to provide services within the EU.
The measures undertaken by the Member
States with regard to direct taxation
consist mainly of the coordination of their
policies in order to prevent tax avoidance
and double taxation as well as to provide
Member States with a fair tax framework
within (however there are efforts to come
up with a Common Consolidated Corporate
Tax Base (CCCTB) - however so far unsuc
cessful). From an indirect tax perspective,
Value Added Tax (VAT) has been harmo-
nised as common VAT rules have been
implemented. Furthermore, similarly to the
OECD, the EU has its own initiatives of fight-
ing tax evasion which lead to some changes
in direct taxation within the EU.

Summarising the above, EU tax policy ben-
efits European residents, with its intention
to ensure an internal European market and
to guarantee that competition between
Member States is not distorted by differ-
ences in tax rates and systems. Measures
have also been implemented to prevent
the adverse effect of tax competition if
companies transfer taxable bases between
EU Member States.

The main taxes applicable to tax resident
companies in Germany are Corporate
Income Tax (CIT), municipal Trade Tax (TT)
and Value Added Tax (VAT). Other taxes
include municipal real estate tax, real
estate transfer tax, and customs and excise
duties.

For individuals, the main tax is Personal
Income Tax. Social Insurance contributions
apply to individuals as well. Furthermore,
municipal real estate transfer tax and trade
tax might also apply in specific circum-
stances.



3.5.2 Taxation of companies

3.5.2.1 Corporate income tax

3.5.2.1.1 Taxable income for corporate
income tax purposes

Companies which are tax resident in Ger-
many are subject to tax on their worldwide
income. All income qualifies as business
income and is subject to both Corporate
Income Tax (CIT) and Trade Tax (TT). Taxable
income is determined in accordance with
the relevant regulations of the Income Tax
Act (ITA), that are broadly based on the stat-
utory accounts according to German Gen-
erally Accepted Accounting Principles, but
supplemented by special regulations in the
Corporate Income Tax Act (CIT) and Trade
Tax Act (TT) (for bookkeeping requirements,
see Chapter 3.3.1 and Chapter 3.5.6.1).

Under current rules, dividends received by
a resident company are generally exempt
from corporate income tax. However, since
March 2013 the exemption is not applicable
if the participation in the subsidiary at the
beginning of the year is less than 10%. If the
exemption is applicable, 5% of the gross
dividend is added back to taxable income as
imputed non-deductible business expenses,
resulting in an effective tax rate of approxi-
mately 1.5% (including Trade Tax). The 95%
exemption for dividends does not apply to
certain banks, financial institutions, shares
held by finance companies for the purpose
of realising a short-term profit from trading

activities (“held for trading exception”), life
or health insurance companies or pension
funds. Since the end of 2006, the exemption
applies only if the dividend has not been
treated as a deductible business expense
at the level of the distributing company. The
95% exemption generally will apply for Trade
Tax (TT) purposes only if certain minimum
holding and minimum ownership require-
ments are met. In addition, certain activity
requirements apply to shareholdings in
companies that are resident outside the EU.

Asimilar rule applies to capital gains on the
sale of corporate shareholdings. Capital
gains arising from the sale of shares by a
corporation should be 100% tax exempt
with a 5% add-back as non-deductible busi-
ness expenses. A minimum shareholding
requirement does not exist for the sale of
shares. Exceptions apply to certain banks,
financial institutions, shares held by finance
companies for the purpose of realising a
short-term profit from trading activities
("held for trading exception”), life or health
insurance companies or pension funds that
do not benefit from the 95% exemption.

In general, all expenses are deductible if
they are incurred as a result of the compa-
ny's business operations. Certain expenses
may be disallowed (e.g. expenses related to
exempt income) or may be deductible only
up to a limited amount.
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As regards interest expenses, as from fiscal
year 2008 the so-called “earning stripping”
rules apply in Germany which might limit the
deduction of interest expenses. According
to these rules, taxpayers may immediately
deduct only (net) interest expense up to
30% of taxable earnings before net interest
expense, tax, regular depreciation, and
amortization (tax EBITDA). An EBITDA car-
ryforward is generated if the taxpayer has
net interest expense lower than 30% of the
EBITDA for tax purposes, unless an excep-
tion to the interest expense limitation (see
below) applies. The difference between 30%
of the EBITDA and the net interest expense
(excess EBITDA) may be carried forward and
used in the following five years when the net
interest expense exceeds 30% of current
EBITDA. The limitation does not apply
where: (i) the annual (net) interest burden

is less than EUR 3 million; (ii) the taxpayer is
not part of a group of companies; or (iii) the
taxpayer can demonstrate that the equity
ratio of the German borrower does not fall
short by more than two percentage points
of the worldwide group's equity ratio. Excess
interest may be carried forward indefinitely
(although change in ownership rules apply).
Disallowed interest expense will not trigger
withholding tax.
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3.5.2.1.2 Losses

Losses that cannot be offset against profits
in the same year may be carried forward
indefinitely and carried back for one year.
Losses that cannot be offset can be carried
back to the prior taxable period up to an
amount of EUR 1 million for CIT purposes.
No carry-back is possible for Trade Tax
purposes. No restrictions are imposed on
the utilisation of loss carry-forwards of up
to EUR 1 million; however, the utilisation of
loss carry-forwards exceeding EUR 1 mil-
lion is capped at 60% of income. Therefore,
the remaining 40% of income will be taxed
at the general rates (“minimum taxation”).
The concept of minimum taxation also
applies for TT purposes.

A change of ownership rule applies as
from 1 January 2008. All corporate income
tax and trade tax losses will be forfeited

if more than 50% of the shares in a loss
corporation are directly or indirectly trans-
ferred to one buyer (or a group of related
buyers) within a period of five years. As
from 1 January 2010, loss carry-forwards
will not be forfeited if a single person or
entity owns directly or indirectly 100%

of the shares in the transferring and the
receiving company. Loss carry-forwards
continue to be available to the extent
built-in gains in the loss company are
subject to tax in Germany. Since 2016,
losses continue to be available also in
certain cases where the historic business
of the loss company is continued on an
unchanged basis.

Negative income of a controlling entity or a
controlled entity in a German tax-consoli-
dated group are regarded non-deductible
for German tax purposes to the extent
such losses are taken into account for
foreign tax purposes at the level of the
controlling entity, the controlled entity or
any other person.



3.5.2.2 Trade tax

Trade tax is based on taxable income as
calculated for CIT purposes; however, sev-
eral income adjustments apply.

The tax rate varies depending on location,
but is generally within the range of 14%-

17% of income (with a minimum rate of 7%).

The basis for trade tax is increased by
25% (which means that the expenses
mentioned below are tax deductible for
TT purposes only to the extent of 75%, not
100%) of the sum of, among other things:

e all interest expenses,
¢ 1/5 of the rent for moveable assets,

¢ 1/2 of the rent for immoveable assets,
and

¢ 1/4 of licence fees;

* less an exemption of EUR 200,000.

Furthermore, several other additions or
deductions might apply. There are special
regulations for financial institutions and
financial service providers regarding the
adding back of interest expenses: under
certain conditions financial institutions and
financial service providers do not have to
add back their interest expenses.
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3.5.2.3 Filing requirements

The tax assessment period is generally the
calendar year, although a resident company
may choose a divergent financial year as

its tax year. A company may only change

its financial year (and hence its tax year) to
a divergent financial year with the consent
of the tax authorities (but may change it
back from a divergent financial year to a
calendar year without the tax authorities’
consent). Financial years may not be longer
than 12 months, but they may be shorter.

Under to German tax law, tax returns have
to be filed for income tax purposes on an
annual basis. The tax returns have to be
prepared using specific forms provided

by the tax authorities and have to be filed
electronically (see also E-tax Balance legis-
lation in Chapter 3.5.6.2).

Final tax returns must generally be filed
electronically by 31 July of the following
year. If a certified tax advisor prepares the
return, the due date is extended to the last
day of February of the second year follow-
ing the tax year.

Moreover, it has to be taken into consider-
ation that the tax authorities assess pre-
payments for corporate tax and solidarity
surcharge. These assessed prepayments
are generally calculated by the tax author-
ities based on the taxable income for prior
years and have to be paid on a quarterly
basis to the tax authorities in advance.

In addition to the CIT mentioned, a
surcharge tax, the Solidarity Surcharge,

is charged by the tax authorities. The
solidarity surcharge is a surtax calculated
on the assessed CIT and is applied at a rate
of 5.5%.
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3.5.2.4 German tax group
("Organschaft")

German tax law allows groups of compa-
nies to form a tax group (“Organschaft”) for
German CIT and TT purposes and to file the
consolidated income in the tax return of
the tax group parent. In this case, current
losses of companies that are part of the
group may be offset against the profits at
the head of the consolidated tax group
(and profits transferred to the parent from
other tax group subsidiaries).

To form a tax group, the parent company
(either a German company, German part-
nership operating a trade or business, a
German individual or the German branch
of a foreign company) must hold the major-
ity of the shares or the voting rights in a
German corporation from the beginning

of the subsidiary’s financial year. Moreover,
a profit and loss pooling agreement with

a minimum duration of five years must be
agreed by the members of the tax group,
which also must be registered in the sub-
sidiary’s financial year before the end of the
financial year for which the tax group will
be effective.

3.5.2.5 Non-resident companies and
permanent establishments

Foreign companies that have neither

their registered office nor their place of
management in Germany are non-resident
for German tax purposes. Non-resident
companies are subject to German CIT only
on German-sourced income. The income
of a non-resident company derived from a
branch, a permanent establishment in Ger-
many or a partnership interest in a German
partnership or other certain income, which
qualifies as German-sourced income, is
subject to the general CIT rate of 15% and
additionally 5.5% Solidarity Surcharge and
potentially Trade Tax.

(Fixed) interest income, for example,
received by a non-German resident qual-
ifies as German sourced-income as well if
the capital is directly or indirectly secured
by domestic real estate property, by
domestic rights subject to the provisions of
the civil law regarding land.

A non-resident company's other sources

of income (e.g. from royalties) are taxed

by way of a withholding tax, which may be
reduced under an applicable tax treaty. For
China, the applicable withholding tax under
the DTAis reduced to 10%.

German tax law contains a general
definition of the term “permanent estab-
lishment” (PE) for German tax purposes.

By comparing the definition of the term
“permanent establishment” in German tax
treaties, the definition under German tax
law is rather broad and results in a wide
scope for the taxation of business activities
by foreign companies. Unlike the German
tax treaties, domestic law does not contain
a list of situations in which no permanent
establishment exists. Thus, if activities are
undertaken from jurisdictions without a
DTA, such as Hong Kong, careful planning is
advised in order to either avoid creating a
PE or ensure compliance with German tax
reporting requirements.
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According to German tax law, a permanent
establishment is generally defined as “any
fixed place of business or business facility
which serves the activities of a company”.
In particular the following qualifies as a
permanent establishment under German
tax law:

* the place of management;

¢ branches;

offices;

warehouses;

purchasing or sales locations;

mines, quarries or any other fixed or
floating site or sites which progressively
change their location for the extraction of
natural resources;

building sites or installations, also those
which progressively change their location
or are floating, if the construction of

a) the individual building site or installa-
tion or

b) one of many building sites or installa-
tions which exist contemporaneously
or

¢) several building sites or installations
which are constructed one after the
other in an uninterrupted series takes
more than six months.

Thus, for the assumption of a permanent
establishment in Germany for German tax
purposes the following four main criteria
must be cumulatively satisfied:

the existence of a fixed place of business
or a business facility;

the sustainability, i.e. the time element of
the fixed place of business;

the taxpayer’s control over and power to
dispose of this fixed place of business;
and

the carrying on of an activity of the per-
manent establishment in the fixed place
of business.
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In the case that a branch office of a com-
pany originally located in a foreign country
is registered in the German commercial
register, there exists the general assump-
tion that a permanent establishment exists
in Germany for German tax purposes. This
assumption is based on legal practice.

The German national definition of a PE is
rather wide. Thus, where a tax treaty exists,
the German PE definition would be limited
to that in the respective DTA.

According to Art. 5 para. 2 of the China -
Germany tax treaty the term “permanent
establishment” means a fixed place of busi-
ness where the business of the company is
wholly or partially carried on. In particular a
permanent establishment shall include the
following:

* aplace of management;
e a branch;

¢ an office;

* afactory;

* 3 workshop;

* amine, quarry or other place of extrac
tion of natural resources.
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Furthermore, the following qualifies as per-
manent establishment under Art. 5 para. 3:

* 3 building site or construction or assem-
bly project which exists for more than
six months (under the not yet ratified
new DTA the duration of 6 months will be
replaced by 12 months);

the furnishing of services, including con-
sultancy services, by an enterprise of a
Contracting State through its employees
or other personnel if the activities in the
other Contracting State (for the same or a
connected project) continue for a period
or periods aggregating more than six
months (under the new DTA the duration
of 6 months will be replaced by 183 days).

In contrast to German domestic tax law, the
tax treaty contains a “negative list”, i.e. inter
alia the following services are excluded

and do not constitute a taxable permanent
establishment:

* The use of facilities solely for the purpose
of storage, display or delivery of goods or
merchandise belonging to the company;

The maintenance of a fixed place of busi-
ness solely for the purpose of purchasing
goods or merchandise, or for collecting
information, for the company;

The maintenance of a fixed place of busi-
ness solely for the purpose of advertising,
for the supply of information, for scientific
research or for similar activities which
have a preparatory or auxiliary character,
for the company.



3.5.3 Taxation of individuals
3.5.3.1 Overview

Income tax rates

Progressive up to 45% (47.475% including solidarity surcharge)

Capital gains tax rates

Progressive up to 45% (47.475% including solidarity
surcharge), non-taxable in certain cases, partially tax
exempted in certain cases

Basis

Worldwide income

Double taxation relief

Yes

Tax year

Calendar year

Return due date

31 July

Withholding tax

* Dividends 25% (26.375% including solidarity surcharge)

¢ Interest 25% (26.375% including solidarity surcharge)/0%

* Royalties 15% (15.825% including solidarity surcharge)

Church tax 8% or 9% of income tax/wage tax/ withholding tax, applicable

to resident members of certain officially recognised German
churches

Net wealth tax No
Social security Yes
Inheritance tax 7%-50%

Real estate tax

1.5%-2.3% (effective tax rate in major
cities, depending on municipality)

VAT rate

19% (standard rate)/7% (reduced rate)
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3.5.3.2 Residence
An individual is considered tax resident if
he/she:

Maintains a home or dwelling in Germany
for personal use with the intention of
keeping it and using it on a regular basis;
or

A habitual place of abode in Germany,
i.e. is physically present in Germany for
a consecutive period of more than six
months or with the intention of staying
for that period. Short interruptions, such
as weekend trips away, vacation or busi-
ness travel, do not preclude a habitual
place of abode.

Nationality is not a criterion for determining
residence. An applicable tax treaty might
allocate the tax residency differently.

On application, resident status is extended
to individuals who do not otherwise meet
the residence test if their German-source
income subject to German taxation com-
prises 90% or more of their worldwide
taxable income.

3.5.3.3 Taxable income and rates
Residents are liable to income tax on their
worldwide income, while non-residents
generally are taxed only on certain
German-source income. Relief from double
taxation may be provided by tax treaties.

Taxable income

Basic sources of income are: agricultural
and forestry income, business income,
income from self-employment and from
employment, savings and capital invest-
ment income, rental income and certain
types of capital gains and other income. In
most cases, income from private savings
and capital investments and connected
capital gains are taxed separately via with-
holding at source.

Employment income includes salaries,
wages, bonuses, fringe benefits and other
forms of compensation. Certain exemp-
tions apply, e.g. for supplementary pay-
ments to compensate for working on Sun-
days, bank holidays or on night shifts, or for
employee discounts granted for products
or services of the employer. Unless higher
deductible costs are substantiated by the
taxpayer a lump-sum of EUR 1,000 per year
is deducted from the taxable income.

Benefits in kind (e.g. vouchers) are not
taken into account if their value (less any
extra payment made by the employee)
does not exceed EUR 44 in one calendar
month.

Capital gains derived from the sale of
non-business assets (other than certain
types of savings and capital investments)
are taxable only if the assets have not been
held for a minimum holding period (e.g. 10
years for real property, one year in most
other cases).

Capital gains of less than EUR 600 per
calendar year are tax-exempt. No tax is
due on the sale of a private home where
the taxpayer has lived during the period
between acquisition and sale or at least
during the current year and the two
preceding years. The sale of private share-
holdings of 1% or more in corporations is
taxable irrespective of a minimum holding
period; however, only 60% of the capital
gain is taxed.

A percentage of pension payments from
the statutory pension insurance scheme is
taxed, depending in which year the pension
begins; for example 80% of pensions com-
mencing in 2020 are taxable and for 2021
the figure is 81%.
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Taxable income is computed:

* For income derived from agriculture and
forestry, business or self-employment -
from the profit determined on an
accruals basis (compulsory where an
obligation to keep accounts exists under
commercial law) or on a cash basis;
realised capital gains or losses are always
included; or

* For other income - on a cash basis, by
deducting income-related expenditures
from gross receipts; realised capital
gains or losses are generally not included
unless otherwise stipulated by law in
specific cases.

Some income is exempt from tax, such

as the employer share of contributions to
the statutory health, nursing care, unem-
ployment and pension insurance scheme
and certain social distributions, lump sum
payments under a pension scheme and
payments from health, accident and disa-
bility insurances.

Deductions and relief

Each resident taxpayer is entitled to a basic
personal allowance of EUR 9,744 (EUR
19,488 for married couples filing a joint
return) from year 2021,

In addition to business or income-related
expenses, individual taxpayers may take a
special deduction for certain "necessary"
payments such as:

* A percentage of contributions to a statu-
tory pension insurance scheme including
the employer share (92% for 2021) up to
EUR 23,724 in 2020 (92% of EUR 25,787)
per year, less the employer share;

* Premiums or contributions to a statutory
health insurance scheme or equivalent

basic health insurance cover (excluding
the employer's share of the health insur-
ance premiums);

e Premiums or contributions to private
life, accident, unemployment or disability
insurance or for private health insurance
coverage exceeding basic coverage up
to a total of EUR 2,800 for self-employed
individuals and EUR 1,900 for public
servants and employees, to the extent
the ceiling has not been exhausted by the
basic coverage;

* Costs of professional training for a future
profession up to EUR 6,000 per year;

* Alimony up to EUR 13,805 paid to a
divorced partner (if the divorced partner
agrees);

* Donations to registered charities, cultural
or sports organisations up to 20% of total
net income (before special deductions)
or, in case of businesses, 4% of the sum
of turnover and paid salaries and wages;
or

e Church tax paid to an officially recognised
German church.

There also are deductions for children.
Eligible taxpayers automatically receive

a monthly child benefit payment of EUR
219 for each of the first two children, EUR
225 for the third child and EUR 250 for the
fourth and each additional child. At the end
of the year, the tax authorities calculate
whether the child benefit payment or a tax
allowance for the costs of a child's living,
care and education (in total EUR 8,388;

in case of separated parents half of the
amount) is more advantageous for the tax-
payer and automatically adjust the final tax.
Non-resident taxpayers may claim the child
allowances if they are taxed as a resident in
Germany.
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Rates

The tax rates for resident individual tax-
payers range from a minimum of 14% on
income exceeding EUR 9,744 (EUR 19,488
for married couples filing a joint return) to a
top rate of 45% for income exceeding EUR
274,613 (EUR 549,226 for married couples
filing a joint return). An additional 5.5%
solidarity surcharge is levied on the income
tax assessed. Trade tax levied on business
income is, with some limitations, credited
against the income tax allocable to that
income.

A 25% (26.375% including solidarity sur-
charge) withholding tax applies to income
from private capital investments (e.g. from
the receipt of dividends or the disposal of
bonds or minor shareholdings of less than
1%), regardless of the holding period. An
allowance of EUR 801 per year (EUR 1,602
for married couples filing a joint return) is
granted. If the regular (progressive) tax rate
of the individual is below 25% (26.375%
including solidarity surcharge), the taxpayer
may apply for a more favourable tax treat-
ment in his/her return.
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Non-residents are taxed at a flat rate of
15% (15.825% including solidarity sur-
charge) on income from:

e Artistic, sporting, entertainment or simi-
lar performances exercised or exploited
in Germany (unless derived from depend-
ent employment subject to wage tax); and

licence fees paid for the use of, or the
right to use, rights such as patents, copy-
rights or know-how.

The flat tax is withheld at source. No
expenses may be deducted in determining
taxable income. Non-resident individuals
from EU or EEA countries may opt for the
deduction of income-related expenses.

In this case, a 30% (31.65% including soli-
darity surcharge) withholding tax applies.
Non-resident members of the Supervisory
Boards of German corporations are subject
to a 30% (31.65% including the solidarity
surcharge) withholding tax. Those from EU/
EEA countries are allowed a deduction of
income-related expenses from their tax
base. Taxation may be excluded or limited
by an applicable tax treaty.



3.5.3.4 Social security contributions
Employed individuals are required to pay
contributions to the statutory health,
nursing care, unemployment and pension
insurance schemes. The employer gener-
ally bears 50% of the total contribution.
Additional social security contributions
comprise the insolvency fund levy (0.15%
of total salaries), the levy "U2' for maternity
(compensating the employer for salary
payments during maternity protection;
about 0.3% of the salary depending on

the public health insurance where the
employee is insured) and, for employers
with 30 or fewer employees, the levy

"U1' for sickness (partly compensating

the employer for salary payments during
sickness of the employee; about 1.3% up to
3.9% of the salary depending on the public
health insurance scheme under which the
employee is insured and the percentage of
compensation chosen).

3.5.4 International taxation

Most business activities take place in a
cross-border context: this may be in the
form of supplies of goods or services
across borders or investment activities
across borders. Of particular relevance
here is inbound investment from China

to Germany and also German outbound
investment in the event that a Chinese
investor uses Germany as an intermediate
holding location. In view of the present
OECD BEPS (Base Erosion and Profit
Shifting) developments, this is a scenario
that may become more common as there is
mostly substance in German entities.

Germany provides different measures for
avoiding double taxation which can be
divided into national unilateral measures
and bilateral measures regulated in its tax
treaties.
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3.5.4.1 Unilateral measures for the
avoidance of double taxation

In non-treaty situations (e.g. Hong Kong)
or treaty situations (e.g. China) where the
treaty provides for a tax credit, German
taxpayers with foreign-source income may
be credited with foreign taxes paid to the
extent they relate to income that is subject
to tax under domestic law (a per-country
limitation must be recognised).

Alternatively, the deduction of foreign tax
can be chosen, which is relevant particu-
larly in situations where the German entity
is in a loss situation and therefore does not
have any tax cost against which to credit
foreign tax. If the income is exempt from
German tax, neither credit nor deduction
will be possible.

3.5.4.2 Tax treaties

Comprehensive agreements for the avoid-
ance of double taxation are the basis for
bilateral measures of avoidance of double
taxation.

Germany has a broad tax treaty network;
with around 100 jurisdictions in place.
Currently, there is no tax treaty between
Germany and Hong Kong. There are six
inheritance and gift tax treaties.
Furthermore, Germany has signed several
Tax Information Exchange Agreements
(TIEA) with various countries. Finally,
Germany has some treaties regulating the
treatment of shipping and airline income.

If the domestic tax rate is lower than the
treaty rate, the domestic rate (D) applies.
Additionally, the EC Parent-Subsidiary
Directive or the Interest and Royalties
Directive may also apply to lower the rate.
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3.5.4.2.1 China - Germany tax treaty

The PRC - Germany tax treaty has been in
force since 10 June 1985 and generally fol-
lows the OECD Model Tax Treaty. A revised
version of the China - Germany tax treaty is
in effect since 1 January 2017.

However, there are certain differences with
respect to the current OECD Model Tax
Treaty; the main ones are outlined below:

Art. 5 Permanent establishment
The term permanent establishment shall
also include:

* a building site, or construction, assembly
or installation project or supervisory
activities in connection therewith, but
only if such site, project or activities last
more than twelve months;

the furnishing of services, including
consultancy services, by an enterprise
through employees or other personnel
engaged for such purposes, but only if
activities of that nature continue (for the
same or a connected project) within a
Contracting State for a period or periods
aggregating more than 183 days within
any twelve-month period.

Art. 7 Business profits

When determining the profits of a PE,
expenses which are incurred for the pur-
poses of the PE, including executive and
general administrative expenses, shall be
allowed as deductions whether in the State
in which the permanent establishment is
situated or elsewhere.

No profits shall be attributed to a PE by
reason of the mere purchase by that PE of
goods or merchandise for the enterprise.

Furthermore, the tax treaty states that the
profits to be attributed to the PE shall be
determined by the same method every
year unless there is good and sufficient
reason to the contrary.
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Art. 10 Dividends

Dividends may also be taxed in the con-
tracting state in which the company paying
the dividends resides at a maximum rate
of 5%, provided that the recipient is the
beneficial owner of the dividends and holds
directly at least 25 per cent of the capital of
the company paying the dividends.

Art. 11 Interest
The DTA mentions several exemptions from

withholding tax on interest.

For example, interest derived from Ger-
many is exempt from German tax, if paid:

1. to the Government of the People’s
Republic of Ching;

2.to the People’s Bank of China;

3. the China Development Bank Corpora-
tion;

4. the Agricultural Development Bank of
China;

5. the Export-Import Bank of China;

6. the National Council for Social Security
Fund;

7.the China Investment Corporation;

8. any other public credit institution of the
Government of China, if the competent
authorities of both States have agreed
thereto.

Interest derived from the People’s Republic
of China is exempt from Chinese tax, if paid:

1. to the Government of the Federal Repub-
lic of Germany;

2.the German Federal Bank (Deutsche
Bundesbank);

3. the Development Loan Corporation
(Kreditanstalt fUr Wiederaufbau);

4. the German Investment and Develop-
ment Company (DEG - Deutsche Inves-
titions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft
mbH);

5. any public credit institution of the
Federal Republic of Germany, if the com-
petent authorities of both States have
agreed thereto



Regarding the possible pitfalls
but also the attractive
alternatives of the tax treaty -
for example regarding the
beneficial withholding tax - of
the new treaty, Deloitte has
experienced cross-border tax

experts, who can advise you on
the treaty's impacts on your
business.

Claus Schuermann
Tax & Business Advisory Services
clschuermann@deloitte.com.hk

Art. 12 Royalties

Royalties may be taxed in the country of
residence. However, such royalties may
also be taxed in the state of source, if the
recipient is the beneficial owner of the roy-
alties, the tax so charged shall not exceed
10 % of the gross amount of the royalties.
With regard to the use of or the right to
use industrial, commercial or scientific
equipment, the tax rate is reduced to 6%
effectively.

Art. 23 Methods for Elimination of
Double Taxation

Chinese residents:

The amount of income tax payable in Ger-
many may be deducted from the Chinese
tax levied on that resident. However, the
amount of this credit must not exceed the
amount of Chinese tax on that income.

In addition, the underlying taxes could

be deducted, provided that the income
received is in the form of a dividend paid by
a company resident in Germany to a com-
pany resident in China and which owns not
less than 20% of the shares of the latter.

German residents:

In general, income arising in the People’s
Republic of China and any item of capital
situated within the People’s Republic of
China which, according to the Agreement,
may be taxed in the People’s Republic of
China shall be excluded from the basis
upon which German tax is imposed. How-
ever, Germany retains the right to take the
items of income and capital so excluded
into account in the determination of its rate
of tax.
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In the case of dividends, the aforemen-
tioned shall only apply to such dividends
paid to a company (not including partner-
ships) being a resident of Germany directly
holding at least 25% of the capital in the
company being a resident of the People’s
Republic of China paying the dividends.

Inter alia, as regards the following income
arising in the People’s Republic of China,
subject to the provisions of German tax law
regarding credit for foreign tax, the Chinese
tax paid under Chinese laws and in accord-
ance with the Agreement shall be credited
against German income tax:

1. dividends;
2. interest;

3. royalties.
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3.5.4.2.2 Hong Kong

At present, there is no comprehensive
double tax treaty between Hong Kong and
Germany in place. However, negotiations
have been ongoing. This will be of particu-
lar interest to Chinese investors using Hong
Kong as an intermediary and for Hong
Kong investors to Germany, as investments
currently suffer considerable withholding
tax rates under German local tax law, e.g.
26.375% on dividends paid from Germany
to Hong Kong with no tax credit available at
the Hong Kong level, but with a tax credit
potentially available in China, depending on
circumstances.

The DTA will also simplify secondment
situations where at present no 183 days
rule protection exists, thus staff travelling
to Germany may be subject to German
taxation even for short stays.
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3.5.4.3 German transfer pricing rules
The transfer price is the price thatis
charged for a supply of services or goods
between related parties. Germany has had
considerable regulation on transfer pricing
for years and unsurprisingly this is reflected
in tax audits of multinational companies
where typically transfer pricing issues will
have to be discussed. The main legal basis is
Section 1, Foreign Tax Act. German transfer
pricing rules are generally in line with OECD
guidelines and sometimes more specific.

Related parties must apply the so-called
"arm's length principle" when engaging in
cross-border transactions, i.e. they have to
agree on pricing that is comparable to that
among unrelated parties. German legisla-
tion and administrative regulations contain
detailed rules on how transfer prices should
be determined. Standard transfer pricing
methods to be applied when comparable
prices are available comprise the compara-
ble uncontrolled price, the resale price and
the cost plus method. Where comparables

are not available, the transactional net
margin method may be used for companies
that are engaged in routine functions. The
profit split method may be applied if the
standard methods do not lead to reliable
results. The German tax authorities gener-
ally do not accept the comparable profits
method. Special transfer pricing rules

exist on the transfer of business functions
abroad.

Transfer pricing documentation is obliga-
tory. If documentation is not submitted or if
the documentation is inadequate, penalties
of 5% to 10% of the income adjustment
(minimum EUR 5,000) apply. The penalty for
late submission of requested documents

is @ minimum of EUR 100 per day up to a
maximum of EUR 1 million.

Advance pricing agreements (APAs) may be
obtained, typically for a term of three to five
years.




For many companies, Transfer Pricing
Documentation (TPD) is the most important
part of Transfer Pricing. Considering that
German tax auditors require the substance
of transactions to be proven by underlying
contracts and supporting documentation
as appropriate, the value of TPD cannot be
underestimated in Germany.

Taxpayers are obliged to provide docu-
mentation about the manner and content
of their business relationships with related
parties. This not only includes transactions
between related legal entities referred to
in Art. 9 OECD Model Tax Convention, but
also the income allocation between head
office and a permanent establishment. The
law is supported by detailed guidelines for
documentation requirements which are
described in the “GAufzV" and the admin-
istrative principles procedure. With effect
for fiscal years starting after 31 December
2016 a new version of the GAufzV applies,
aligning the German transfer pricing docu-
mentation rules with Master File/Local File
concept as stipulated by BEPS Action Point
13. The Master File is the top-down view,
containing inter alia:

visual representation of the organisa-
tional structure (legal and ownership
structure) as well as of the geographical
distribution of the companies and perma-
nent establishments that are part of the
company group;

an overview of the important drivers of
the group's overall profit;

a description of the supply chains for the
group's five products or services that
generate the largest turnover;

a description of the main geographical
markets for the group;

a brief functional analysis;

a brief description of important restruc
turings of the group's business activities
occurring during the fiscal year;

a general description of the group's over-
all strategy for intangible assets;

* 3 general description of how the group is
financed;

* 3 list or brief description of any existing
unilateral advance pricing agreements
relating to the group's transfer pricing
approach.

The Local File is the bottom-up view,
containing inter alia:

* general information about the ownership
structure, the business operations and
the organisational structure incl.;

- arepresentation of the ownership
structure between the taxpayer and
related parties

- a representation of the organisational
and operational structure of the group

- a description of the management
structure

- a description of the taxpayer's areas of
activity and the business strategy

e records of the taxpayer's business rela-
tionsincl.:

- arepresentation of the taxpayer's
business relations, overview of the type
and scope of these business relations,
for example goods purchases, services,
loan arrangements and other transfers
of usage rights

- a list of the main intangible assets that
belong to the taxpayer and that the
taxpayer uses

e functional analysis and risk analysis incl.:

- information about the functions
performed and risks assumed

- information about the main assets
used

- the agreed contractual conditions

- the chosen business strategy and the
taxpayer's contribution to the value
chain

e transfer pricing analysis incl.:
- time of determination of the transfer
prices
- representation of the transfer pricing
method used
- justification for the choice of the
transfer pricing method used
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In general, taxpayers must submit doc
umentation within 60 days after the tax
authorities’ request. It is not required to
submit transfer pricing documentation
when filing the tax return. However,
extraordinary transactions must be doc
umented promptly (i.e. within 6 months
of the end of the business year in which
the transaction took place) and must be
submitted within 30 days upon request.
The following are considered to be an
extraordinary business transaction:

Conclusion and amendment of significant
long-term contracts that have a sub-
stantial impact on the amount of income
generated from the business with related
parties;

asset transfer during restructuring;

transfer or contribution of assets or
advantages in connection with a change
of functions and risks in the group;

a business transaction in connection with
a change in the group's business strategy
with significant impact on the setting of
transfer prices;

conclusion of cost-sharing agreements.

If no documentation is available or the
available documentation is inadequate,
the burden of proof shifts to the taxpayer,
and tax authorities are permitted to adjust
to the most unfavourable point within the
arm's-length range. Furthermore, a penalty
of between 5% and 10% of the transfer
pricing adjustment (@and a minimum of
EUR 5,000) may apply. In case of late
submission, the penalty can reach

EUR 1 million, at least EUR 100 for each
day the documentation is overdue.
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3.5.4.4 Base Erosion and Profit Shifting
("BEPS")

The discussion on "Base Erosion and Profit
Shifting" has been strongly supported by
the German government. It therefore does
not come as a surprise to see that a con-
siderable number of the OECD measures
have already been part of German tax law
for some years. And anti-base erosion
measures have been developed regularly in
Germany, e.g. the exit taxation regulations
introduced in 2009.

A few key points worth considering in this
regard:

Germany considers a server located in
Germany potentially as the permanent
establishment of a foreign entity. This might
have an impact on the digital economy in
certain cases.

On hybrid mismatches, Germany does
already have an anti-hybrid rule. CFC rules
as recommended by OECD have beenin
place for several decades. The OECD inter-
est limitation rule is largely based on the
German interest limitation rule. Tax treaty
anti-abuse rules have also been in place for
some time.

This means on the other hand that the Ger-
man tax environment may not be as heavily
impacted by the OECD BEPS initiative as
many other tax regimes, e.g. Chinas.

Further to the OECD BEPS initiative the
European Union has its own initiative
against aggressive tax planning. The action
items are largely coordinated with the
OECD action items. However, some items
are more specific, such as the idea of creat-
ing a Common Consolidated Corporate Tax
Base (CCCTB) within the EU.

For the investor from China it is recom-
mended to follow both developments
closely, both at the OECD and the EU levels,
and to assess the impact on investment in
Germany.
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3.5.4.5 EU - Anti Tax Avoidance
Directive ("ATAD")

On 20 June 2016 the Council of the EU
adopted the so-called "Anti Tax Avoidance
Directive" (ATAD) laying down rules against
tax avoidance practices that directly affect
the functioning of the EU internal market.
ATAD contains five legally-binding anti-
abuse measures, which all EU Member
States should apply. The EU Member States
were required to implement these meas-
ures into local law from 1 January 2019. The
anti-avoidance measures in the ATAD are:

 Controlled foreign company (CFC) rule;
* Switchover rule;

* Exit taxation;

* Interest limitation;

* General anti-abuse-rule.

Furthermore, a separate directive was
adopted with Anti-Hybrid measures.

Germany has not yet implemented all the
required measures as stipulated by ATAD,
however fulfils the minimum standards in
some areas already (e.g. interest limitation).

3.5.4.6 Mandatory Disclosure Rules
("DAC 6")

On 25 May 2018 the EU adopted a Council
Directive regarding BEPS Action 12 "Manda-
tory Disclosure Scheme" imposing manda-
tory reporting of certain cross-border tax
arrangements by so-called intermediaries
or the taxpayer. In Germany as from July
2020, reporting to the tax authorities

has to be done within 30 days after the
arrangement is made available/ready for
implementation or the first step in imple-
mentation has taken place. Reportable
cross-border arrangements between 25
June 2018 and 1 July 2020 had to be report-
ed by 31 August 2020.

The EU Directive aims at providing tax
authorities with additional information
regarding tax structures and tax planning
used by taxpayers and to counter harmful
tax practices.

In case the DAC 6 report is not (correctly)
submitted, this could constitute an admin-
istrative offence and can be sanctioned
with a fine up to EUR 25,000. The same
holds true in case the DAC 6 report is not
timely submitted.



3.5.5 Indirect taxes

3.5.5.1 Value Added Tax

Value Added Tax (VAT) is an indirect tax
which is imposed at every stage of produc
tion, distribution or the supply of goods
and services. VAT is designed to tax final
consumption by taxing the value added at
each stage of the manufacturing and selling
process. Thus, generally, it should not add a
cost to the company.

VAT charged by the seller to his customer
is called “output VAT". The VAT paid on the
purchase of goods or services is called
“input VAT". The VAT payer can generally
deduct the input VAT, whereby the VAT
burden ultimately arises (only) at the level
of the final consumer.

VAT payers are generally entitled to deduct
the input VAT if they regularly supply goods
or services which are subject to VAT or if
VAT was paid on transaction relating to
international trade or on deductible trans-
action conducted outside Germany.

Certain transactions are exempt from VAT,
particularly supplies of goods abroad and
supplies of goods and services relating to
insurance and financial activities, health,
education, culture and the transfer and the
lease of residential property. Therefore,

in particular entities acting in the financial
sector (banks, etc.) have to carefully analyse

possibilities of increasing the Input-VAT-
recovery rate (see Chapter 3.5.3).

The German VAT law does not apply in the
area of Busingen, on the Island Helgoland
and in the specific free trade zones (“Frei-
hafen”).

The standard VAT rate in Germany is 19%.
Under German VAT law there is only one
reduced VAT rate, 7%. The supplies of
certain goods such as food, books, medical
equipment and art objects and the sup-
plies of certain activities (e.g. cultural activi-
ties) are subject to the reduced VAT rate.

Taxpayers who carry out transactions
subject to VAT in Germany are generally
obliged to register for VAT purposes in Ger-
many and will be given a tax registration
number. This also applies to non-German
companies doing business in Germany.
Thus careful planning of the distribution or
procurement business model is required
either to avoid a registration in Germany
(or in the EU) or to ensure compliance.

Additionally, taxpayers need a special VAT
number ("VAT identification number”) if they
conduct transactions within the European
Union, here especially: intra-community
supplies of goods and services. The obliga-
tion to register for VAT applies under the
strict wording of the German VAT law also
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to tax-exempt transactions and is inde-
pendent of the volume of the transactions
carried out.

VAT returns must be filed monthly if the
VAT liability for the previous calendar year
exceeds the amount of EUR 7,500. Other-
wise, quarterly filing is required.

Entities may elect taxation as a VAT-group.
In this case, the entities file only one
consolidated VAT return for the group
and intra-group transactions will not be
VAT-taxable.

The EU adopted on 12 February 2020 a
package modernising VAT for cross-border
e-commerce. The package intends to
facilitate cross-border trade, to combat VAT
fraud and ensure fair competition for EU
businesses. Businesses operating electron-
ic interfaces such as marketplaces or plat-
forms will, in certain situations, be deemed
for VAT purposes to be the supplier of
goods sold to customers in the EU by com-
panies using the marketplace or platform.
Therefore, they will have to collect and pay
the VAT on these sales. Furthermore, the
current VAT exemption for goods in small
consignment of a value of up to EUR 22 will
be abolished. The rules will enter into force
on 1 July 2021.
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3.5.5.2 Real estate transfer tax

The transfer of real estate located in Ger-
many is subject to Real Estate Transfer Tax
(RETT). For transfer tax purposes, it is only
necessary for the real owner to change.

A common case of a transaction subject

to RETT is the transfer of shares in com-
panies which own real estate. In this case,
the transfer tax is calculated on the real
properties of the companies, if at least 95%
of the corporate shares are transferred.
The change of at least 95% of the partners
in a partnership can be realised within five
years.

The rate of the transfer tax ranges from
3.5% to 5.5%, depending on where (i). e. in
which Federal State of Germany) the trans-
ferred real estate is located.

There are exemptions from transfer tax,
e.g. a transfer of real property based on
gifts inter vivos or inheritance.

On 31 July 2019, the German Federal Gov-
ernment discussed a draft law amending
the RETT in order to increase revenues

by limiting the options of share deals. The
measures include reducing the thresholds
to 90% (instead of currently 95%) and
extending the required holding period to
ten years (instead of currently five years).
The German Federal Government agreed
that further discussions regarding the
draft law are necessary and postponed the
implementation into national law. Currently,
it is not clear when draft law will be further
discussed.

3.5.5.3 Stamp tax
No stamp tax is levied in Germany.

3.5.5.4 Real estate property tax
Landowners have to pay real estate prop-
erty tax to the local tax authorities. Real
estate property tax is calculated on the
rateable value of the relevant real property.
Additionally, each local tax authority fixes
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its own municipal rate, so the real estate
property tax liability for a property can be
different depending on where the property
is located in Germany. The procedure

for calculating real estate property tax,
particularly the calculation of the rateable
value is quite complex.

In a ruling on 10 April 2018, the Federal
Constitutional Court declared the way

in which properties are valued for the
purpose of real estate property tax to be
unconstitutional, as the tax has been calcu-
lated on the basis of old values (from 1964
or 1935 respectively depending where the
real estate is located). According to the new
legislation, the basic structure remains
unchanged and it is expected that the new
legislation will not result in a change of the
total amount of tax generated.

3.5.5.5 Customs and excise duties

As an EU Member State, Germany applies
the EU Community Customs Code, which
sets out the general rules and procedures
for all EU Member States. Based on the

EU Community Customs Code all Member
States are obliged to collect duties with
the same criteria and efficiency, since once
in the EU, the free movement principle is
applied. The principle means that goods
move freely within the customs territory of
the European Union, without paying cus-
toms duties or any commercial restrictions
or customs requirements being applied.

As a result, national rules must be adapted
to Community Directives.

The German Customs & Excise Authorities,
together with the Customs Authorities of
the other EU Member States, have direct
relations with the Customs Authorities of
countries which are not part of the Euro-
pean Union, especially with the candidates
to join the EU, with Latin America and the
North of Africa. Relations involve all the
fields of information exchange and mutual
assistance in the fight against fraud and

smuggling, and technical assistance for the
development and modernisation of the
Customs “Environment”. For this purpose,
Germany has signed bilateral and multilat-
eral conventions.

Generally, imports of goods to Germany
are subject to import duties, i. e. customs
duties, import VAT and, if applicable, excise
duties. But there are exemptions available.
Excise duties are imposed on the con-
sumption of certain products. The excise
duties are generally levied in the country
of destination. That means the country in
which the certain products will be de facto
consumed or used. In addition to the impo-
sition of excise duties, the consumption of
the certain products is subject to VAT.

In Germany excise duties are levied on
the consumption of coffee, various alcohol
products, tobacco, oil, gas and electricity,
if the products will be used on German
territory. The excise taxes are paid by the
producer, importer or merchant. Addition-
ally, the sale of certain products is subject
to German VAT.

The relevant excise tax for each product is
calculated as a fixed amount in relation to a
certain measurement unit.



3.5.5.6 Other taxes

Motor vehicle tax

The payer of motor vehicle tax is the regis-
tered keeper of the vehicle. The tax is cal-
culated on the cubic capacity of the vehicle
and on the CO, emissions of cars.

There are certain exemptions from motor
vehicle tax.

Insurance premium tax

Insurance companies are normally obliged
to pay insurance premium tax, generally
amounting to 19% of the insurance pre-
mium.

A special type of the insurance tax is the
fire protection tax in Germany. This tax
is also normally calculated based on the
standard tax rate of 19%.

Others

Other taxes in force in Germany are taxes
regarding bets and lottery and casino
duties. Different tax rates are applicable.

Due to the fact that the other indirect
taxes mentioned above are applied, these
transactions are generally exempt from
German VAT.
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3.5.6 Other tax issues

3.5.6.1 General bookkeeping obliga-
tions for taxpayers

Under German tax law, anyone who is
obliged under any law to keep accounts
and records that are of relevance for taxa-
tion shall be obliged to fulfil the obligations
imposed by such other laws in the interest
of taxation as well. Generally, bookkeeping
in Germany is subject to the regulations of
the German Commercial Code and the rele-
vant rules apply to all merchants (except for
very small businesses of sole-proprietors).
The bookkeeping according to the German
Commercial Code (German GAAP) is con-
sequently the basis for the tax accounting
and in determining the taxable profit.

Under the German Commercial Code, the
bookkeeping must be maintained in such
a manner that a competent third party is
able to understand the bookkeeping in an
adequate time. In addition, accounts and
all other required records shall be kept

in a complete, correct, timely and orderly
manner. If IT is used to process and record
the bookkeeping, it must be ensured that
all data can be made readable at any time.
Additionally, tax law generally requires the
above-mentioned documents to be kept
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and stored within Germany. However, if
certain conditions are met, on application
the fiscal authorities may allow electronic
bookkeeping or parts of it to be processed
and stored outside Germany. In any case
the bookkeeping must be maintained in the
German language, otherwise translations
must be provided.

According to German tax law, the tax
authorities are entitled to audit taxpayers’
accounting records. If the records are
created with the help of data processing
systems, the tax authorities will require
data access in their external tax audits. It
should be noted that the taxpayer is gener-
ally obliged to support the tax authorities in
the execution of their right to data access.
The Federal tax authority has defined gen-
eral principles of electronic bookkeeping
and data access (GoBD). Those principles
have to be considered in designing the
bookkeeping system and in preparing for a
tax audit.




Deloitte has outstanding
technical experience in
XBRL as it is a member

of the association rep-
resenting XBRL in Germany
(XBRL Deutschland eV))
and - together with its
clients — participated in a
voluntary E-Tax balance
Sheet trial period in 2011,
which was conducted

by the Federal Ministry

of Finance. Accordingly,
Deloitte Germany can
advise on all E-Tax Balance
Sheet questions. Deloitte’s
E-Tax Balance Sheet
Readiness Assessment
offers a structured and
practically-tested project
approach.

3.5.6.2 E-tax balance legislation
German companies which compute

their taxable income using double-entry
accounting need to submit a standardised
electronic book/tax schedule (E-Tax
Balance Sheet) as an appendix to their
electronic income tax returns.

The Federal Ministry of Finance (MOF)
defined eXtensible Business Reporting
Language (XBRL) as the mandatory techni-
cal format (taxonomy) for all standardised
electronic data transmissions to the

tax authorities relating to E-Tax Balance
Sheets. XBRL is a global and open technical
standard for the exchange of company
information. XBRL is already widely used
by various institutions such as the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission and
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the German electronic Federal Gazette for
public disclosure of German GAAP financial
statements.

The XBRL taxonomy for the E-Tax Balance
Sheet is a hierarchically structured data
scheme, comparable to a model chart of
accounts, which consists of balance sheet
and income statement account items.
Eachvalue in an XBRL document is clearly
attributed to an element from the XBRL
taxonomy so that the document is fully
machine-readable. The German taxono-
mies for E-Tax Balance Sheets are available
electronically (http://www.esteuer.de).

The taxonomies require tax information
which is often not available in standard
charts of accounts or ERP systems used by
many companies for financial accounting
purposes. To avoid changes to charts of
accounts, the taxonomies offer fall-back
positions; the tax authorities have sug-
gested that these fall-back positions be
eliminated in the near future. Accordingly,
the tax authorities want to see, at least
mid-term, all mandatory tax information
requested by the taxonomies on individual
accounts directly in all companies’ charts
of accounts so that this information can

be made available to the tax authorities
electronically in the required E-Tax Balance
Sheet format.

Special E-Tax Balance Sheet issues may
arise for all companies that do not maintain
German GAAP accounting but account in
accordance with PRGGAAP or IFRS with a
one-time annual adjustment to German
GAAP or for all companies that do not
account fully electronically in one ERP- or
financial accounting system (e.g. financial
accounting in PRC GAAP or IFRS with a one-
time manual adjustment to German GAAP
at year-end outside the ERP- or financial
accounting system).

3.5.6.3 Advance rulings

The tax offices and the central Federal Tax
Office may, on application, provide advance
rulings on the treatment for tax purposes
of precisely defined, as yet unrealised cir-

cumstances where this is of special interest
in the light of significant tax implications.
Fees are charged for processing appli-
cations and are calculated on the basis

of the value of the advance ruling for the
applicant (i.e. based on the amount of taxes
at stake). The value amounts to at least
EUR 5,000 and is limited to EUR 30 million.
Therefore the minimum fee is EUR 241 and
the maximum fee EUR 109,736. Where the
value cannot be determined even by way
of estimate, a time-related fee of EUR 50
per half hour will be charged, the minimum
being EUR 100.

Advance Pricing Agreements (APA) are
possible if a double tax treaty is applicable
that contains a mutual agreement and
consultation procedure comparable to
Section 25 of the OECD Model Convention
(subject to a fee). A bilateral APA provides
certainty particularly on transfer pricing for
transactions between two countries.

3.5.6.4 Registration requirements for
tax purposes

After the general business registration of
the enterprise in the relevant municipality,
the company must register with the com-
petent tax authorities. This registration
must be effected within one month after
the general business registration has taken
place.

Registration for tax purposes is effected
by completing a specific tax questionnaire
provided by the tax authorities to the
taxpayer. The tax authorities use the tax
questionnaire to collect certain information
for tax purposes, for example the register
number, the address and the form of
business of the company. Moreover, this
questionnaire contains information con-
cerning the planned future taxable income
for corporate income tax and trade tax
prepayment purposes for the year of initial
registration and on a preliminary basis for
following years.



3.5.6.5 Tax audit

The statute of limitation is generally four
years following the year of filing the tax
return. For larger businesses, generally
every tax year will be tax audited.

The tax authorities execute a tax audit for
an overall review regarding taxable issues
on a regular basis. The tax audit generally
covers a period of 3 to 5 years of earlier
years which have been assessed with res-
ervation as to verification. Once a tax audit
has been finalised, a tax audit report will be
issued, the taxes under review will be newly
assessed considering any changes made
during the tax audit. After this assessment,
the tax years are finally assessed and can-
not be in general changed again.

3.5.6.6 Obligation to deduct and pay
wage taxes and social contributions for
German employees

If the company plans to hire employees in
Germany, registration with the following
authorities is required:

* tax office (the competent tax office for
wage tax purposes may differ from
the competent tax office for corporate
income tax),

* Government employment agency,

* statutory health insurance under which
employees are insured,

* statutory insurance against industrial
accidents.

The competent tax office will issue a tax
number which must be used when report-
ing monthly withholding taxes, i.e. wage tax,
church tax, and solidarity surcharge.

The Government employment agency
provides an employer number (“Arbeitge-
bernummer”) which is used to report the
monthly contributions to the German social
security carriers, i.e. pension insurance,
unemployment insurance, health insurance
and old-age care insurance.

The health insurance is provided by the
companies with whom the employees are
insured and they are the body to whom

the total amount of the monthly social
contributions to the German social security
carriers has to be paid.

German legislation obliges an employer to
withhold wage tax and solidarity surcharge,
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as well as church tax if applicable. The
taxes withheld by the employer have to be
reported and paid to the competent tax
authorities on a monthly basis.

Up to 2012, the employee was required to
obtain a tax card from the tax authorities.
The tax card contained details of the
marital status of the employee which were
important for the employer’s wage tax
deduction obligations. The card had to be
handed to the employer by the employee.
From 2013 onwards an electronic process
named ELStAM was adopted. The employ-
ee's obligation was completely transferred
to the employer, who is now responsible for
the collection of electronic data. Further-
more, the employer is obliged to provide
employees with their ELStAM data and to
provide access to this data upon request.
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3.6 Specific regulatory considerations
for the banking sector in Germany
3.6.1 Entering the German banking
market

3.6.1.1 Overview

Despite the effects of the financial crisis,
the German banking market is considered
healthy compared to other banking
markets in Europe. This is mainly due to

a strong savings bank and credit union
sector.

Foreign banks have used several strategies
to conduct banking business in Germany.
Foreign banks have

offered direct cross-border services;

established subsidiaries;

set up branches;

set up representative offices;

“passported” financial services: i.e. they
have conducted their business cross-
border within the European Economic
Area (EEA) under the freedom of services
regime.

In addition, several foreign banks have
established a stand-alone credit institution
in Germany or purchased shares in existing
credit institutions.

The amount of supervision a foreign bank
requires depends on the services provided.
The following subsections provide a brief
overview of the regulatory systems which
apply to the above-mentioned strategies.

3.6.1.2 Regulatory formalities for set-
ting up a bank in Germany

Pursuant to 8 32 of the German Banking
Act (KWG), prior administrative authorisa-
tion by the BaFin (Federal Financial Super-
visory Authority) is required to conduct
banking business in Germany.

To obtain the required regulatory authori-
sation, specific requirements must be met.
These requirements cover the essential
aspects of the organisation such as the
minimum capital required, shareholder
control, “fitness and properness” of Board
of Directors, and business plans which
include the business strategy, adminis-
trative structure as well as the control
procedures.

3.6.1.3 Direct cross-border services
Direct cross-border services are any
banking activities which are directed at the
German market. Cross-border services are
made possible by offering services from
China, with no special licensing or permis-
sion required as long as a German business
was the one asking for the services. This

is known as reverse solicitation or passive
freedom of services. However, reverse
solicitation must be documented and
proven and may not be used in a systemic
way to avoid license requirements.

Although there is an exemption process
under § 2 (5) (KWG), it unfortunately
remains the case that Chinese banks are
still not eligible. It is to be hoped that this
will change in future, considering the way in
which the Chinese banking sector contin-
ues to build upon their recent successes.
Brexit led to a reevualiation of the exemp-
tion process.



3.6.1.4 Setting up a branch in Germany
There are two ways of setting up a subsid-
iary in Germany. Foreign banks may either
purchase sharesin a bank or set up a de
novo subsidiary.

Purchasing shares in an existing bank is rel-
atively simple from the corporate point of
view. There is no licensing process, and the
subsidiary is ready to use, in the sense that
the subsidiary already has a building with
the staff to run the business, and poten-
tially existing clients. On the downside,
there is a non-objection process under 8 2c
KWG. It may take time to find a subsidiary
that suits all the needs of the acquiring
bank, and care should be taken with hidden
costs such as Due Diligence and changing
the structure of the organisation or carving
out certain businesses or assets that do
not match with the acquirer’s business
strategy.

Setting up a subsidiary can help reduce
these problems. For one thing it is possible
to establish a customised bank, designed
specifically with certain goals in mind. In
addition, no Due Diligence is involved, and
no historic legal or tax risks to worry about.
The drawbacks of doing this include having
to pass a demanding licensing process, and
finding new clients.

Passporting: branch of an EEA bank in
Germany

Passporting is a way of using the per-
mission of one country inside the EEA in
another country. In other words, first a
legal organisation is created in another
European country such as Luxembourg.
Once this organisation is established, a
German subsidiary can be formed using
a faster and more simplified notification

process. The new subsidiary would still
have to follow German regulations, but not
as many (so called residual supervision).
For example, anti money laundering rules,
liquidity and capital requirement reporting
must still be respected.

Passporting has a few advantages. Firstly,
supervision and regulation by the German
authorities is minimised. German auditing
rules do not have to be followed, and there
are no unique capital requirements. Spe-
cific transfer pricing contracts are possible,
and often there is no requirement to take
partin a deposit or investment protection
fund.

However, there are drawbacks: it is still nec
essary to show the capital allocation, and
the bank in Germany is limited to the activ-
ities permitted by the original European
home country. Also, anti-money laundering
documentation may be requested, and the
main office’s annual financial statements
must be published.

Branch of a non-EEA bank in Germany
A non-EEA entity is entitled to establish

a branch in Germany, which provides
banking services. Because this branch will
be considered to be a credit institution, the
application and regulatory requirements
are identical to the ones needed to set up a
credit institution in Germany.

This would mean having to find a proper
location, new clients, and setting up new
relationships with a variety of regulators in
order to obtain the licences and permits
needed. However, an advantage is that this
could possibly grant more control to head
office, and the branch could be set up the
way head office would like it to be.
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3.6.1.5 Representative office

Setting up a representative office is a very
limited way to enter the German banking
market. A representative office must inform
the German authorities about their pur-
pose in setting up an office, and they may
only do market research and advertising
and no active marketing of financial ser-
vices which require authorisation.

3.6.1.6 Business under the freedom of
services regime

Based on § 53b (1) KWG, credit institutions
dealing with deposits, lending, principal
broking or underwriting services in a mem-
ber state of the EEA are entitled to provide
their services in Germany under the
freedom of services regime within the EEA
(European Passport), without establishing a
representative office in Germany. The reg-
ulatory supervision remains solely with the
regulatory authority of the Home State.

3.6.1.7 Financial services institutions
as well as payment institutions and
electronic money institutions

The options for foreign banks, financial
services institutions or entities to operate a
financial services institution in Germany are
basically the same as with regard to credit
institutions as outlined above. However,
one exception applies to services provided
under the European Passport regime. §
53b (1) KWG covers only financial services
institutions which provide investment
broking, investment advice, placement
business, contract broking, portfolio man-
agement, proprietary trading or operate a
multilateral trading system.

In order to operate a payment institution
or an electronic money institution in
Germany the options outlined above are
generally also available to foreign payment
institutions, electronic money institutions
or entities respectively. However, they may
differ as the relevant law is the Payment
Services Supervision Act (ZAG), rather than
the KWG. The ZAG does not cover repre-
sentative offices in Germany.
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3.6.2 Corporate Income Tax

3.6.2.1 Attribution of profits

A branch of a Chinese Bank in Germany will
normally be deemed to be a permanent
establishment (PE) of the Chinese Bank for
German tax purposes. As already outlined
above, this means that the Chinese Bank
will be subject to limited income taxation

in Germany on the net taxable income
deemed attributable to the German
branch. The combined applicable tax rate
will be about 32% (CIT and TT) (see Chapter
3.5.2).

The Branch Profit Attribution Regulation
introduced into German law provides
detailed guidance regarding the application
of the Authorised OECD Approach ("AOA")
in Germany. The basic idea of the AOA is

to treat a PE as a (nearly) fully independent
and separate entity for tax purposes. This
implies the consistent application of the
arm'’s length principle also to internal deal-
ings between the PE and its head office and
between PEs of the same company based
on a respective function and risk analysis.
The Branch Profit Attribution Regulation
governs, in particular, the principles of
asset attribution, branch capital allocation
and the recognition of internal dealings.

Usually, arm'’s length transfer prices

are determined taking into account the
functions performed, the risks assumed
and the assets used by the related parties
involved in the intercompany transaction.
In the context of PEs, in a first step, the
significant people functions performed

by the PE have to be identified based

on the activities of the locally employed
personnel. Next, the assets used and risks
assumed that are associated with these
people functions have to be attributed to
the different parts of the enterprise. Finally,
the branch capital must be attributed to
the permanent establishment in relation
to the attributed functions and risks. On
the basis of this attribution, the internal
dealings between the head office and its
PEs and between PEs of the same company
have to be identified and an arm’s length

remuneration must be determined. The
general two-step approach of the AOA for
the profit attribution is applicable.

According to Art. 7 para. 2 of the Republic
of China - Germany tax treaty, the profits
to be attributed to a PE are those which the
PE might be expected to make if it were a
distinct and separate enterprise engaged
in the same or similar activities under the
same or similar conditions and dealing
wholly independently with the enterprise of
which it is a PE. This approach corresponds
to the application of the “dealing at arm’s
length” principle.



3.6.2.2 Minimum amount of “equity”
for German tax purposes

Under German legal requirements,
companies acting in the banking sector
and having their registered office outside
Germany have to ensure that the German
branch is provided with sufficient capital
(“allotted capital”). A circular from the Fed-
eral Ministry of Finance must be observed
when determining the minimum amount of
allotted capital to be allocated to the Ger-
man branch. The rules for banks' branch
capital allocation remain nearly unchanged
in comparison to the above-mentioned
relevant Administrative Principles.

The capital allocation method is the pre-
ferred method for determining the capital
attributable to the domestic PEs of foreign
banks. According to this method, the bank’s
equity (“free capital”) must be attributed to
the German branch using the risk-weighted
exposure amounts determined according
to the regulatory law of the home country
of the bank as the allocation key. According
to the reasoning of the regulation, the term
“risk-weighted exposure amounts” directly
refers to EU-Regulation No. 575/2013 (the
Capital Requirements Regulation - CRR).
Based on the strict wording of the CRR, the
risk-weighted exposure amounts relate
only to the credit and dilution risk and the
counterparty risk for certain transaction
types. With regard to the operational and
market risks, the wording of the regulation
does not use the phrase “risk-weighted
exposure amount”, so it would seem that
these risks need not be considered for

the branch capital allocation. The German
branch must be allocated a share in the
equity that equals the total equity of the
bank - determined according to German
tax accounting rules - times the risk-
weighted exposure amounts attributable
to the German branch divided by the risk-
weighted exposure amounts of the whole
bank. For purposes of this calculation, the
risk-weighted exposure amounts resulting
from internal dealings should not be taken
into account. For the sake of simplicity, the

taxpayer can use as the amount of equity
the paid-in capital plus the reserves and
retained earnings minus the accumulated
deficit - all taken from the foreign balance
sheet - if it can make plausible that this
equity amount does not significantly devi-
ate from the equity that would have been
determined based on German tax law.

The taxpayer can apply a different method
for the capital allocation and attribute

less capital to the German branch if it can
demonstrate that this result better reflects
the arm’s length principle. If the taxpayer
applies this escape clause, at least the cap-
ital amount that would result from applying
the regulatory minimum capital approach
must be attributed to the German branch.
This means that the PE must be attributed
core capital at least in the amount the
branch would be required to hold based
on the regulatory law if it were to operate
as a legally separate entity in the German
market. In addition to this, the German
legislator assumes that the branch holds a
buffer of 0.5 percentage points of the sum
of its risk-weighted exposure amounts in
order to be able to expand the business at
any moment.

Itis well appreciated that the simplification
rule for small banks has been extended

to domestic PEs of foreign banks with a
balance sheet total in their Auxiliary Cal-
culation below EUR 1 billion (before that,
the threshold amounted to only EUR 500
million). The PEs eligible for this safe har-
bour rule do not need to determine their
branch capital based on any of the above
mentioned methods if the PE is attributed
capital in the amount of at least 3% of its
total assets. The minimum amount of capi-
tal attributed to the German branch under
this rule is EUR 5 million. The taxpayer is
free not to apply this simplification rule
but to use the standard method, e.g. if the
capital allocation methodology leads to

a capital of less than 3% of the branch'’s
total assets or to a lower amount than the
minimum amount of EUR 5 million.

Investing in Germany | A guide for Chinese businesses

The Branch Profit Attribution Regulation
does not permit the application of one of
the methods described above to lead to
the attribution of free capital to the Ger-
man PE that is less than the capital that has
been recorded in the statutory accounts

of the German branch - if such statutory
accounts have been prepared.

After having determined the assets and the
branch capital in the Auxiliary Calculation,
the liabilities have to be attributed to the
German branch in order to equalise the
balance sheet. If feasible, a direct attribu-
tion of liabilities and their associated refi-
nancing expenses must be performed. If a
direct attribution is not feasible or causes
a disproportionate burden, an indirect
attribution of liabilities must be performed
and the average refinancing expenses of
the indirectly attributable liabilities have
to be attributed to the German branch. In
comparison to the actual public ruling on
the branch capital allocation, the simplifi-
cation rule to apply the average 12-month
EURIBOR for any correction of the non-
deductible refinancing expenses associ-
ated with the free capital did not find its
way into the new regulation.
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3.6.2.3 Specific tax computation con-
siderations for branches of Chinese
Banks

In general, based on the assumption that
the accounting books of the branch reflect
a true and fair view of the fact that the key
functions performed, assets used and risks
borne by the branch are consistent with
the assets and liabilities and hence the
income allocation to be made to the branch
for German tax purposes, the tax base of
the branch will be determined on the basis
of the branch’s accounting profit or loss
calculated under German GAAP, which
must then be adjusted to take into account
the provisions of German tax law (see also
Chapter 3.5.6.1).

An area where differences typically arise
between the accounting profit or loss of
bank branches and the German tax base is
inter alia allowances for bad debts.

Receivables can be written down to a lower
value either by way of lump-sum allow-
ances or by way of a provision for specific
doubtful debts.

The general risk of default is crucial for
applying lump-sum allowances. Hence,
such an allowance should reflect default
risks which occur with a certain probability.
However, there is no specific indication at
the level of the company that the receiv-
ables on hand are doubtful. For financial
institutions, the German Ministry of
Finance issued a specific decree as regards
lump-sum allowances (BMF circular dated
10.01.1994, IV B 2-S 2174-45/93). As stated
in this decree, a financial institution may
recognise a lump-sum allowance for the
general default risk inherent in receivables
from customers, which is existent at the
balance sheet date, but which has not been
identified and hence no specific bad debt
provision is possible.

Provided that the company identifies
circumstances that enable it to draw the
conclusion that the receivable concerned
is subject to a specific risk which overlaps
the general default risk, it must recognise
the specific risk by means of a provision for
specific doubtful debts.
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3.6.3 Value Added Tax

3.6.3.1 Output VAT: the VAT exemption
on financial services

Most of the transactions performed by
banks and other entities in the financial
service sector are regarded as VAT exempt
for German VAT purposes.

The following transactions are exempt from
German VAT for example:

e granting of and dealing with credits,
* issuance of and dealing with money,

¢ dealing with shares, stocks, bonds,
debentures and promissory notes,

* operation of the usual current, savings
and deposit accounts.

If the VAT exemption on certain financial
services applies, banks and other financial
entities, which are VAT-registered in
Germany (such as in principle a branch in
Germany of a foreign bank), may generally
not charge German output VAT to their
customers.

3.6.3.2 Input VAT

VAT paid when purchasing goods and
services can generally be deducted if the
taxpayer performs transactions which are
subject to German VAT.

Due to the fact that most of the usual
transactions of banks and other financial
entities are exempt from German VAT,
banks and other financial entities cannot
fully deduct input VAT paid. Moreover,
although according to German VAT law,
taxpayers can in certain cases opt in favour
of VAT, this rule does not normally apply
to most business activities in the financial
sector. As a result, input VAT typically
constitutes an area of cost for the financial
services sector.

Banks and other financial entities can only
deduct a limited amount of input VAT if
they additionally perform transactions

that are subject to German VAT or other
VAT-exempted transactions qualifying for
the input VAT deduction.

In view of the limitations on input VAT
recovery, intra-group services within
banking groups may potentially increase
the group's tax bill. Therefore, to minimise
the VAT costs arising from intra-group
transactions it could be helpful to establish
a VAT-group in Germany or to choose other
methods of structuring commissions within
the group.

In the light of the implementation of

the reverse charge mechanism for
EU-cross-border services, the input VAT
deduction restrictions also apply to those
transactions. In addition, obligations for

a VAT registration need to be checked.
Finally, taxpayers operating in the financing
sector are also obliged to submit European
sales lists.






3.6.4 Withholding tax

3.6.4.1 Dividends

The dividend withholding tax rate is 25%
plus solidarity surcharge of 5.5% according
to domestic law. However, German domes-
tic tax law provides for a unilateral relief

of two-fifths of the levied withholding tax
upon application if the beneficial owner

of the dividend distribution is a foreign
corporation, i.e. a withholding tax reduc
tion from 26.375 % to 15.825 % can be
achieved. The German withholding tax may
further be reduced by an applicable double
taxation treaty or the EU Parent-Subsidiary
Directive.

Under the EU Parent-Subsidiary Directive,
domestic withholding tax will be reduced
to zero if dividends are distributed to a
qualifying EU shareholder that has held

at least 10% of the subsidiary for at least
12 months. The distributing company may
only apply the lower rate of withholding tax
under a treaty or the Directive if the parent
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company obtained an exemption certificate
from the German Federal Tax Office before
the payment is made.

But in each case the German Anti Treaty
Shopping Rules need to be observed.

3.6.4.2 Interest

Generally, Germany does not levy any with-
holding tax on interest paid to non-resident
companies in consideration of unsecured
loans. Exceptions apply e.g. to convertible
bonds and certain profit participating
loans where a German resident company
is the debtor. In these cases, withholding
taxis levied at a rate of 25% plus solidarity
surcharge of 5.5%. The withholding tax rate
may be reduced by an applicable tax treaty
or if the requirements of the EC Interest
and Royalties Directive are met.

In each case the German Anti Treaty Shop-
ping Rules need to be observed.



3.6.4.3 Royalties

The statutory withholding tax rate on
royalty and lease payments paid to
non-resident corporations is 15%. A 30%
withholding tax applies to royalty and lease
payments if paid to persons other than
corporations (e.g. individuals) and such
persons opt for the deduction of business
expenses when calculating the withholding
tax base. Withholding tax on royalties

may be reduced under a tax treaty or the
EC Interest and Royalties Directive. The
administrative procedure is similar to the
procedure for dividends (i.e. an exemption
certificate must be obtained before pay-
ment of the royalties).

In each case the German Treaty Shopping
Rules need to be observed.

If the company is considered as a banking
institution within the meaning of 8 53b
KWG, the company is obliged to deduct
withholding tax for specific interest pay-
ments to domestic customers in respect of
their deposits.

According to German tax rules, the
company must pay the withholding tax
deducted from interest payments to the
tax authorities for and behalf of their
customers. The withholding tax must be
paid by the company to the tax authorities
on a monthly basis within ten days of the
end of the month concerned. There are
exceptions from the company’s obligation
to deduct withholding tax.

Payments to: Interest Dividends Royalties
Resident companies 26.375% 26.375% 0%
Non-resident companies 0% - 26.375% 0% - 26.375% 15.825%*

“provided that the tax is not borne by the German debtor.

3.6.5 Capital gain taxation

There is no separate capital gains tax in
Germany; capital gains are included in
taxable income unless exempt under
the participation exemption. Generally,
all capital gains realised by an enter-
prise from the disposal of business
assets are treated as ordinary business
income. But gains derived from sale of
shareholding between corporations
generally enjoy advantages.

But there are special rules applicable
to banks and other financial institu-
tions. The 100% tax exemption is not
applicable to shares attributable to
the trading book of banks and financial
service providers under § 1a KWG. The
same applies to shares acquired by a
financial business within the meaning
of the KWG with the aim of deriving a
short-term proprietary trading gain.
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OW Can
Deloitte help?

Chinese Services Group

Established in 2003, Deloitte's Global
Chinese Services Group (GCSG) advises
Chinese companies expanding their global
presence and multinational companies
operating in China. We have over 3,300
Chinese-speaking professionals and local
experts who understand Chinese business
culture across the 6 continents. This ded-
icated network is committed to providing
professional advice and comprehensive
solutions to Chinese companies going glob-
al and multinationals coming to China.

Fig. 9 - Global Coverage of GCSG

Europe, Middle East & Africa
AnECES Austria Ireland Russia
. Belgium Israel Saudi Arabia
Argelntma Bulgaria Italy Serbia
Brazil Croatia Kenya South Africa
Cagada Cyprus Kuwait Spain
Caribbean Czech Republic Luxembourg ~ Tanzania
anq Bermuda Denmark Malta Turkey
Ch||§ Egypt North Africa UAE
Mexico Finland Norway Uganda
Per France Poland UK
United States Germany Portugal Zambia
Hungary Romania

Asia Pacific
Australia Maldives
Bangladesh ~ Mauritius
Bhutan Myanmar
Brunei Nepal
Cambodia New Zealand
Guam Philippines
India Singapore
Indonesia South Korea
Japan Sri Lanka
Laos Thailand
Malaysia Vietnam
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Silk Connect

Catering to the needs of our Chinese
clients doing cross-border transactions/
investments, we, at Deloitte, have pulled
together a globally-connected, multidiscipli-
nary collaboration program — Silk Connect.
Secured by the support and commitment
from Deloitte China and overseas member
firms, we have set up a number of Cor-
ridors (covering M&A, Greenfield, Trade,
etc.) between China and countries/regions
where Chinese companies are most inter-
ested to invest in. These Corridors, led by
country corridor leads at both ends, aim at
delivering seamless, high-quality profes-
sional cross-border services to our Chinese
clients consistently across the globe in con-
nection with their outbound transactions/
investments.

Silk Connect aim at delivering end-to-end
services and bringing tailored practical
solutions to our Chinese clients from
their point of view — from pre-transac
tion (e.g., sourcing and identification of
acquisition targets, etc.) to execution (e.g.,
due diligence, tax advisory, structuring,
valuation, modelling, project financing,
etc.) to post-transaction (e.g., post-merger
integration, legal advisory, consulting, etc.).
We believe that, with our comprehensive
and cohesive collaboration program, our
Chinese clients would get the utmost
benefits from Deloitte Network in connec
tion with their outbound acquisitions or
investments.

Asia Pacific International Core of Excel-
lence (AP ICE)

The Asia Pacific International Core of
Excellence (AP ICE) was established in June
2010 to provide international tax consulting
services to Asia Pacific based companies
investing abroad as well as multinational
companies investing in Asia Pacific. The AP
ICE team is located in Hong Kong, working
with Deloitte tax practices across the Asia
Pacific region. The team brings extensive
experience with the tax systems of their
own jurisdictions, has a firm grasp of the
global tax environment in which your
business is operating and is fully aware

of the importance of understanding your
particular business needs. The AP ICE

team can explore answers to your foreign
tax questions quickly, knowledgeably and
efficiently.

AP ICE is based in Hong Kong and it has a
team of 24 senior tax professionals from 13
tax jurisdictions, including Canada, China,
Germany, India, Italy, Japan, Luxembourg,
the Netherlands, Russia, South Korea,
Singapore, United Kingdom and the United
States.

The ICE team provide tax supportin a
wide variety of situations— new business
development, one-off issues, day-to-day
questions, mergers and acquisitions and
corporate life events—and can call on

the tax resources available from Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu Limited’s worldwide net-
work of member firms as required to meet
client's specific needs.
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Our global practice

175 years ago, our founders pioneered the
practice of professional services. Today,
Deloitte is a globally connected network
offering a wide spectrum of services
including audit & assurance, consulting, risk
advisory, financial advisory, tax & legal. We
employ approximately 335,000 profession-
als in 150+ countries and territories, main-
taining our leading position among the Big
Four. Our aggregate revenue was US$47.6
billion in FY20, which is No.1 among the

Big Four consecutively. Our commitment
to clients and our ability to team across
borders continue to set our member

firms apart in the marketplace. Deloitte
member firms believe that to be called
global advisers, it isn't enough to have a
presence everywhere around the world
and clients in every city; what's crucial is
having a culture of collaboration that draws
upon our strengths, regardless of location
and to make an impact that matters. Our
culture is the strength of Deloitte. We look
forward to embracing the challenges ahead
and achieve our vision to be the Standard
of Excellence.

TAccording to 2019 FG500 list, as of September 2019

2Data source: Wind info, as of December 2019
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Our practice in China

Deloitte is one of the leading professional
services providers with 29 offices and more
than 22,000 people across the Chinese
Mainland, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.
We opened an office in Shanghai as early as
1917, and entered a new era with the recent
celebration of the Deloitte centenary.

Deloitte is highly recognized by the market,
with extensive experience in Audit & Assur-
ance, Consulting, Financial Advisory, Risk
Advisory and Tax & Legal

* Serves 86% of the FG 500 Chinese com-
panies and audits 15% of them, leading
the industry’;

¢ Serves 82% of the SSE 50 Index constitu-
ents and audits 20% of them?;

* Serves 92% of companies listed in Hang
Seng China-Affiliated Corporations Index
constituents and audits 22% of them?;

¢ Deloitte is the undisputed leader in help-
ing Chinese companies go public on HK,
US and A-share capital markets.
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Beijing
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Chongaing
Dalian
Guangzhou
® Hangzhou
@) Harbin
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Our practice in Germany

The Deloitte network in Germany is com-
posed of over 9,000 professionals and 15
offices across Germany.

Hamburg

Berlin

Hannover
Magdeburg
Halle
Diisseldorf Leipzig
KéIn Dresden

Frankfurt

Mannheim
Walldorf

Stuttgart

Nurnberg
Miinchen
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Our Services

Our business model, with in-depth competencies in audit, tax, consulting
and financial advisory services, uniquely positions Deloitte to deliver
superior value and assist clients in managing change. Member firms are
assisting companies to comply with new regulatory requirements so that
they can successfully participate in the public capital markets. Deloitte is
integrating clients’ technology, processes and human capital so that they
can compete more effectively. Below is a high-level introduction to the key
services related to outbound investment.

Audit & Assurance Services

With our experience in local and interna-
tional laws and regulations, we can assist
you with the all-important obligation of
meeting applicable reporting requirements.
Our audit specialists examine your financial
statements and accounting records to give
you an independent opinion on reports to

shareholders, directors, trustees and others.

Our traditional role as Auditors also places
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us in an ideal position to build up a clear
understanding of your business, enabling
us to help you identify the major risks

and opportunities in your strategies and
activities. Additionally, we provide financial
statement reviews, fact-finding reports on
financial information, capital verification
assurance, business operation assessment,
and reporting services for foreign exchange
and special purposes.

As your Reporting Accountants, we help
prepare and submit audited statements and
accounts in compliance with listing require-
ments. At the pre-listing stage, we can play a
pivotal role in assisting you with approaching
sponsors and underwriters, and in providing
consultation and advice in your negotiations
with them. With state of the art technology,
our professionals deliver efficient and cost
effective audit solutions to you.



Consulting Services

As the world's largest management con-
sulting firm, we help organisations build
value by providing insights that create
new futures and doing the hard work to
improve performance. Delivering this kind
of value requires a broad range of talent
and capabilities - across human capital,
strategy & operations and technology -
and importantly, aligned to the unique
needs of specific sectors, businesses and
organisations.

Our clients look to us for the ability to
implement the ideas we present. They
expect excellent performance that draws
upon our breadth of industry and service
experience. Simply put, we provide our cli-
ents with world-class insights that generate
tangible and measurable impact.

Risk Advisory Services

With continual technological innovation,
increased accountability at boardroom and
senior management levels and changes to
the regulatory environment, managing risk
has become more complex. Our Enterprise
Risk Services (ERS) combine to help you
better identify, measure and manage risk
and enhance the reliability of your control
system and procedures.

Financial Advisory Services

The Financial Advisory practice at Deloitte
provides expert and in-depth advice to
corporate clients, private equity houses,
MBO/MBI teams, entrepreneurs and gov-
ernment. We offer strategic and financial
advisory services to help assess, measure
and minimise the impact of fraud on
business; business and advisory services to
companies and their stakeholders in both
in-court and out-of-court reorganisations
and much more.

Our China Financial Advisory team is part
of Deloitte's Asia Pacific network and, as a
result, we are experienced in advising on
complex cross-border assignments at a
local level and offer you a breadth of sector
expertise that few can rival. We are able

to draw upon specialist knowledge within
Financial Advisory and work across other

areas of the firm to help you successfully
implement a solution no matter how com-
plex it may be.

The breadth of our skills is just the starting
point. We combine these skills to develop
well-rounded solutions based on a full
understanding of your ambitions, your
business and the environment in which
you compete. We believe this integrated
approach gives clients of Deloitte a clear
commercial advantage.

Tax Services

Whether you are looking to expand
overseas or to invest in Hong Kong or the
Chinese Mainland, you will need to ensure
compliance with the complex tax laws and
regulations across jurisdictions while at
the same time ensure efficiency and effec-
tiveness of your assets. Our tax specialists
are made up of professionals from the
organisation’s international tax practice,

as well as local consultants, a number

of whom are former tax officials with a
thorough understanding of tax systems
and regulations in all relevant locations.
Based on long years of experience advising
Chinese clients investing in Germany, our
team of tax advisors in the CSG will support
you to implement suitable tax concepts
considering your individual business needs
for your overseas investments and guide
you through the regulations to meet your
compliance obligations.

Legal Services

With our sub-service lines Commercial,
Corporate/M&A, Employment & Pensions,
Regulated Industries und Tax Controversy,
we at Deloitte Legal cover all areas of law
that are of importance for undertakings
and entrepreneurs. A number of attor-
neys in our offices are also admitted as
public notaries and can assist our clients
with transactions which under German

law require the involvement of a Notary
Public, be it certifications or execution of
agreements or resolutions as public deeds.
Thanks to our multilingual Country Desks
and the long-standing relationship with col-
leagues in a multitude of countries, Deloitte
Legal is a reliable advisor whenever it
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comes to investments in foreign countries
or expansion into new markets, where we
combine our international experience with
local roots. The bundling of expertise in our
Industry Groups Energy & Resources, Man-
ufacturing, Consumer Business and Real
Estate allows us to render interdisciplinary
advice that anticipates trends and devel-
opments specific to particular industries.
Thereby, we help our clients in adapting

to ever changing regulatory and economic
needs.

We believe that legal advice is never an iso-
lated component but as a contributing to
comprehensive solutions for the challenges
which our clients face. This means that not
only can we render highly qualified legal
advice for the benefit of our clients; our
close cooperation with the other functions
at Deloitte also gives us the opportunity

to offer integrated one-stop solutions in
tax advice, assurance, consulting and cor-
porate finance. Solutions that come from

a strong interdisciplinary team and do not
just stop at the legal assessment but take
all relevant aspects into consideration.
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Office locations

Deloitte offices in China

Beijing

12/F, China Life Financial Center
No. 23, Zhenzhi Road
Chaoyang District

Beijing, 100026, PRC

Tel: +86 (10) 8520 7788

Fax: + 86 (10) 8518 1218

Changsha

20/F Tower 3

HC International Plaza

No. 109 Furong Road North
Kaifu District

Changsha, 410008, PRC
Tel: +86 (731) 8522 8790
Fax: +86(731) 8522 8230

Chengdu

17/F

China Overseas International
Center Block F,

No. 365 Jiaozi Avenue,
High-tech District

Chengdu, 610041, PRC

Tel: +86 (28) 6789 8188

Fax: +86 (28) 6317 3500
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Chongqing

43/F World Financial Center
8 Corporate Avenue

188 Minzu Road

Yuzhong District
Chongging, 400010, PRC
Tel: +86 (23) 8823 1888
Fax: +86(23) 8857 0978

Dalian

15/F Senmao Building
147 Zhongshan Road
Dalian, 116011

PRC

Tel: +86(411) 8371 2888
Fax: + 86 (411) 8360 3297

Guangzhou

26/F Yuexiu Financial Tower
28 Pearl River East Road
Guangzhou, 510623, PRC
Tel: +86(20) 8396 9228
Fax: + 86 (20) 3888 0121

Hangzhou

Room 1206-1210,

East Building, Central Plaza
No.9 Feiyunjiang Road
Shangcheng District
Hangzhou, 310008, PRC
Tel: +86(571) 8972 7688
Fax: + 86 (571)8779 7915

Harbin

Room 1618,

Development Zone Mansion
368 Changjiang Road
Nangang District

Harbin, 150090, PRC

Tel: +86 (451) 8586 0060
Fax: +86 (451) 8586 0056

Hefei

Room 1201, Tower A, Hua Bang
ICC Building

N0.190 Qian Shan Road
Government and Cultural New
Development District

Hefei, 230601, PRC

Tel: +86 (551) 6585 5927

Fax: +86 (551) 6585 5687

Hong Kong

35/F One Pacific Place
88 Queensway

Hong Kong, PRC

Tel: +(852) 2852 1600
Fax: +(852) 2541 1911

Jinan

Units 2802, 2803 & 2804

28/F, China Overseas Plaza
Office

No. 6636, 2nd Ring South Road
Shizhong District

Jinan, 250000, PRC

Tel: +86 (531) 8973 5800

Fax: +86(531) 8973 5811

Macau

19/F The Macau Square Apart-
ment H-N

43-53A Av. do Infante D. Hen-
rigue

Macau, PRC

Tel: +(853) 2871 2998

Fax: +(853) 2871 3033



Nanjing

40/F, Nanjing One IF

347 Jiang Dong Middle Road
Jian Ye District

Nanjing, 210019, PRC

Tel: +86(25)5790 8880
Fax: + 86 (25) 8691 8776

Ningbo

Room 1702 Marriott Center
No0.168 Heyi Road

Haishu District

Ningbo, 315000, PRC

Tel: +86(574) 8768 3928
Fax: + 86 (574) 8707 4131

Sanya

16/F LanHai Plaza

(Sanya Huaxia Insurance Center)
No. 279, Xinfeng Street

Jiyang District

Sanya, 572099, PRC

Tel: +86 (898) 8861 5558

Fax: +86(898) 8861 0723

Shanghai

30/F Bund Center

222 Yan An Road East
Shanghai, 200002

PRC

Tel: +86(21) 6141 8888
Fax: +86(21) 63350003

Shenyang

Unit 3605-3606, Forum 66 Office

Tower 1

No. 1-1 Qingnian Avenue
Shenhe District
Shenyang, PRC

Tel: +86(024) 6785 4068
Fax: +86(024) 6785 4067

Shenzhen

9/F China Resources Building
5001 Shennan Road East
Shenzhen, 518010

PRC

Tel: +86 (755) 8246 3255
Fax: + 86 (755) 8246 3186
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Suzhou

23/F, Building 1, Global Wealth

Square

88 Su Hui Road, Industrial Park

Suzhou, 215021, PRC

Tel: +86 (512) 6289 1238

Fax: +86(512) 6762 3338
+86(512) 6762 3318

Tianjin

45/F Metropolitan Tower
183 Nanjing Road
Heping District

Tianjin, 300051, PRC

Tel: +86(22) 2320 6688
Fax: +86(22) 8312 6099

Wuhan

Room 4901, 49/F

New World International Trade
Tower |

568 Jianshe Avenue

Wuhan, 430000, PRC

Tel: +86 (27) 8538 2222

Fax: +86 (27) 8526 7032

Xiamen

Unit E, 26/F International Plaza
8 Lujiang Road, Siming District
Xiamen, 361001, PRC

Tel: +86 (592) 2107 298

Fax: +86 (592) 2107 259

Xi'an

Room 5104A, 51F Block A,
Greenland Center

9 Jinye Road, High-tech Zone
Xi'an, 710065, PRC

Tel: +86(29) 8114 0201

Fax: +86(29) 8114 0205

Zhengzhou

5A/F Tower 8, Kineer Center
No. 51, Jinshui Road East
Zhengzhou, 450046, PRC
Tel: +86(371) 8897 3700
Fax: +86 (371) 8897 3710
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Office locations

Deloitte offices in Germany

Berlin
Kurflrstendamm 23
10719 Berlin

Tel: +49 (0)30 25468 01
Fax: +49 (0)30 25468 211

Dresden
TheresienstralRe 29
01097 Dresden

Tel: +49 (0)351 81101 0
Fax: +49 (0)351 81101 99

Dusseldorf

Rather Stralse 110a
40476 DUsseldorf

Tel: +49 (0)211 8772 01
Fax: +49 (0)211 8772 2277

Frankfurt am Main
Europaallee 91

60327 Frankfurt am Main
Tel: +49 (0)69 75695 01
Fax: +49 (0)69 75695 6333

Halle (Saale)
Bornknechtstral3e 5
06108 Halle/Saale

Tel: +49 (0)345 2199 6
Fax: +49 345 (0)2199 800

106

Hamburg
Dammtorstralde 12

20354 Hamburg

Tel: +49 (0)40 32080 0
Fax: +49 (0)40 32080 4700

Hannover
Aegidientorplatz 2a
30159 Hannover

Tel: +49 (0)511 3023 0
Fax: +49 (0)511 3023 170

KélIn

MagnusstralRe 11

50672 Koln

Tel: +49 (0)221 97324 0
Fax: +49 (0)221 97324 20

Leipzig

Seemannstralie 8

04317 Leipzig

Tel: +49 (0)341 992 7000
Fax: +49 (0)341 992 7100

Magdeburg
Hasselbachplatz 3
39104 Magdeburg

Tel: +49 (0)391 56873 0
Fax: +49 (0)391 56873 10

Mannheim
Reichskanzler-Muller-StralBe 25
68165 Mannheim

Tel: +49 (0)621 15901 0

Fax: +49 (0)621 152958

Miinchen

Rosenheimer Platz 4
81669 Minchen

Tel: + 49 (0)89 29036 0
Fax: +49 (0)89 29036 8108

Niirnberg

Am Tullnaupark 15
90402 Nurnberg

Tel: +49 (0)911 23074 0
Fax: +49 (0)911 23074 45

Stuttgart

LoffelstralBe 42

70597 Stuttgart

Tel: +49 (0)711 16554 01

Fax: +49 (0)711 16554 117128

Walldorf

Altrottstralie 31

69190 Walldorf

Tel: +49 (0)6227 7332 60
Fax: +49 (0)6227 7332 99



Ccontacts

Deloitte Experts in Sino-German business

Chinese Services Group (CSG)

John Hung
Partner - Global CSG Chairman
johnhung@deloitte.com.cn

Johnny Zhang
Partner
johnnyxzhang@deloitte.com.cn

Dirk Hallmayr
Partner - Audit/CSG Leader Germany
dhaellmayr@deloitte.de

Ding Deng
Senior Manager
amdeng@deloitte.de

German Desk Shanghai - Audit

Robert Aumann
Director
roaumann@deloitte.com.cn

Asia Pacific International Core of
Excellence (AP ICE)

Claus Schuermann
Managing Director
clschuermann@deloitte.com.hk

Merten Zenker
Tax Manager
mzenker@deloitte.de

Global Silk Connect Initiative

Derek Lai

Vice Chairman of Deloitte China
Partner, FA Function Management
derlai@deloitte.com.hk

Financial Advisory

Philipp Gebhard
Managing Director -
Corporate Finance advisory
pgebhard@deloitte.de

Dr. Marcus Nibler
Partner - M&A Transaction services
mnibler@deloitte.de

Moritz Schenck zu Schweinsberg
Managing Director -

Corporate Finance advisory
mschenck@deloitte.de

Tax

Malte Juellich
Partner - CSG Germany Tax Lead
mjuellich@deloitte.de

Marcus Roth
Partner - Financial Services Tax
mroth@deloitte.de

Consulting
Michael Dohrmann

Partner
mdohrmann@deloitte.de
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Legal

Dr. Michael Fischer
Partner - Corporate/M&A
mifischer@deloitte.de

Dr. Mathias Hanten

Partner - Corporate/M&A/Financial
Services

mhanten@deloitte.de

Klaus Heeke
Partner - Labor Law
kheeke@deloitte.de

Audit

Dirk Hallmayr
Partner
dhaellmayr@deloitte.de

Business Assurance

Markus Link
Partner
mlink@deloitte.de

Risk Advisory

Ingo Dassow
Partner - Automotive
idassow@deloitte.de

Martin Flisgen
Director - Financial Services
mflisgen@deloitte.de
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T FFRBNRERIR BZRGIA R

FEEARHA BERR HEREE

2019F11H4H RS BEER (Deutsche Hospitality, EEBFRAET
BIEHE T REBERIE 02 (Steigenberger) )

20185 2H24H EIBERR( /NS (Daimler AG) W LSRR ERAFRAT)
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2013%9H30H Flexiasn TE/AE] (Flex Power Tools) RIEEBERAT]

2013%F5H4H Sphairon Technologies BEIRIL (ZyXEL)

2013%5A3H Kugel- und Rollenlagerwerk Leipzig REEHAEH
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